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CORPORATE INFORMATION
N R]E R

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Liu Jian (Chairman and chief executive officer)
Ms. Chen Zhuo

Mr. Liang Bing

Mr. Long Weimin

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Wei Zhe

Ms. Wu Qimin

Mr. Zheng Dong™

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Zhang Weilun

Mr. Chan Wai Cheung, Admiral

Mr. Chan Ka Leung, Kevin

Mr. Huang Anxin

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Chan Wai Cheung, Admiral (Chairman)
Mr. Zhang Weilun

Mr. Chan Ka Leung, Kevin

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Zhang Weilun (Chairman)

Ms. Chen Zhuo

Mr. Chan Wai Cheung, Admiral

Mr. Chan Ka Leung, Kevin

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Liu Jian (Chairman)

Mr. Zhang Weilun

Mr. Chan Wai Cheung, Admiral

Mr. Chan Ka Leung, Kevin

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Siu Kai Chun, FCA, FCCA, FCPA(HK)?
Mr. Yu Ho Ming, CPA, FCCA®

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES
Ms. Chen Zhuo

Mr. Siu Kai Chun®

Mr. Yu Ho Ming®

REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P. O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman, KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

Notes:
(1) Mr. Zheng has tendered his resignation with effect from 5 July 2019.
2) Mr. Siu has been appointed on 30 August 2019.

(3}  Mr. Yu has tendered his resignation with effect from 30 August 2019.
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PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN
HONG KONG

Suite Nos. 5 and 6

9th Floor, Tower 2

China Hong Kong City

33 Canton Road, Tsimshatsui

Hong Kong

HEADQUARTERS AND PRINCIPAL
PLACE OF BUSINESS IN THE
PEOPLE’S REPUBLIC OF CHINA

1-2/F, Block 5
Southern Olympic Garden, Han Xi Avenue
Zhong Cun, Panyu, Guangzhou, Guangdong, China

COMPANY WEBSITE

www.gdzawy.com

HKEX STOCK CODE
1538

INVESTOR RELATIONS

Email: ir@zahomegroup.com

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

China Construction Bank (Asia) Corporation Limited
China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd.

Bank of Communication Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE IN CAYMAN ISLANDS

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman, KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR
AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai

Hong Kong
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
RS

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,

For and on behalf of the board (the "Board”) of directors (the
“Directors”, each a "Director”) of Zhong Ao Home Group Limited
(the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the "Group”), | am
pleased to present the Annual Report of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2019.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group’s 2019 audited profit attributable to owners of the
parent amounted to RMB108.6 million (2018: RMB%6.1million), an
increase of 13.0% as compared to 2018. This was mainly due to (i)
the growth in property management business revenue from
RMB?948.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2018 to
RMB1,138.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2019,
representing an increase of RMB190.4 million, or 20.1%; (ii) increase
in revenue generated from cleaning and greening business of
approximately RMB31.6 million; (iii) increase in revenue generated
from real estate agency business of approximately RMB185.9
million; and (iv) increase in revenue generated from other
businesses of approximately RMB89.7 million especially for revenue
generated from landscaping design and construction services
during the year.

DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved to recommend the payment of a final
dividend of HK2.75 cents per share for the year ended 31
December 2019 (2018: 2.5 cents) to the shareholders whose names
appear on the register of members of the Company on 5 June
2020, making the total dividend payment of approximately HK$22.5
million.

OPERATION REVIEW

The Group is a leading independent property management
company in China. In 2019, the Group has the following recognition
and awards.

On February 2019, the Group has received the recognition of 2018
FE)TILERBEPEDZE (2018 Jiangbei District Services Sector
Star Enterprise*) by Z)F m/TdtE ARBAT (Ningbo Municipal
Jiangbei District People’s Government®).

*  For identification only R {E#HR
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EREmE

On May 2019, the Group was rated 2019 2R b3 EHAR10
58 (2019 Top 10 Listed Company of Property Management Service*)
by FEIYZERHE (China Property Management Institute*) and
FESERMEMRER P BEEMEBFH L (China Real Estate
Appraisal Centre of Shanghai E-house China R&D Institute*).

On June 2019, the Group was rated 2019 ¥ AR75 1 % AR EESO
58 (2019 Top 50 Most Valuable Brand of Property Management
Service*) by FEIMEEEHE (China Property Management
Institute*) and /8 5 /& F Mt EM I BB EBIFFH .0 (China
Real Estate Appraisal Centre of Shanghai E-house China R&D
Institute®).

On October 2019, the Group was rated 2019 ¥ RIB L EE T
5005% (2019 Top 500 Property Management Companies*) and 2019
WERBTISLEZELEPE (2019 Independent Operative
Leading Companies in Property Service*) by REI¥) £ EEHE
(China Property Management Institute*) and /8 5 /& 5 i E 7Tt
FEFEHEBIFFH L (China Real Estate Appraisal Centre of
Shanghai E-house China R&D Institute*).

On December 2019, the Group has received E b E & iE 42
(Golden Brick Award for Real Estate of Guangxi*) for 2019F Efx &
SR NFN{EE (2019 the influential agency enterprise*), 2019 F &
BRFEEFRINEE (2019 Golden Real Estate Agency Enterprise*) by
EPE B ¥REE S E (Guangxi Daily Media Group*) and has received
2019 FE & FE (2019 Golden Store*) by the same institution.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had expanded its presence to
45 cities in China where it was contracted to manage a total of 584
residential properties and non-residential premises such as
commercial or government buildings with an aggregate contracted
GFA of 72.0 million square meters (“sgq.m.”). This represented an
increase of 2.1% compared to the aggregate contracted GFA of
70.5 million sgq.m. as of 31 December 2018. In relation to the
delivered GFA of 65.4 million sq.m. in 2019, the increase
represented a growth of 14.9% compared to the delivered GFA of
56.9 million sg.m. as at 31 December 2018.
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Pursuant to the terms of the Joint Venture Agreement entered
between the Group and the vendors on 26 July 2016, the Group will
acquire the remaining interests in I KXW EERER A A
(Zhejiang Yongcheng Property Management Company Limited*)
(“Yongcheng”) in four tranches of 7.5% each at a price of RMB22.5
million for each of the subsequent acquisition if the adjusted net
profit of Yongcheng for each of the four financial years ending 31
December 2016, 2017, 2018 and 2019 will not be less than RMB32
million. Since the net profit of Yongcheng for the financial year of
2018 has met the profit guarantee provision provided to the Group,
the Group entered into acquisition agreements with the vendors on
20 May 2019, to purchase 7.5% of the registered capital of
Yongcheng at a consideration of RMB22.5 million.

Upon completion of the above acquisitions, the Group holds 92.5%
of the registered capital of Yongcheng in which Yongcheng remains
as a non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and its financial
results will continue to be consolidated into the consolidated
financial statements of the Group. The directors are of the view that
the Group's increase in shareholding in Yongcheng will further
consolidate the profit base and provide a stable return of
investments to the shareholders.

In April 2019, the Group has already made capital injection in a PRC
property management company located in Suzhou with 28
properties and approximately 2.8 million sq.m. of ground floor area
under its management.

In April 2019, the Group acquired companies which are principally
engaged in real estate investment consulting services, real estate
information consulting services, real estate brokerage and
consulting services, real estate marketing planning, house leasing
and agency services for obtaining property ownership certificates.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EREmE

PROSPECTS

Looking forward, the Group will continue to maintain its own
advantage as an independent property management company,
competing with counterparts in the market by its high quality
service and operation efficiency, actively establishing stable
partnership with leading property developers in all regions,
exploring potential new development projects and pursuing
properties which have owners’ association been established. When
right opportunities arise, the Group will accelerate its expansion of
business scope and coverage in China through acquisition of
property management companies and other service companies
which provide services related to communities.

In addition, we will closely persist in the philosophy of stable
development by gradually expanding the upstream and
downstream industry chain, as well as strategically realigning our
industry foothold. On the one hand, we expect to penetrate into
the first-hand and second-hand agency services, while further
advancing the downstream sector of the industry chain by acquiring
firms specialized in cleaning and landscaping maintenance as well
as security services. In the next few years, we will gradually ride on
our strength to extend our reach along the upstream and
downstream of the industry chain with a focus on property
management. In doing so, the Group will ultimately evolve into an
integrated operator offering the whole-industry community

services.
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ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

On behalf of the Board, | would like to extend my sincere thanks to
every shareholder and business partner for their constant support
and trust of the Group, and also to every employee for their hard
work and contribution to the Group over last year. In the coming
year, the Group will continue its active expansion of business and
enhance its property management service quality, so as to bring a
better, more enjoyable and more satisfying experience for home
life to residents. With the continuous efforts of the Group, | believe
that the Group will bring good returns to its shareholders in the
long term.

Liu Jian
Chairman

Hong Kong, 16 April 2020
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FINANCIAL HIGHLI

GHTS

ot 1
For the year ended
31 December
BZ12A31HLEE
2019 2018
20194 2018 4
RMB’000 RMB'000 Change
AR¥T ARBTT bof )
Revenue Uz 1,519,482 1,023,011 48.5%
Gross profit EF 403,441 282,105 43.0%
Profit for the year F A A 133,920 106,950 25.2%
Profit attributable to owners [SYNSIE YNyl
of the parent 108,568 96,088 13.0%
Gross profit margin (%) FEHZE (%) 26.6% 27.6% -1 pp
TEE D
Net profit margin (%) A TR (%) 8.8% 10.5% -1.7 pp
7 EBE S E
Basic earnings per share (RMB) FREREF(AREIT) 0.133 0.119 11.8%
Final dividend per share (HK$) SRREIRR B (BTT) 0.0275 0.025 10.0%
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g
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B 754 &

Gross profit and gross profit margin
EFRERE
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
B #5402

Total assets Total equity
EERE RERBEE
(RMB million) (RMB m||||on)
(AREBRET) (AR¥BET)
2,000 1,894.6 800
737.9
700
606.0
1,500 600
1,341.2 546.7
1,236.4
500
1,000 400
300
500 200
100
0 0
2017 2018 2019 2017 2018 2019
Total Contracted GFA Average price of property management service
nvu\l:InIJ EEL*E& %%ﬁfiﬁﬁﬁ%qzﬁ{g%
(million sg.m.) (RMB/sg.m./month)
(B&FHXK) (AR /FHXK/R)
80 2.0
. . 290 1.81 1.80 1.81
66.7 . ot
60 I 12.2 13.6 15
50
40 65.4 1.0
56.9
30 54.5
20 0.5
10
0 0
2017 2018 2019 2017 2018 2019
B Undelivered GFA 1 Delivered GFA
RRTIEEETE BERfTEEREE
Note: BT
1. Itis calculated as a weighted average of all the prices and fees specified on 1. RREHBERERNELWZHNA QTROFEBE
the contracts that are generating revenue as of the end of each relevant LEBANMETSENE  BETEEEEENEERR -

year, excludes management fees for parking lots.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is a leading independent property management
company in China. In 2019, the Group has the following recognition
and awards.

On February 2019, the Group has received the recognition of 2018
FETibE R EHEDZE (2018 Jiangbei District Services Sector
Star Enterprise*) by ZE M LILE A RBA (Ningbo Municipal
Jiangbei District People’s Government?*).

On May 2019, the Group was rated 2019 ¥R % _EHAF]10
5% (2019 Top 10 Listed Company of Property Management Service)
by FEIMEEIRHE (China Property Management Institute*) and
LBSEFEMEMIHR R EEERRF L (China Real Estate
Appraisal Centre of Shanghai E-house China R&D Institute*).

On June 2019, the Group was rated 2019 ¥ BR75 (b % M2 {EES0
%8 (2019 Top 50 Most Valuable Brand of Property Management
Service) by FEIYEEEHE (China Property Management
Institute*) and /85 /& B EM 7Tl B E B ZBIFF+H L (China
Real Estate Appraisal Centre of Shanghai E-house China R&D
Institute?®).

On October 2019, the Group was rated 2019 M ERB L ELEE
5005% (2019 Top 500 Property Management Companies) and 2019
VERBMIZHLELBELDZE (2019 Independent Operative
Leading Companies in Property Service) by FEIM¥ERE e
(China Property Management Institute) and /8% /EFEHEHFThT
PR EHERFFF L (China Real Estate Appraisal Centre of
Shanghai E-house China R&D Institute*).

On December 2019, the Group has received EFAME D H1E
(Golden Brick Award for Real Estate of Guangxi) for 2019F E & &
SE NP E (2019 the influential agency enterprise), 2019F E &
FEEEF M3 (2019 Golden Real Estate Agency Enterprise) by &
PAHREEEE (Guangxi Daily Media Group) and has received
2019 [E & 2F9/E (2019 Golden Store) by the same institution.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BIRE R am B AT

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had a total contracted gross
floor area ("GFA") of approximately 72.0 million square meters
("sgq.m."”) where it was contracted to manage 584 properties across
45 cities in China.

The Group’s main business line is property management business.
Under the property management business line, the Group is
engaged in the provision of property management services, sales
assistance services, cleaning and greening business, real estate
agency business and other services.

PROPERTY MANAGEMENT SERVICES

The Group primarily provides property developers and property
owners with a broad range of property management services to
mainly residential properties, commercial and government
buildings. Services provided by the Group include standard
property management services and also ancillary services such as
cleaning, gardening, security, repair and maintenance and butler
services. Through its butler services, the Group provides
personalized and premium property management services to
residents with its trained butlers onsite. While its primary and long-
term business focus is on the residential property market, the
Group also provides services to non-residential properties,
including both stand-alone non-residential properties and
properties associated with residential properties, such as schools
and commercial buildings.

The Group believes that service quality is fundamental to establish
a solid foundation to support the growth of the Group’s business.
The Group holds various qualifications and licenses in respect of
property management services, namely CMS31950, IEC27001,
ISO50001, ISO 9001, ISO 14001, OHSAS 18001 and level one
property management qualification certificate.

As of 31 December 2019, the Group had expanded its presence to
45 cities in China where it was contracted to manage a total of 584
residential properties and non-residential premises such as
commercial or government buildings with an aggregate contracted
GFA of approximately 72.0 million sq.m. This represented an
increase of 2.1% compared to the aggregate contracted GFA of
approximately 70.5 million sg.m. as at 31 December 2018. In
relation to the delivered GFA of approximately 65.4 million sgq.m. in
2019, the increase represented a growth of 14.9% compared to the
delivered GFA of approximately 56.9 million sgq.m. as at 31
December 2018.

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group strives to develop new business relationships from the
existing customer base and own network in order to provide strong
organic growth to the Group. In addition to organic growth, the
Group continues to identify the right acquisition targets to
strengthen its portfolio and increase geographic presence across
China.

Geographic Presence

The Group will continue to strategically select markets to enter into,
focus on those with more developed economies and comparatively
high per capita GDP. Once the Group has established presence in
a new city, it seeks to expand its business within the same city or
neighboring cities with a view to maximising its economies of scale.

The table below sets forth the revenue breakdown of different
geographic areas where the Group has established presence for
the years indicated.

BB R am B AT

AEBENEEREEPEMBRIEBHE
WHEE A @S KmAARERHESDANLE
K-BRAMERIN AEBREMEEENKE
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1o 32 7 i

AEEREERBENERFREENTS &
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AEBEFRTILEE  EHEHRA—WHH
IR E - NEERARRELBEYE -

TREIINRARFEEARE R IENTRME
MU zs BRAR -

2019 2018

2019 2018

RMB'000 RMB’000

ARET T ARETIT

Eastern and Central China HEH L EF 913,317 706,286
Southern China = 568,382 252,648
Northern China b 37,783 64,077
Total st 1,519,482 1,023,011
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EREHHEDI

The map below illustrates the cities in which properties the Group  TEIBBAR2019F 12 A3 B AEE T HEEH
was contracted to manage were located and the number of #EMEHT NS HAEEEE -
projects in each city as of 31 December 2019.

B Eastern and Central China

B

M Southern China

Hepy

0 Northern China

#L

I Western China

He Py
Eastern and Central China XKk i
1 Changde (1) &E1#E(1) 10.  Jiaxing (1) Z=E(1) 19.  Suzhou (41) E M (41)
2 Chongging (1) ZEE (1) 1. Kaifeng (1) FE(1) 20. Taizhou (2) &INQ)
3 Chuzhou (4) BRI (4) 12.  Nanchang (1) & (1) 21.  Taizhou (1) Z=IN(1)
4. Fuyang (1) &B5(1) 13.  Nantong (13) F3#B(13) 22.  Wenzhou (8) &M (8)
5. Hangzhou (57) #u/H(57) 14.  Nanyang (1) FF5(1) 23, Wuxi (9) 59
6 Heze (4) &% (4) 15.  Ningbo (285) 22 (285) 24.  Xuancheng (4) E¥k(4)
7 Huaian (2) &% (2) 16.  Quzhou (6) %M (6) 25.  Yueyang (1) &F&(1)
8 Huanggang (1) & (1) 17.  Shanghai (14) _E/&(14) 26.  Zhenjiang (3) ##I(3)
9. Huzhou (19) #M(19) 18, Shaoxing (9) 4BH () 27.  Zhoukou (1) EE()
Southern China #7&
28. Cenxi(7) ZZ(7) 33.  Huizhou (1) =M (1) 38.  Wenchang (1) 3X&(1)
29.  Chongzuo (2) =7 (2) 34.  Jiangmen (1) JIF9(1) 39.  Wuzhou (7) #BIN(7)
30. Foshan (18) 1L (18) 35.  Nanning (18) FFZE(18) 40.  Zhaoging (3) ZEE(3)
31.  Guangzhou (10) EJH (10) 36.  Qingyuan (4) JE&R(4) 41, Zhongshan (1) FRLL(1)
32, Guilin (1) HE#K(1) 37. Sanya(7) =EE(7)

Northern China 4t
42.  Baotou (5) EEE (5) 43.  Beijing (3) dtR(3) 44.  Zhangjiakou (3) RZKH(3)

Western China @
45.  Lhasa (1) HIFE(1)
Note: Numbers in parentheses represent the number of contracted projects. Misr RN B IR A BE & E
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BB R am B AT

The table below sets forth the delivered contracted GFA and the
number of properties under management as of the dates indicated.

As of 31 December 2019
M2019%F12H31H

TREBVRARARZERNENEERELE

BEMERA -

As of 31 December 2018
MR2018F 12 A31H

Sg.m. in Sg.m. in
thousands No. thousands No.
FE 5K A FHEHAK A

Residential properties FEYE

Eastern and Central China® HEH REHO 41,890 317 34,664 252
Southern China®? EFHO 13,339 61 12,818 55
Northern China® 4O 2,415 7 2,054 6
Subtotal /NET 57,644 385 49,536 313
Non-residential properties FEEYE 7,709 143 7,371 150
Total st 65,353 528 56,907 463

As of 31 December 2019, the Group’s contracted GFA of
undelivered properties amounted to approximately 6.6 million
sg.m. (2018: 13.6 million sg.m.).

Notes:

m Including Changde, Chongqing, Chuzhou, Fuyang, Hangzhou, Heze,
Huaian, Huanggang, Huzhou, Jiaxing, Nanchang, Nantong, Ningbo,
Quzhou, Shanghai, Shaoxing, Suzhou, Taizhou, Taizhou, Wenzhou,
Wauxi, Xuancheng, Yueyang and Zhenjiang.

(2) Including Cenxi, Chongzuo, Foshan, Guangzhou, Guilin, Jiangmen,
Nanning, Qingyuan, Sanya, Wenchang Wuzhou, Zhaoging and
Zhongshan.

(3)  Including Baotou, Beijing and Zhangjiakou.

R2019F12A3M 8 AEBRINYWERLEY
BEAEBOECOEE T HKQ018F : 136HE
FRK) o

BEE
M
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% F
M i -
ERUR

BEHE
B B

BEBR -

BE BN B HUN -
N = EA - Bl
AR BRI BN
Ef5RIET ©

R BRI BN B

SR OE
BB
B -
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ERFERRA -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B E R wm BT

The Group will continue to expand its business through obtaining ~ ANEE S48 F BB EFRES 4 MR EE 1Y)
new service engagements and acquisition of other property ZEEBEQAGIMAEER - TR FRNEELE
management companies. The table below indicates the movement  SEmEE R ANEBE LSRN ES B HES -

of the total contracted GFA and the number of properties the

Group was contracted to manage during the year.

As of 31 December 2019  As of 31 December 2018

R2019%F12A31H 2018412 A31H
Sqg.m. in Sg.m. in
thousands No. thousands No.
F A, BE  TErA B E
As at beginning of year F5) 70,450 570 66,747 500
New engagements!” Marow 6,157 65 8,830 83
Acquisitions U B 3,991 30 2,140 27
Terminations®? RIE (8,627) (81) (7,267) (40)
As at end of year FR 71,971 584 70,450 570
Notes: Bax
(1) In relation to properties the Group manages, new engagements (1) HAEBEMREENYEMS  FELOTEBLREY
primarily include service engagements for new constructions ENREEBENSFAEEREEORESY &
developed by property developers and service engagements for EEMEFTHRIBEMESTEQATINRIEEL -
residential properties replacing their existing property management
companies.

(2)  Including the contracted GFA and the number of properties the () BENEETHEENYESNSIPRLMBEE

Group ceased to manage, which were primarily due to non-renewal FHE TERTEEETYEEERAHRER
of certain property management contracts and mutual termination EEEREANEWATEELLE -

prior to expiration for commercial reasons.

SALES ASSISTANCE SERVICES 1t 85 AR %5

The Group provides property developers with sales assistance AREEAYERREBIZEGHERE  KEHISZE
services by deploying on-site staff at the sales centres to maintain T R|$HE R OHEERON - WEHEHEBREPS
the conditions of the centres and provide timely assistance to  JFE I IEH 7B o — ISR T » REE N
facilitate various aspects of the sales process. The Group generally &4 EmE BB TVIEMESIBEENEBE Y
continues to serve the property developer clients after the EZEFTFLREMERE - HEAMESIERGE
expiration of the sales assistance contracts by entering into SEBEHNEZ LR -

preliminary property management contracts. Sales assistance

serves as an important source of business for the property

management services.

1 8 ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CLEANING AND GREENING SERVICES

The Group provides property developers and property owners with
a series of indoor and outdoor environmental cleaning, greening
and maintenance. This business division also provides services to
the property developers and property owners of the property
management business division. Accordingly, segment result of
cleaning and greening division is evaluated by the Group’s
management on services as subcontracted from the property
management business division.

REAL ESTATE AGENCY SERVICES

The Group provides property developers and property owners with
agency services on the leasing and sales assistance of residential
properties and retail units.

OTHER BUSINESS

Other businesses comprise landscaping design and construction
services, engineering services, catering services and the sale of
engineering spare parts.

PROSPECTS AND FUTURE PLANS

The Group will continue to maintain its own advantage as an
independent property management company and compete with
counterparts in the market by its high quality service and
operational efficiency. The Group will actively establish stable
partnership with leading property developers in all regions and
explore potential projects under development. The Group will
strive to develop new business relationships from the existing
customer base and own network in order to provide strong organic
growth to the Group. The Group also targets to expand its portfolio
of customers by pursuing properties which have owners’ association
been established. Furthermore, when right opportunities arise, the
Group will accelerate its expansion by expanding its business scope
and coverage in China by means of acquisitions.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B E R wm BT

Pursuant to the terms of the Joint Venture Agreement entered into
between the Group and the vendors on 26 July 2016, the Group
would acquire the remaining interests in Yongcheng in four
tranches of 7.5% each at a price of RMB22.5 million for each of the
subsequent acquisition if the adjusted net profit of Yongcheng for
each of the four financial years ending 31 December 2016, 2017,
2018 and 2019 would not be less than RMB32.0 million. Since the
net profit of Yongcheng for the financial year of 2018 has met the
profit guarantee provision provided to the Group, the Group
entered into acquisition agreements with the vendors on 20 May
2019, to purchase 7.5% of the registered capital of Yongcheng at a
consideration of RMB22.5 million.

Upon completion of the above acquisitions, the Group holds 92.5%
of the registered capital of Yongcheng in which Yongcheng remains
as a non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and its financial
results will continue to be consolidated into the consolidated
financial statements of the Company. The directors are of the view
that the Group's increase in shareholding in Yongcheng will further
consolidate the profit base and provide a stable return of
investments to the shareholders.

In April 2019, the Group has made capital injection in is a PRC
property management company located in Suzhou with 28
properties and approximately 2.8 million sq.m. of ground floor area

under its management.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

On April 2019, the Group acquired companies which are engaged
in real estate investment consulting services, real estate information
consulting services, real estate brokerage and consulting services,
real estate marketing planning, house leasing and agency services
for obtaining property ownership certificate.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE REVIEW
Revenue

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group recorded
revenue of approximately RMB1,519.5 million, representing an
increase of 48.5% over the year 2018.

Increase in the Group's revenue was primarily attributable to the
growth in property management business revenue from
approximately RMB948.3 million for the year ended 31 December
2018 to approximately RMB1,138.7 million for the year ended 31
December 2019 and represented 20.1% increase over the
corresponding year. In addition, through acquisition of certain
companies during the year, the Group's revenue segments brought
forth revenue generated from real estate agency business of
approximately RMB185.9 million, other business of approximately
RMB89.7 million and cleaning and greening business of
approximately RMB31.6 million.

BB R am B AT

R2019F 4 7 AEBRBUREFHWEREZH
RS - BHEREERZARYE  BHELLNES
R BHELERE EEHAE  URREE
B o

g nm

Bt ¥ < 3R [0
Wz

HE2019F12A3MBIEFERN - AEESEK
HAAREE15195BETT © B2018F 1L )148.5% °

REERGSENEZHRAYEESEEBLAE RS
HEZE2018F12A31BILEEHARK483H
BIEEZEHE29F1I2ANBIEFEZHOA
REE11387EETT R EFHENN20.1% © 5 -
ERANFRRESRTAR  AEEMKESEE
B ENRIBER - HMER - URIBRRZIE
BEEDRELERZHARKISSIFEE L A
REgTEETLURHAREIINOEET

PRIAREEERAT
2019 F 3k

21



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B E R wm BT

Breakdown of Revenue by business line and services

REBR N RTGE D B Wt R AR

For the year ended

31 December

BE12A31MBLEE

2019 2018 Change
20195 2018 4F )
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 %
ARSTR ARBTT ARETT %
Property management business EIREE S S
— Property management services — YEEE R 1,138,745 948,296 190,449 20.1
— Sale assistance services — B 40,361 41,503 (1,142) (2.8)
Cleaning and greening business BB R ETE 31,595 47 31,548 N/A
T EA
Real estate agency business EiERIEER 185,913 - 185,913 N/A
iE A
Other businesses Hih 27 122,868 33,165 89,703 270.5
1,519,482 1,023,011 496,471 48.5
PROPERTY MANAGEMENT BUSINESS MEEEER

The Group's property management business mainly includes the
provision of property management services and sales assistance
services. Details of analysis of each service are as follows:

Property management services

Revenue from property management services increased by
approximately RMB190.4 million or approximately 20.1% over 2018
primarily due to organic growth in the Group's existing property
management services business as a result of increase in the
delivered contracted GFA by approximately 8.5 million sg.m.

Sales assistance services

Revenue from the sale assistance services for the year ended 31
December 2019 was approximately RMB40.4 million, comparing to
RMB41.5 million in 2018, representing a decrease of approximately
1.1 million, or 2.8%. The decrease in revenue from the sales
assistance services was primarily due to the slight increase in the
number of projects from 65 in 2018 to 66 in 2019 and the decrease
in average revenue of each project from approximately RMB638,500
for the year ended 31 December 2018 to approximately
RMB611,527 for the year ended 31 December 2019.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CLEANING AND GREENING BUSINESS

Revenue from cleaning and greening business of approximately
RMB31.6 million mainly represented revenue generated from
provision of indoor and outdoor environmental cleaning and
landscaping services in China during the year.

REAL ESTATE AGENCY BUSINESS

Revenue from real estate agency business of approximately
RMB185.9 million mainly represented revenue generated from
provision of real estate information consulting services, real estate
brokerage and consulting services, real estate marketing planning,
house leasing, real estate investment consulting services as well as
agency services for obtaining property ownership certificates.

OTHER BUSINESSES

Revenue from other businesses increased from approximately
RMB33.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2018 to
approximately RMB122.9 million for the year ended 31 December
2019. The increase of approximately RMB89.7 million or 270.5%
over the year was mainly due to the revenue generated from
landscaping design and construction services during the year.

COST OF SALES AND SERVICES

The Group's cost of sales and services primarily comprises (i) sub-
contracting costs, representing the expenses paid to sub-
contractors for various services under the property management
services and sales assistance services; (ii) staff costs; (iii)
depreciation expenses associated with equipment and property
used in providing services; (iv) costs of other services and sale of
goods such as salaries cost of the technicians in the provision of
elevator engineering services and weak-current engineering
services; costs of the spare parts sold and operating costs in
running the catering services and (v) costs of cleaning and greening
products and utensils as well as (vi) commission paid for the real
estate and property agency services.

Cost of sales and services increased by 50.6% from approximately
RMB740.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2018 to
approximately RMB1,116.0 million for the year ended 31 December
2019. The increase was due primarily to the growth of the Group's
business and the corresponding increase in the labor costs and
sub-contracting costs.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B E R wm BT

GROSS PROFIT AND GROSS PROFIT MARGIN EFRER=E
The tables below sets forth the Group's gross profit and gross TFREJVAEBRITIRFEZRREGEIDHOEF X
profit margins by services for the years indicated: EFE

For the year ended 31 December
BZ12A3MHLEEE

2019 2018
20194 20184F

% of % of
RMB’000 revenue RMB’000 revenue
AR®T T HlRE% ARETT 1Yz %

Property management business b ERLES
— Property management services — MEEERY 295,572 28.4 259,748 27.4
— Sale assistance services — RS 8,511 21.1 14,646 35.3
Cleaning and greening business VBB MBS 19,553 15.0 - -
Real estate agency business EHERIE % 59,568 32.0 - -
Other businesses HuhZE 7 20,237 16.5 7,711 23.3
Overall e 403,441 26.6 282,105 27.6

The Group's gross profit for the year ended 31 December 2019 was
RMB403.4 million, comparing to RMB282.1 million in 2018,
representing an increase of RMB121.3 million, or 43.0%. The
Group's gross profit margin slightly decreased from 27.6% for the
year ended 31 December 2018 to 26.6% for the year ended 31
December 2019.

OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

The Group's other income and gains for the year ended 31
December 2019 was RMB33.8 million, comparing to RMB30.8
million for the year ended 31 December 2018, representing an
increase of RMB3.0 million, or 9.7%. The increase was primarily due
to the increase in rental income of approximately RMB2.5 million.

SELLING AND MARKETING EXPENSES

The Group's selling and marketing expenses for the year ended 31
December 2019 were approximately RMB13.5 million, comparing to
approximately RMB5.5 million for the year ended 31 December
2018, representing an increase of approximately RMB8.0 million, or
145.5%. The increase was primarily due to salaries and allowance of
salemen as well as other selling expenses incurred by real estate
agency business.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

The Group's administrative expenses for the year ended 31
December 2019 was approximately RMB192.3 million, comparing
to approximately RMB151.1 million for the year ended 2018,
representing an increase of approximately RMB41.2 million, or
27.3%. The increase was primarily due to the net effect of (i) the
employee remuneration increased by approximately RMB19.8
million for the newly acquired businesses; (ii) higher amortisation
charge of intangible assets of approximately RMB2.0 million; (iii) the
professional consultancy fee increased by approximately RMB1.4
million; (iv) office expenses increased by approximately RMB5.8
million for expansion of the Group's scale; (v) higher rental
expenses of approximately RMB5.6 million; (vi) higher depreciation
charge of approximately RMB1.7 million; (vii) higher travelling
expenses of approximately RMB1.3 million and (viii) higher
communication expenses of approximately RMB1.2 million.

NET IMPAIRMENT LOSSES RECOGNISED ON
FINANCIAL ASSETS

The Group's net impairment losses on financial assets were
approximately RMB26.8 million for the year ended 31 December
2019, comparing to reversal of impairment losses on financial assets
of approximately RMB1.7 million for the year ended 31 December
2018, representing an increase of approximately RMB28.5 million in
the provision for impairment losses on financial assets which was
primarily due to increase of trade and bills receivables mainly from
the newly acquired businesses.

FINANCE COSTS

The Group's net finance expenses amounted to approximately
RMB21.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2019 (for year
ended 31 December 2018: net finance expenses of approximately
RMB1.8 million). This primarily due to (i) higher interest on bank
borrowings and other borrowings of approximately RMB2.3 million
for higher average interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
balance for the Group’s business expansion; (ii) higher interest
expense of approximately RMB13.3 million imputed on
consideration payable; and (iii) higher interest on lease liabilities of
approximately RMB4.1 million.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B E R wm BT

INCOME TAX EXPENSES

The Group's income tax expenses for the year ended 31 December
2019 was approximately RMB41.1 million. The Group's effective tax
rate decreased from 32.1% for the year ended 31 December 2018
to 23.5% for the year ended 31 December 2019, which was primarily
due to the decrease of non-deductible expenses and increase in
income not subject to tax.

GOODWILL

As at 31 December 2019, the Group recorded goodwill of
approximately RMB248.3 million, representing an increase of 59.7%
as compared with that of approximately RMB155.5 million as at 31
December 2018. The increase in goodwill of the Group was
primarily due to goodwill in relation to a number of the acquisition
transactions during the year. The goodwill primarily derived from
the expected future business development of the above acquired
companies, increase of market coverage, expansion of service
portfolio, integration of value-added services and improvement of
management efficiency.

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

Trade and bills receivables mainly arose from property
management services income and real estate agency business.

As at 31 December 2019, total trade and bills receivables of the
Group amounted to approximately RMB332.3 million, representing
an increase of approximately RMB124.5 million compared to
approximately RMB207.8 million as at 31 December 2018. The
increase was primarily due to (i) the acquisition of certain
companies in 2019; and (i) the expansion of the Group's business
scale.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Prepayments and other receivables primarily comprise payment on
behalf of customers to utility suppliers, prepayments, deposits paid
to utility suppliers and other receivables.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group's prepayments and other
receivables amounted to approximately RMB288.2 million,
representing an increase of approximately of RMB%1.7 million
compared to approximately RMB196.5 million as at 31 December
2018. The increase was primarily due to (i) increase in payment on
behalf of customers to utility suppliers of approximately RMB30.9
million, (ii) increase in deposits paid to utility suppliers of
approximately RMB8.2 million and (iii) increase in other receivables
by approximately RMB52.3 million mainly due to increase of
prepayments and other receivables of newly acquired businesses.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss of approximately
RMB2.5 million mainly represented a put option to dispose the
acquired 51% equity interest in Huihuang Property and Huihuang
Real Estate to the non-controlling equity holder in three tranches
prior to the year 2022.

CONTRACT ASSETS

Contract assets of approximately RMB59.7 million mainly
represented the value of revenue recognised but not yet billed
contractual landscaping design and construction works but not yet
confirmed by the property owners at 31 December 2019.

TRADE PAYABLES

Trade payables primarily comprise payables to sub-contractors of
the Group's property management services. Trade payables
increased from approximately RMB47.7 million as at 31 December
2018 to approximately RMB136.9 million as at 31 December 2019.
This was primarily due to the expansion of the Group's business
scale.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

Other payables and accruals primarily comprise receipts on behalf
of community residents for utilities, contract liabilities, received in
advances, accruals, deposits received and other payables. Other
payables and accruals increased from approximately RMB433.3
million as at 31 December 2018 to approximately RMB645.1 million
as at 31 December 2019. The increase was primarily due to the net
effect of (i) the increase of approximately RMB77.4 million in
receipts on behalf of community residents for utilities; (ii) the
increase of approximately RMB31.0 million in contract liabilities and
receipts in advance; (iii) the increase of approximately RMB72.9
million in other payable and accruals; (iv) the increase in amounts
due to non-controlling equity holders of a subsidiary of
approximately RMB15.4 million; and (v) the increase of
approximately RMB15.4 million in other tax payables.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The Group maintains a strong and healthy financial position. The
Group's principal sources of funds to finance the working capital,
capital expenditure and other capital requirements were internally
generated by cash flows and bank loans. As at 31 December 2019,
net working capital (calculated as current assets less current
liabilities) was approximately RMB123.7 million, representing a
decrease of approximately RMB47.9 million from approximately
RMB171.6 million as at 31 December 2018. The current ratios
(calculated as current assets/current liabilities) are 1.1 times as at 31
December 2019 (2018: 1.3 times).

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had bank borrowings
denominated in RMB of approximately RMB62.5 million (2018:
approximately RMB20.0 million) which was secured by certain
investment properties of the Group. In addition, Huihuang's non-
controlling equity holder 2#{Z (“Liang Xiwei") guaranteed certain
of the Group's bank loans up to RMB5,000,000 (2018: Hangzhou
Anijia’s non-controlling equity holder fi/N T EERERF LERA
A] (Hangzhou Residential Area Development Centre Company
Limited*) has guaranteed certain of the Group's bank loans up to
approximately RMB30.0 million) that bore interest of fixed rates as
at the end of the reporting period, and the Group had an
unsecured bank borrowing amounting to approximately RMB42.2
million (2018: approximately RMB61.8 million) which was variable-
rate and denominated in HK$ as at 31 December 2019.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group principally focused on the operation in the PRC. Except
for the cash, bank deposits and bank borrowings denominated in
foreign currencies, the Group was not subject to any other material
risk directly relating to the foreign exchange fluctuation. For the
year ended 31 December 2019, despite the depreciation of RMB
against USD and HKD, the Directors expected any fluctuation of
the RMB exchange rate would not materially and adversely affect
the operations of the Group. The management will continue to
monitor foreign currency exchange exposure and will take prudent
measures to minimise the currency translation risk.

GEARING RATIO

The gearing ratio is defined as total borrowings add amounts due
to non-controlling equity holders of a subsidiary and net of bank
balances and cash divided by total equity. As at 31 December 2019,
the Group was in a strong financial position with a net cash position
amounting to approximately RMB301.9 million (2018: approximately
RMB293.7 million). Accordingly, no gearing ratio is presented.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At 31 December 2019, investment properties of approximately
RMB146.4 million (2018: approximately RMB93.1 million) were
pledged to secure certain banking facilities granted to the Group.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group had no material contingent liabilities as of 31 December
2019.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had approximately 9,065 (2018:
10,000) employees. In order to enhance the morale and productivity
of employees, employees are remunerated based on their
performance, experience and prevailing industry practices.
Compensation policies and packages of management staff and
functional heads are being reviewed on a yearly basis. In addition
to basic salary, performance related salary may also be awarded to
employees based on internal performance evaluation. Moreover,
the Company adopted a share option scheme in April 2015 and
share award scheme in June 2017 and January 2019 in order to
retain elite personnel to stay with the Group and to provide
incentives for their contribution to the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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The Group also invests in continuing education and training
programmes for management staff and other employees with a
view to upgrading their skills and knowledge. These training
courses comprise internal courses run by the management of the
Group and external courses provided by professional trainers and
range from technical training for butlers to financial and
administrative trainings for management staff.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES OR ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

Save as disclosed above in this announcement, the Group had no
material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries or associates during
the year ended 31 December 2019.

Save as disclosed above in this announcement, at 31 December
2019, the Group has no specific plan for major investment or
acquisition for major capital assets or other business. However, the
Group will continue to identify new opportunities for business
development.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved to recommend the payment of a final
dividend of HK2.75 cents per share for the year ended 31
December 2019 (2018: 2.5 cents) to the shareholders whose names
appear on the register of members of the Company on 5 June
2020, making the total dividend payment of approximately HK$22.5
million. Subject to the approval by the shareholders of the
Company at the forthcoming AGM, the final dividend is expected
to be payable on or about 18 June 2020. The aggregate amount
shall be paid out of the Company’s share premium account if the
payment of the dividend is approved by the shareholders at the
AGM.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group's financial condition, results and business operations
may be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties, some of
which are inherent to the Group's business and some from external
sources.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Industry Risk

The China residential property management industry is highly
competitive and fragmented. Competition may intensify as the
Group's competitors expand their product or service offerings into
or as new competitors enter the Group's existing or new markets. If
the Group does not compete successfully against existing and new
competitors, the Group may not be able to renew its existing
contracts upon expiration or fail to win the bid for new projects.

Increased competition in the property management industry may
result in reduced pricing for the Group's services and a decrease in
the Group's market share.

Business Risk

The Group constantly faces the challenge of responding promptly
to market changes within the industry sectors it operates in. Any
failure to interpret market trends properly and adapt its strategy to
such changes accordingly may have a material adverse effect on
the Group's financial condition, results, and business operations.

Financial Risk

In the course of its business activities, the Group is exposed to
various financial risks, including market, liquidity and credit risks.

The Group's earnings and financial position may be adversely
affected by movements in foreign exchange rates and interest rate.
In particular, any depreciation in the Group’s bank balances
denominated in foreign currency may affect its net profit. The
Group will closely monitor the relative foreign exchange positions
of its assets and liabilities and allocate its holdings of different
currencies accordingly in order to minimise foreign currency risk.

The Group may also be subject to liquidity risk if it is unable to
obtain adequate funding to finance its operations. In the
management of liquidity risk, the Group’s management monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group's operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

The Group is also subject to exposure to credit risk from its
customers. However, the Group had no concentration of credit risk
in respect of trade receivables, with exposure spread over a
number of customers, who are residents and property developers
in the communities managed by the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

In December 2019, the Group entered into an agreement to
purchase 60% equity interests in ERE/EELZREZREBRAF]
(Guangdong Jindun Zhengan Security Services Company Limited*)
("Jindun Zhengan Security”) from an independent third party at a
total consideration of approximately RMB68,000,000. The Group
has paid the first deposit of approximately RMB5.0 million for the
change of equity interests of Jindun Zhengan Security in February
2020.

On 3 January 2020, the Group entered into the Property Transfer
Agreement with fILTIEEERMNERBKEEEER QA
(Foshan City Shunde District Chencun Town Kangying Investment
Management Company Limited*), a company established in the
PRC with limited liability as the Vendor pursuant to which the
Group agreed to acquire from the Vendor a three-storey office
building situated at 8 1L 7 I8 [@PRAT #EA T ¥ S ARG 2001501
5%~ 160158 % 170158 (Number 1501, 1601 and 1701, Pacific
Dingwang Commercial Center, Chencun Town, Shunde District,
Foshan City, the PRC) with a total gross floor area of 3,672.72
square metres for a purchase price of RMB46,114,688. The
transaction has been completed in January 2020.

On 30 March 2020, the board of directors has resolved to
recommend the payment of a final dividend of HK2.75 cents per
share for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: 2.5 cents) to the
shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of
the Company on 5 June 2020. Subject to the approval by the
shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company (the “AGM"), the final dividend is
expected to be payable on or about 18 June 2020. The aggregate
amount shall be paid out of the Company’s share premium account
if the payment of the dividend is approved by the shareholders at
the AGM.

Impact of the recent novel coronavirus situation

After the outbreak of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (“COVID-19
outbreak”) in January 2020, a series of precautionary and control
measures have been and continued to be implemented across the
country/region. The Group will pay close attention to the
development of the COVID-19 outbreak and evaluate its impact on
the financial position and operating results of the Group. Up to the
date of these financial statements, the assessment is still in
progress.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

DIRECTORS
MR. LIU JIAN

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Liu Jian, aged 52, is the chairman and the chief executive officer
of the Company and was appointed as an executive Director of the
Company on 5 January 2015. Being one of the first members of the
Group, Mr. Liu founded Guangdong Zhong Ao Property
Management Company Limited ("Zhong Ao Property”) with Ms.
Chen Zhuo in September 2005. Mr. Liu was appointed as the sole
director of Zhong Ao Property in September 2005 and has been
primarily responsible for overall operation and management,
strategic planning and business development. Mr. Liu plays a key
role in the Group's business development and has led its business
expansion from Guangdong province to other parts of China. Prior
to joining the Group, Mr. Liu worked at Guilin Park Hotel Co., Ltd.
(FEMEEHERJE B R A A]) from May 1990 to August 1994 and his last
position held was manager. From September 1994 to March 1999,
he worked at Guilin Royal Gardens Hotel Co., Ltd. (fE# 28855
[R/AR]) and his last position held was manager. From 1999 to
December 2003, Mr. Liu served as general manager of Guangzhou
Olympic Garden Property Co. Ltd. (BN EARIT LRI 3 A F]) and
from February 2004 to June 2005, as general manager of Nanguo
Aoyuan Property Company (FIBIRE Y2 A 7)), both companies
being subsidiaries of Guangdong Yabo Property Service Company
Limited (R IEEYERSER A F) ("Guangdong Yabo"). Mr. Liu
graduated from Huazhong University of Science and Technology
(FEFPE T KE) with a bachelor's degree in economics in 1988. In
2008, Mr. Liu attained a master’s degree in business administration
from Asia International Open University (Macau).

MS. CHEN ZHUO

Executive director and vice president

Ms. Chen Zhuo, aged 42, is a vice president of the Company and was
appointed as an executive director of the Company on 5 January
2015. Ms. Chen joined the Group as vice president when Zhong Ao
Property was established in September 2005. As a founder and a
member of the core management team of the Group, she has been
primarily responsible for financial management, strategic planning
and business development. Ms. Chen served as deputy general
manager of Guangdong Yabo from August 2002 to March 2005. Ms.
Chen received a college degree from Sun Yat-sen University (| LK
) in 1999, majoring in business management. Ms. Chen obtained
the qualification of a property management manager in 2000 from
the Ministry of Construction of the PRC.
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MR. LIANG BING

Executive director and vice president

Mr. Liang Bing, aged 48, is a vice president of the Company and
was appointed as an executive director of the Company on 5
January 2015. Mr. Liang joined the Group as vice president in
September 2005. As a member of the Group’s core management
team, he has been primarily responsible for overall operation and
management, strategic planning and business development. Mr.
Liang served as deputy general manager of Guangdong Yabo from
May 2002 to June 2005. Mr. Liang graduated and attained a
bachelor’'s degree in environmental engineering from Hunan
University (888 A£2) located in Hunan, the PRC in July 1996. He
later obtained a master’'s degree in business administration for
senior management from Sun Yat-sen University (1K) in 2013.

MR. LONG WEIMIN

Executive director and vice president

Mr. Long Weimin, aged 57, is a vice president of the Company and
was appointed as an executive director of the Company on 5
January 2015. Mr. Long joined the Group as vice president in June
2008. As a member of the Group's core management team, he has
been primarily responsible for overall operation and management,
strategic planning and business development. Mr. Long has 14
years of experience in the hospitality industry. Prior to joining the
Group, Mr. Long served as a deputy general manager at Guangxi
Nanning Fenghuang Lodge (EFam % BB & £F) from November
2001 to January 2004, as a deputy general manager at Purui
Hotspring Hotel (Z I8 5B JE) from 2003 to 2007 and as a general
manager at Luoyang Mudou International Hotel Co. Ltd. (/&% 25 #B
BIBRERJE AR A 7)) from 2007 to 2008. Mr. Long graduated and
attained a diploma from Guangxi Radio and TV University (EFHE
BEIRAR) in 1982,
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

MR. WEI ZHE

Non-executive Director

Mr. Wei Zhe, aged 49, joined the Company and was appointed as a
non-executive director of the Company on 17 April 2015. Mr. Wei has
over 20 years of experience in both investment and operational
management in China. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Wei served as
corporate finance manager at Coopers & Lybrand (now part of
PricewaterhouseCoopers) from 1995 to 1998 and as the head of
investment banking at Orient Securities Company Limited from 1998
to 2000. Mr. Wei was a vice chairman, from 2002 to 2006, and a
consultant, from 2007 to 2011, of China Chain Store & Franchise
Association. From 2003 to 2006, Mr. Wei was also the chief
representative for Kingfisher's China sourcing office, Kingfisher Asia
Limited. Mr. Wei joined Alibaba Group and served as senior vice
president of the B2B Division, from November 2006 to January 2007,
and president of the B2B Division and executive vice-president of
Alibaba Group, from February 2007 to February 2011. He was an
executive director and chief executive officer of Alibaba.com Limited,
a leading worldwide B2B e-commerce company listed on the Stock
Exchange in 2007, from October 2007 to February 2011. He was
voted as one of “China’s Best CEOs” by FinanceAsia magazine in
2010. He founded Vision Knight Capital, a private equity investment
fund in June 2011 and served as a founding partner and the
Chairman. Mr. Wei graduated from Shanghai International Studies
University with a bachelor’s degree in international business
management in July 1993. He also completed the corporate finance
program at London Business School in June 1998.

Mr. Wei was a non-executive director of HSBC Bank (China)
Company Limited from April 2007 to February 2011 and The
Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited from
January 2008 to February 2011. He was an independent non-
executive director of PCCW Limited, a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 0008), from November
2011 to May 2012 and was re-designated as a non-executive
director in May 2012. He was an independent director of Shanghai
M&G Stationery Inc., which is listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange, from June 2014 to May 2017. He was an independent
non-executive director of Zall Smart Commerce Group Ltd., a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 2098), from April 2016 to June 2017 and was re-designated as
an executive director in June 2017. He is currently a non-executive
director of PCCW Limited. Mr. Wei is also a non-executive director
of JNBY Design Limited, and an executive director of Zall Smart
Commerce Group Ltd., which are listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited. He is also an independent director of Leju
Holdings Limited and OneSmart International Education Group
Limited, which are listed on the New York Stock Exchange.
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MS. WU QIMIN

Non-executive Director

Ms. Wu Qimin, aged 49, joined the Company and was appointed as
a non-executive director of the Company on 17 April 2015. Ms. Wu
joined E-house Capital (/& & 7) in 2008 and became one of the
founding partners. Currently she serves as executive CEO of Jupai
Holdings Limited (NYSE: JP) and group assets management
services division chairlady and CEO of Jupai Capital Group. Ms. Wu
graduated from Shanghai Institute of Urban Construction (/83
#2222 Ft) with a bachelor’s degree in civil engineering in 1992. She
later obtained a master’'s degree in construction economics and
management from Tongji University (B AZ) in 1999, completed
the Global Executive Scholars Program at The Shanghai Advanced
Institute of Finance of Shanghai Jiao Tong University and obtained
a doctor’s degree in business administration global financial
management from Arizona State University in 2019.

MR. ZHANG WEILUN

Independent non-executive director

Mr. Zhang Weilun, aged 47, joined the Company and was
appointed as an independent non-executive director of the
Company on 5 November 2015. Prior to joining the Group, he
worked as an assistant project manager and project manager at
Shimizu Corporation (BKEZRIKRI24L) from June 1996 to
November 1997 and from December 1997 to May 1998 respectively.
During 1999 to 2004, he successively served as a general manager
of Nanguo Olympic Garden (FIEIEARICTIEE) , a president, vice-
chairman and director of Wuhan Chengcheng Cultural Investment
Group Co., Ltd. (BVEFA XL EE B R D AR AT (later
changed to Wuhan Aoyuan City Development Co., Ltd. (EVEEE
WmERRMBRAE]) and then Wuhan Wanhong Group Co., Ltd.
(2B REERMHER AR (stock code: 600681), a company
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, an executive vice president
and a director of Aoyuan Group Limited (RESEHRAF]). Mr.
Zhang has been the chairman and general manager of Guangzhou
Willsun Real Estate Co., Ltd. (B/MN#EHRE X EGRR A7) since 2005.
Mr. Zhang graduated from Wuhan University of Hydraulic and
Electrical Engineering (EUEKFIE J1K2) with a bachelor's degree
in civil engineering in 1993.
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MR. CHAN WAI CHEUNG, ADMIRAL

Independent non-executive director

Mr. Chan Wai Cheung, Admiral, aged 46, joined the Company and
was appointed as an independent non-executive director of the
Company on 31 May 2017. Mr. Admiral Chan holds a Bachelor of Arts
(Honours) in Accountancy from the City University of Hong Kong. Mr.
Admiral Chan is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. He has extensive experience in accounting and
auditing fields. Mr. Admiral Chan is an executive director of Energy
International Investments Holdings Limited, a company listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) (stock code: 353), an independent non-executive
director of SFund International Holdings Limited, a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1367), an
independent non-executive director of China Water Affairs Group
Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 855) and an independent non-executive director of
China Oil Gangran Energy Group Holdings Limited, a company listed
on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8132). He was an
independent non-executive director of EJE (Hong Kong) Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 8101), from 26 September 2013 to 22 May 2016, an
independent non-executive director of Carnival Group International
Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 996), from 10 December 2014 to 30 April 2019
and a non-executive director of China Nonferrous Metals Company
Limited, a company previously listed on the GEM of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 8306), from 1 June 2015 to 31 May 2019.
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MR. CHAN KA LEUNG KEVIN

Independent non-executive director

Mr. Chan Ka Leung Kevin, aged 51, joined the Company and was
appointed as an independent non-executive director of the
Company on 31 May 2017. Mr. Kevin Chan, holds a Bachelor of
Accounting and a Master of Finance from the University of Illinois of
the United States of America. Mr. Kevin Chan has extensive
experience in corporate finance. He is currently a responsible
officer of a corporation licensed under the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO") to
conduct type 6 (advising on corporate finance) regulated activity.
Mr. Kevin Chan has been an independent non-executive director of
Teamway International Group Holdings Limited, a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1239) since
21 June 2019. He was an independent non-executive director of
Greens Holdings Ltd, a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 1318) from 8 January 2015 to 12
November 2015.

MR. HUANG ANXIN

Independent non-executive director

Mr. Huang Anxin, aged 57, joined the Company and was appointed
as an independent non-executive director of the Company on 3
October 2017. Mr. Huang obtained a master degree in
management from Central China Normal University in 2000. He is
currently the head professor of school of management of
Guangzhou Open University. He has over 29 years of experience of
teaching in the People’s Republic of China and in particular, the
subject of corporate management and administration. He also has
intensive knowledge in other areas such as property management,
economic management and administration and community
governance.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT
MR. CHAN KONG

Vice president

Mr. Chan Kong, aged 70, joined the Group as a vice president in April
2008. Prior to joining the Group, he served as an executive
housekeeper at Guilin Riverside Resort, China (B%2 & £8) from
February 1987 to February 1988. From February 1988 to January 2002,
Mr. Chan worked with Macau CTS Hotel Management (International)
Limited (2PIFIR (HBR) BEEEHRRAR]). He joined as a project
coordinator in 1988 and was later assigned by a secondment to Hotel
Universal Guilin in the capacity of an executive housekeeper. He was
subsequently promoted and served as general manager of Hotel
Universal Guilin and general manager of Hotel Metropole, Macau (£
PIFEBEJE) and Xi'an Eastern Haojing Hotel (FAZ R 5 218 /H5).
From 2003 to 2004, he served as a general manager at Man Wah
Dongguan Hotel (REEEERJE).

MS. XIANG YAN

Assistant to CEO

Ms. Xiang Yan, aged 34, joined the Group in October 2005. She is
currently the Assistant to CEO of the Group. Ms. Xiang graduated

from Jinan University (B ® K2) and obtained a diploma in
property management.
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MR. SIU KAl CHUN

Financial controller and company secretary

Mr. Siu Kai Chun (with former name Siu Kwok Yee), aged 51, is
appointed as the financial controller and company secretary of the
Group. Mr. Siu is primarily responsible for the overall financial
management, corporate governance, investors relationship and
financial operations of the Group. Mr. Siu has over 20 years of
experience in auditing, finance and accounting. Prior to joining the
Group, Mr. Siu was the chief financial officer and company secretary
of Moody Technology Holdings Limited (Stock code: 1400) from
May 2013 to June 2019. Mr. Siu graduated from the City University
of Hong Kong with a bachelor’'s degree in business studies in
December 1994, completed the executive master of business
administration programme at Lingnan (University) College, Sun Yat-
sen University, Guangzhou, China in November 2003 and obtained
the master of science degree in Finance from the University College
Dublin, The National University of Ireland in October 2016. Mr. Siu
is currently a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England
and Wales. Mr. Siu was a senior manager at Ernst & Young
Transactions Limited from June 2012 to May 2013. Mr. Siu was the
financial controller from June 2003 to March 2005 and the chief
financial officer from April 2005 to March 2012 at CHT (Holdings)
Ltd., a company engaging in the manufacture and sale of adhesive
tapes, respectively. Mr. Siu also worked as a senior auditor at Ernst
& Young from 2000 to 2003, a senior accountant at Debbie Morgan
Trading Limited in 1999 and a tax accountant and auditor at
PricewaterhouseCoopers from 1994 to 1998. Mr. Siu was an
independent non-executive director of China Nonferrous Metals
Company Limited, a company listed on the GEM of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 8306), from June 2015 to May 2019.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The board ("Board”) of directors (“Directors”) of the Company is
pleased to present this Corporate Governance Report for the year
ended 31 December 2019.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to maintaining and upholding high
standards of corporate governance of the Company to ensure that
formal and transparent procedures are in place to protect and
maximise the interests of the shareholders of the Company

("Shareholders”).

The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code") contained in Appendix
14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of the Securities ("Listing
Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock
Exchange”) as its code of corporate governance.

In the opinion of the Directors, for the year ended 31 December
2019, the Company applied and complied with all the code
provisions of the CG Code except for code provisions A.2.1 and
A.4.1, and explained with considered reasons for such deviation.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct for
Directors in their dealings in Company'’s securities. Having made
specific enquiry to all Directors, all the Directors confirmed that
they had complied with the required standard of dealings as set
out in the Model Code for the year ended 31 December 2019.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Group and oversees the Group's businesses.

The Board is also responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties as set out below:

o To develop and review the Company’s policies and practices
on corporate governance;

o To review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;
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To review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

To develop, review and monitor the code of conduct
applicable to Directors and employees; and

To review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

Board composition

The Board currently comprises a combination of four
executive directors, two non-executive directors and four
independent non-executive directors. There is a strong
independent element on the Board, to ensure the
independence and objectivity of the Board's decision making
process as well as the thoroughness and impartiality of the
Board's oversight of the management.

The Board possesses, both as individual Directors and
collectively, appropriate experience, competencies and
personal qualities, including professionalism and integrity, to
discharge its responsibilities adequately and effectively. In
addition, the Board collectively has adequate knowledge and
expertise relevant to each of the material business activities
that the Company pursues and the associated risks in order to
ensure effective governance and oversight.

Members of the Board, who come from a variety of different
backgrounds, have a diverse range of business, professional
expertise. Biographical details of the Directors are set out in
the section “Directors and Senior Management Profile” in this
Annual Report.

The Board members have no relationship (including financial,
business, family or other material or relevant relationships)
with each other.
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(ii)

(iii)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board of the Company currently comprises of the
following Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. Liu Jian (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Chen Zhuo

Mr. Liang Bing

Mr. Long Weimin

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Wei Zhe
Ms. Wu Qimin

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Zhang Weilun

Mr. Chan Wai Cheung, Admiral

Mr. Chan Ka Leung, Kevin

Mr. Huang Anxin

Board meetings (ii)
During the year ended 31 December 2019, six board meetings

were held. Prior notices convening the board meetings were
despatched to the Directors setting out the matters to be
discussed. At the meetings, the Directors were provided with

the relevant documents to be discussed and approved. The
company secretary is responsible for keeping minutes for the
board meetings.

Responsibilities of the Board and management (iii)
The executive directors, with the assistance from the senior
management, form the core management team of the
Company. The executive directors have the overall
responsibility for formulating the business strategies and
development plan of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively the "Group”) and the senior management
personnel are responsible for supervising and executing the

plans of the Group.
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A E

Independence of independent non-executive
directors

In compliance with Rule 3.10(1), 3.10(2) and 3.10A of the
Listing Rules, the Company has appointed four independent
non-executive directors. The Board considers that all
independent non-executive directors have appropriate and
sufficient diversity, industry or finance experience and
qualifications to carry out their duties so as to protect the
interests of the Shareholders. One of the independent non-
executive directors, Mr. Chan Wai Cheung, Admiral is a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.

Prior to their respective appointment, each of the
independent non-executive directors has submitted a written
statement to the Stock Exchange confirming their
independence and has undertaken to inform the Stock
Exchange as soon as practicable if there is any subsequent
change of circumstances which may affect their
independence. In addition, the Company has also received a
written confirmation from each of the independent non-
executive directors in respect of their independence. Based
on such confirmations, the Board considers that all
independent non-executive directors are independent.

Induction for Director and continuous
professional development

Each newly appointed Director is provided with necessary
induction and information to ensure that he or she has a
proper understanding of the Company’s operations and
businesses as well as his or her responsibilities under relevant
status, laws, rules and regulations. The Company also
provides Directors with regular updates on latest
development and changes in the Listing Rules and other
relevant legal and regulatory requirements from time to time.
The Directors are also provided with regular updates on the
Company'’s performance, position and prospects to enable
the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge their
duties.

Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. The company secretary of the Company
has from time to time updated and provided written training
materials relating to the roles, functions and duties of a
Director.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Chairman and chief executive officer are two key aspects of the
management of a company. Chairman is responsible for providing
leadership for the board and management of the board while chief
executive officer is responsible for day-to-day management of
business. Clear division of these responsibilities should be in place
to ensure a balance power and authority. The code provision A.2.1
of CG Code which provides that the roles of chairman and chief
executive officer should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual.

During the year, Mr. Liu Jian is the chairman and chief executive
officer of the Company. This constitutes a deviation from the code
provision A.2.1 of CG Code.

The Company considers that having Mr. Liu acting as both the
chairman and chief executive officer will provide a strong and
consistent leadership to the Group and allow for more effective
strategic planning and management of the Group. Further in view
of Mr. Liu’s experience in the industry, personal profile and role in
the Group and historical development of the Group, the Group
considers it is to the benefit of the Group in the business prospects
that Mr. Liu continues to act as both the chairman and chief
executive officer after the Listing. Therefore, the Company currently
has no intention to separate the functions of chairman and chief
executive officer.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Code Provision A.4.1 of the CG Code requires that Non-executive
directors should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-
election. The Non-executive Directors of the Company are not
appointed for a specific term until termination by the notice period
as stipulated in the respective appointment letter in writing served
by either the Company or the respective Director. They were,
however, subject to the requirement of retirement and re-election
at least once every three years at the annual general meetings of
the Company in accordance with the relevant provisions of the
Company's articles of association. As such, the Company considers
that sufficient measures were taken to ensure that the Company’s
corporate governance practices were no less exacting than those in
the code provisions of the CG Code.
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BOARD COMMITTEES
Audit committee

The Company has established an audit committee on 5 November
2015 with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of
the Listing Rule and the Corporate Governance Code and
Corporate Governance Report as set out in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules. The audit committee consists of three members,
namely Mr. Zhang Weilun, Mr. Chan Wai Cheung, Admiral and Mr.
Chan Ka Leung, Kevin, all being independent non-executive
directors. Mr. Chan Wai Cheung, Admiral is the chairman of the
audit committee and is the independent non-executive director
with the appropriate professional qualifications. The primary duties
of the audit committee are to review and supervise the financial
reporting process and internal control system of the Group, oversee
the audit process and perform other duties and responsibilities as
assigned by the Board.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, four audit committee
meetings were held and the individual attendance of each director
is set out in the section “Directors’ Attendance Records At
Meetings”.

At the meetings, the members of audit committee principally
reviewed and discussed with the external auditor of the Company
about the Group's annual results and audited consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2018, the interim
review scope and process for the Group's result for the six months
ended 30 June 2019, the interim results for the six months ended
30 June 2019 and audit scope and process for the Group’s annual
results for the year ended 31 December 2019 and reviewed the
effectiveness of the risk management and assessment, financial
reporting process and internal control system, respectively.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a remuneration committee on 5
November 2015 with written terms of reference in compliance with
Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and the Corporate Governance Code
and Corporate Governance Report as set out in Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rules. The remuneration committee four members, namely
Mr. Zhang Weilun, Ms. Chen Zhuo, Mr. Chan Wai Cheung, Admiral
and Mr. Chan Ka Leung, Kevin. Mr. Zhang Weilun is the chairman of
the remuneration committee. The primary duties of the remuneration
committee are to establish and review the policy and structure of the
remuneration for the Directors and senior management and approve
recommendations on management remuneration.
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The remuneration committee meets to determine the policy for the
remuneration of Directors and assess the performance of executive
directors and approving the terms of executive directors’ service
contracts. In determining the remuneration for Directors, the
remuneration committee takes into consideration factors such as
salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and
responsibilities of the Directors and the desirability of performance-
based remuneration.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, two remuneration
committee meetings were held and the individual attendance of
each director is set out in the section “Directors’ Attendance

Records At Meetings”.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company has established a nomination committee on 5
November 2015 with written terms of reference in compliance with
the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance
Report as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The
nomination committee has four members, namely Mr. Liu Jian, Mr.
Zhang Weilun, Mr. Chan Wai Cheung, Admiral and Mr. Chan Ka
Leung, Kevin. Mr. Liu Jian is the chairman of the nomination
committee. The primary duties of the nomination committee are to
review the structure, size and composition of the Board and to
make recommendations to the Board on the appointment of
Directors of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, two nomination
committee meeting was held and the individual attendance of each
director is set out in the section “Directors’ Attendance Records At
Meetings”.

NOMINATION POLICY
I.  Objective

1.1 This Policy sets out the approach and procedures the
board of the Company (the “Board”) adopts for the
nomination and selection of directors of the Company
(the "Directors”), including the appointment of
additional Directors, replacement of Directors, and re-
election of Directors.
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Policy Statement

2.1

22

The Company recognises the importance of having a
qualified and competent Board to achieve the Group
corporate strategy as well as promote shareholder
value.

The Company believes that a Board that possesses a
balance of skill set, experience, expertise and diversity
of perspectives enhances decision-making capability
and the overall effectiveness of the Board. The Board is
committed to ensuring that proper nomination and
election processes are in place for the selection and
nomination of Directors.

Selection Criteria

3.1

In the determination of the suitability of a candidate, the
Nomination Committee shall consider the potential
contributions a candidate can bring to the Board in
terms of qualifications, skills, experience, independence,
age, culture, ethnicity and gender diversity. The
Nomination Committee shall consider the following
selection criteria and such other factors that it may
consider appropriate for a position on the Board:

()  Attributes Complementary to the Board: The
candidate should possess attributes that
complement and expand the skill set, experience
and expertise of the Board as a whole, having
regard to the current structure, size, diversity
profile and skills matrix of the Board and the
needs of the Board.

(i) Business Experience & Board Expertise and
Skills: The candidate should have the ability to
exercise sound business judgment and also
possess proven achievement and experience in
directorship including effective oversight of and
guidance to management.

(i) Awvailability: The candidate should have sufficient

time for the proper discharge of the duties of a

Director, including devoting adequate time for the

preparation and participation in meetings, training

and other Board or Company associated activities.
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Motivation: The candidate should be self-
motivated and have a strong interest in the
Company's businesses.

Integrity: The candidate should be a person of
integrity, honesty, good repute and high
professional standing.

Independence: Independent non-executive
director (“INED") candidates must satisfy the
independence requirements under the Listing
Rules. The INED candidate shall be independent
in character and judgement and be able to
represent and act in the best interests of all
shareholders of the Company.

The above criteria are for reference only and are not

meant to be exhaustive or decisive. The Board shall take

into consideration the benefits of a diversified Board

when selecting Board candidates.

IV. Nomination Procedures

4.1 Appointment of New and Replacement Directors

()

If the Board determines that an additional or
replacement Director is required, it will deploy
multiple channels for identifying suitable director
candidates, including referral from Directors,
shareholders, management, advisors of the
Company and external executive search firms.

Upon compilation and interview of the list of
potential candidates, the Nomination Committee
will shortlist candidates for consideration by the
Board based on the selection criteria and such
other factors that it considers appropriate. The
Board has the final authority on determining
suitable director candidate for appointment.
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42 Re-election of Directors and Nomination from
Shareholders

() Where a retiring Director, being eligible, offers
himself for re-election, the Board shall consider
and, if consider appropriate, recommend such
retiring Director to stand for re-election at a
general meeting. A circular containing the
requisite information on such retiring Director will
be sent to shareholders prior to a general meeting
in accordance with the Listing Rules.

(i) Shareholder(s) may nominate a candidate to stand
for election as a director at a general meeting in
accordance with the “Procedures for shareholders
to propose a person for election as a director of
the Company” published by the Company from
time to time.

V. Review and Monitoring

5.1  The Board will from time to time review this Policy and
monitor its implementation to ensure its continued
effectiveness and compliance with regulatory
requirements and good corporate governance practice.

BOARD DIVERSITY

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a
diverse Board, and sees increasing diversity at Board level as an
essential element in maintaining an effective Board to enhance the
quality of its performance. The Board has adopted the Board
Diversity Policy with an aim to promote broad experience and
diversity on the Board.

In designing the Board composition, Board diversity has been
considered from a number of aspects, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. All
Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates
will be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for
the benefits of diversity on the Board.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service.

The Board has reviewed, through the Nomination Committee, the
structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board as well as the
nomination and appointment procedure of directors during the
year.
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DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE RECORDS AT

MEETINGS

The attendance records of each Director at various meetings held
during the year ended 31 December 2019 are set out in the table

EENEBNHELTE

TEREBNSEENEHZE2019F12831BIEFE

MAFRITEAEHNHF L

below:
Audit Remuneration Nomination
Committee Committee Committee Board

Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting AGM
Name EREES FMEES REEES Exg R
=L 2 f ] - ) BEXE
Mr. Liu Jian (Chairman) N/A N/A 2/2 6/6 11
B2kt (XE) E NaEm
Ms. Chen Zhuo N/A 2/2 N/A 3/6 11
PRE A+ TEMA TEA
Mr. Liang Bing N/A N/A N/A 4/6 1
RESHE i A A3 A3 A
Mr. Long Weimin N/A N/A N/A 6/6 1/
BARKLE TEH NaEm TaEms
Mr. Wei Zhe N/A N/A N/A 3/6 11
FHEEE A3 A iEM i A
Ms. Wu Qimin N/A N/A N/A 176 01
R+ TE A NaEm @A
Mr. Zheng Dong™ N/A N/A N/A 1/3 1/1
EREED TEA AN ANiE
Mr. Zhang Weilun 4/4 2/2 0/2 4/6 11
RMEfmEL
Mr. Chan Wai Cheung, Admiral 4/4 2/2 2/2 4/6 11
REELL
Mr. Chan Ka Leung, Kevin 4/4 2/2 2/2 6/6 11
RERR KL
Mr. Huang Anxin N/A N/A N/A 4/6 11
B OEE i A A4 ANiE A
Note: BT

(1) Mr. Zheng has tendered his resignation with effect from 5 July 2019.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the total fees paid/payable
in respect of audit and non-audit services provided to the Group by
Ernst & Young are set out below:

BB &

HE2019F12A31BIEFE > ML kE:TAIE
TEETIA AN B R AR R IER BRSBTS TEA
MERGEHNIT

RMB’'000
ARET R
Type of services: PRIG A -
Audit services EIZIRTE
Audit of the annual consolidated financial ERFELAMEHRE
statements 2,800
Interim review of financial results for the six months £, % 20194 6 A 30 B 1L/~ 8 A B i 4 1
ended 30 June 2019 R HREEAZ 1,366
Other assurance services H Az RS 748
4914

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR'S
RESPONSIBILITIES ON THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibility to prepare
the accounts of the Group and other disclosures required under the
Listing Rules and the management will provide information and
explanation to the Board to enable it to make an informed
assessment of the financial and other Board decisions.

A statement by the Company’s independent external auditor, Ernst
& Young, about their reporting responsibilities is included in the
“Independent Auditor’s Report” in this Annual Report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary supports the chairman, Board and Board
committees by developing good corporate governance practices
and procedures. The Company Secretary of the Company was an
employee of the Company and the Company did not engage an
external service provider as its company secretary. The Company
Secretary took no less than 15 hours of the relevant professional
training during the year ended 31 December 2019.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board is accountable for overseeing the Group's risk

management and internal control systems and reviewing its
effectiveness, while the management and other personnel are

responsible for implementing and maintaining the internal controls

systems that covers governance, compliance, risk management,

financial and operational controls to safeguard the Group's assets

and stakeholders’ interests. The system is designed to manage

rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business

objectives and can only provide reasonable, and not absolute

assurance against material misstatement or loss.

A.

Risk Management and Internal Control Review

During the financial year ended 31 December 2019, the Board
has conducted an annual review on the effectiveness of the
Group's risk management and internal control systems. The
following is the summary of the Internal Control and Risk
Management Report.

This report summarises our assessment and procedures for
the Company'’s risk management, and its internal control is
considered to be sufficient and at low risk. This report also
aims to assist the Company to recognise its internal control
weakness in relevant financial procedures, systems and
internal controls area.

Our assessment commencing from assessing the over
compliance system and risk management control, the financial
reporting and disclosure control, and the operating controls
of the Company. Approaches include interviews with
management, reviewing on relevant documents,
walkthroughs of processes, tests on selected operating
samples, and a follow-up assessment after implementation of

recommendation on internal control issues.
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We have performed annual enquiries, reviewed of company’s
documents, and on-site inspection to identify and understand
the extent of the risks. The Board of Directors has full
responsibility to set up a strategy when designing a system of
internal controls that eliminate risk and achieve business
objectives. In our findings, an Internal Control and Risk
Management basic framework is established and it consists of
effectiveness and efficiency of operation; reliability of financial
reporting; and compliance with applicable laws and
regulations. An Operation Manual is also imposed for
employees to comply with applicable laws and all in-house
procedures and practices.

On an annual basis, the Department Heads review and
update their risk registers; discussion sessions are then led by
the Chief Executive. Control activities are built on top-level
reviews, segregation of duties and physical controls by
documenting all control process in policies and procedures to
limit delegation of authority, identifying the material risks,
planning the action items, and finalizing the budget and
business objectives through variance analyses. The Company
Secretary and legal advisor are also responsible to review
adherence to the laws, while the Board is responsible to
delegate roles and authorities to the Board members and
senior management and ensure they understand them.

For employee risk management, the Code of Conduct and
Business Ethics are set out; training sessions are regularly
held to reiterate the Company’s zero tolerance approach to
bribery and proper business ethics.

Internal Audit Function

During the financial year ended 31 December 2019, the
Company has an internal audit department which consists of
2 employees to monitor the daily operations of the Group.
Besides, the Company also appointed an internal control
advisor (the “IC Advisor”) to perform internal audit for the
Group during the financial year ended 31 December 2019.
The IC Advisor reported to the Audit Committee and to the
Company’s management. The IC Advisor conducted its
internal audit review activities according to the endorsed
internal audit plan during the financial year ended 31
December 2019. The IC Advisor reported the internal audit
findings and recommendations to both the Audit Committee
and the management of the Group. The management of the
Group agreed on the internal audit findings and adopted the
recommendations by the IC Advisor accordingly.
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C. Management’s confirmation on risk management

Based on the risk management mechanism and internal audit
review activities mentioned in the aforementioned
paragraphs, the management of the Group had provided a
confirmation to the Board that the Group had maintained an
effective risk management mechanism and internal control
system during the financial year ended 31 December 2019.

No significant areas of concern that may affect the financial,
operational, compliance controls, internal audit, risk
management and internal controls functions of the Group
were identified. There is no material weakness in the internal
control of the Company identified.

The Board and the Audit Committee, continue to evaluate
the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of
staff in the Group’s accounting and financial reporting and
internal audit functions, as well as that function’s training
programs and budget. Based on its annual review, the Board
and the Audit Committee are not aware of any material
deficiencies in the effectiveness of risk management and
internal control for the year ended 31 December 2019 and
consider them effective and adequate.

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS

Convening an extraordinary general meeting ("EGM")
and putting forward proposals at EGM

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Article of Association of the Company,
any one or more shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to
the Board or the secretary of the Company, to require an
extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and such
meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within 21 days of the requisition the Board fail to
proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of
the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.
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Procedures for directing shareholders’ enquiries to
the Board

The annual report and the Company’s website provide the contact
details of the Company. Shareholders may at any time send their
enquiries and concerns to the Board in writing. Shareholders may
also make enquiries with the Board at the general meetings of the
Company.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at general
meetings by shareholders

There are no provisions allowing shareholders to put forward
proposals at the general meeting under the Cayman Islands
Company Laws or the Articles of Association of the Company.
Shareholders may follow the procedures set out in the preceding
paragraph to convene an EGM for any business specified in such
written requisition.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company continue to maintaining a high level of transparency
in communicating with shareholders and investors through
diversified communication channels, including (i) printed copies of
corporate communications (including but not limited to annual
reports, interim reports, notice of meetings, circulars and proxy
forms) required under the Listing Rules, and shareholders can
choose to receive such documents using electronic means through
the Company'’s website (www.gdzawy.com); (i) the annual general
meeting provides a forum for shareholders to raise questions with
the Board: (iii) the Company’s website contains the announcements,
latest data and information of the Group, so that the shareholders
and investors can access and inspect the information of the
Company in a timely manner; and (iv) analyse briefings are arranged
from time to time to update shareholders and investors on the
Group's performance.

The Company has not made any changes to the Company's
Memorandum and Articles of Associations on or after the Listing
Date. A latest version of the Company’s Memorandum and Articles
of Association is also available on the website of the Company and
Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited.
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CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

During the year and up to the date of this report, the updated

information on Directors required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule
13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules are as follow:

(1M

2)

Ms. Wu Qimin

Appointed as group assets management services
division chairlady and CEO of Jupai Capital Group with
effect from September 2018.

Completed the Global Executive Scholars Program at
The Shanghai Advanced Institute of Finance of Shanghai
Jiao Tong University and obtained a doctor’s degree in
business administration global financial management
from Arizona State University in 2019.

Mr. Chan Wai Cheung, Admiral

Resigned as independent non-executive director and
ceased the chairman of audit committee, nomination
committee and remuneration committee of Carnival
Group International Holding Limited (a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code:
996) on 30 April 2019.

Resigned as non-executive director and the member of
nomination committee and remuneration committee of
China Nonferrous Metals Company Limited (a company
listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange, stock code:
8306) on 31 May 2019.

Appointed as independent non-executive director of
China Water Affairs Group Limited (a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 855)
on 15 January 2020.

Appointed as independent non-executive director of
China Oil Gangran Energy Group Holdings Limited (a
company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 8132) on 5 March 2020.
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rERERWME
(3) Mr. Chan Ka Leung, Kevin ) BxRREZE
—  Appointed as an independent non-executive director of — 2019F 6 H21 8 & # Teamway
Teamway International Group Holdings Limited, a International Group Holdings Limited
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock (REBZFTERETHAR - BRHR
Exchange (stock code: 1239) since 21 June 2019. 5% 1239 REABYIERITES -
(4) Mr. Zheng Dong (4) BRELE
—  Resigned as non-executive Director with effect from 5 — 201947 ASHEAFNTES -
July 2019.
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The Directors have pleasure in presenting its annual report together
with audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Its
subsidiaries are primarily engaged in the provision of property
management services, sales assistance services, provision of
cleaning and greening services and provision of real estate agency
services in the People’s Republic of China (the “"PRC"). Further
discussion and analysis of these activities as required by Schedule 5
to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, including a fair review of
the business and a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties
facing the Group, particulars of important events affecting the
Group that have occurred since the end of the financial year 2019,
and an indication of likely future development in the Group's
business, can be found in the “Chairman’s Statement”,
"Management Discussion and Analysis” and “Corporate
Governance Report” sections of this Annual Report. The above
sections form part of this report.

During the year, the Company has complied with all the relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
operations of the Group.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to reducing emissions and minimizing
negative environmental impacts through the implementation of the
environmental management system (“EMS") across our properties.
The Group's EMS is certified to the international standard
ISO14001. Apart from complying with all relevant international and
local regulations, the Group regularly identify potential
environmental risks and strive for continuous improvement. The key
environmental concerns from the Group's operations relate to
resource use and waste management. The Group have
implemented relevant initiatives, such as implementation of
metering systems to monitor the energy and water consumption,
installation of LED lighting and energy efficient water pumps. The
Group also promote environmental protection awareness to its
employees and property owners through posting reminders and
providing recycle bins.
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The Group obtain the certification from OHSAS18001 occupational
health and safety management system. The Group prides itself on
providing a safe, effective and congenial work environment and it
values the health and well-being of its staff. Adequate
arrangements, training and guidelines have been implemented to
ensure its working environment is healthy and safe.

The Company’s Environmental, Social and Governance Report,
regarding the same year covered in this annual report, will be
posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company
within three months from the publication of this annual report.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH ITS EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group has maintained a good relationship with its employees,
customers and suppliers:

Employees: Employees are the most valuable asset for the
Group. The Group therefore strive to create a
motivated workplace by providing employees a
safe and healthy working environment, and a fair
workplace with a prospective career. The Group
also emphasis on its employees’ work-life
balance, and organised various activities
throughout the year.

Customers: The Group is committed to upholding excellence
in its service quality in each and every part of the
services, and providing a feel-at-home experience
to build customer connection. Various
communication channels are set up to listen to its
customers’ opinions.

Suppliers: The success of the Group highly depends on the
quality of products and services obtained from
them, hence, the Group developed procurement
procedures to select and assess its suppliers
carefully.

More details will be disclosed in the Company’s Environmental,
Social and Governance Report, which will be posted on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company within three
months from the publication of this annual report.
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RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 82 of this annual report.

The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend of HK2.75
cents per share for the year ended 31 December 2019 (“Proposed
Final Dividend"”) (2018: HK2.5 cents) to the shareholders whose
names appear on the register of members of the Company on 5
June 2020.

Subject to the approval by the shareholders of the Company at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (the "AGM"),
the Proposed Final Dividend is expected to be payable on or about
18 June 2020. The aggregate amount shall be paid out of the
Company'’s share premium account if the payment of the dividend
is approved by the shareholders at the AGM.

DIVIDEND POLICY
I.  Purpose

1.1 The Dividend Policy aims to set out the principles and
guidelines that the Company intends to apply in relation
to the declaration, payment or distribution of its profits
as dividends to the shareholders of the Company.

Il Principles and Guidelines

2.1 In considering the payment of dividends, there shall be
a balance between retaining adequate reserves for the
Group's future growth and rewarding the shareholders
of the Company.

2.2 The Board shall also take into account, among other
things, the following factors when considering the
declaration and payment of dividends:

—  the Group's overall results of operation, financial
condition, expected working capital requirements
and capital expenditure requirements, liquidity
position and future expansions plans;

— the amount of retained profits and distributable
reserves of the Company;
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— general economic conditions, business cycle of
the Group's business and other internal or external
factors that may have an impact on the business
or financial performance and position of the
Group; and

—  any other factors that the Board deems relevant.

2.3 The declaration and payment of dividends by the
Company is subject to any restrictions under the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the Company’s
memorandum and articles of association, the Listing
Rules and any other applicable laws and regulations.

24 The Company does not have any pre-determined
dividend distribution ratio. The Company’s dividend
distribution record in the past may not be used as a
reference or basis to determine the level of dividends
that may be declared or paid by the Company in the
future.

2.5 The Dividend Policy shall in no way constitute a legally
binding commitment by the Group in respect of its
future dividend and/or in no way obligate the Group to
declare a dividend at any time or from time to time.

[ll. Review of the Policy

3.1 The Board will continually review the Dividend Policy
and reserves the right in its sole and absolute discretion
to update, amend and modify the Dividend Policy at
any time.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the
past five financial years is set out on page 240.

DONATIONS

The Group had no charitable donations during the year ended 31
December 2019.

LOANS

Please refer to note 30 to financial statements of this annual report
for details of the loans and borrowings of the Group as at 31
December 2019.
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PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements during the year in the Group’s property
and equipment are set out in note 14 to financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company
during the year are set out in note 31 to financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there was no equity-linked
agreement entered into by the Company during the year ended 31
December 2019.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Pursuant to the relevant laws of Cayman Islands, distributable
reserves of the Company as of 31 December 2019 amounted to
RMB325.2 million (2018: RMB352.8 million).

DIRECTORS

The following is the list of Directors during the year and up to the
date of this annual report.

Brief biographies of the current Directors of the Group are set out
in the section headed “Directors and Senior Management Profile”
of this annual report.

Executive Directors

Mr. Liu Jian (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Chen Zhuo

Mr. Liang Bing

Mr. Long Weimin

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wei Zhe
Ms. Wu Qimin
Mr. Zheng Dong @

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Weilun

Mr. Chan Wai Cheung, Admiral
Mr. Chan Ka Leung, Kevin

Mr. Huang Anxin

Note:

(1) Mr. Zheng has tendered his resignation with effect from 5 July 2019.
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Pursuant to Articles 84 of the Articles of Association of the
Company, Ms. Chen Zhou, Mr. Liang Bing, Mr. Chan Wai Cheung
Admiral and Mr. Chan Ka Leung Kevin shall retire by rotation at the
forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the directors has an unexpired service contract with the
Group which is not determinable by the Company or any of its
subsidiaries within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Under the Articles, the Company had a permitted indemnity
provision (as defined in section 469 of the Companies Ordinance) in
force for the benefit of the Directors throughout the year 2019 and
as at the date of approval of this Directors’ report, pursuant to
which the Company shall indemnify any Director against any
liability, loss suffered and expenses incurred by the Director in
connection with any legal proceedings in which he/she is involved
by reason of being a Director, except in any case where the matter
in respect of which indemnification is sought was caused by the
fraud or dishonesty of the Directors. The Company has maintained
insurance cover for Directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of
legal actions against the Directors arising out of corporate activities.
The insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual basis. During the
year 2019, no claims were made against the Director.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACT

There were no contracts of significance in relation to the Group's
business to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries and
holding company was a party and in which a Director of the
Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

STATUS OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive directors, a confirmation of his independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”). Based on such confirmations, the
Company still considers all of the independent non-executive
directors to be independent.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

As of 31 December 2019, the interests of the Directors and their
associates in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO"), Chapter
571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) as recorded in the register required
to be kept under section 352 of the SFO, or which otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers contained in the Listing Rules, were as follows:

Long positions

Interests in the shares and underlying shares of the Company

()  Long position in Shares
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Central Oscar is held as to approximately 95.5% and 4.5% by
Vision Knight Capital (China) Fund II, L.P. and Vision Knight
Capital (China) Entrepreneur Fund II, L.P. respectively, both of
which are managed by VKC, an exempted limited partnership
registered under the laws of the Cayman Islands, the general
partner of which is VKC (China) GP II Ltd. VKC (China) GP II Ltd.
is wholly-owned by VKC Cayman Il Ltd. Both of VKC (China) GP
Il Ltd and VKC Cayman Il Ltd are limited companies
incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands. VKC
Cayman Il Ltd is wholly owned by Mr. Wei Zhe. Under the SFO,
each of VKC, VKC (China) GP Il Ltd, VKC Cayman Il Ltd, and Mr.
Wei Zhe is deemed to be interested in the 94,262,000 Shares of
the Company held by Central Oscar.

Central Oscar % 5!l 1 Vision Knight Capital
(China) Fund II, L.P. }2 Vision Knight Capital
(China) Entrepreneur Fund I, L.P. ¥ & %)
95.5% K& 4.5% - ifn M4 9 VKC (BIR &
ERELEAMNERREREFEAED
¥)E1E  H—RE%¥ ABVKC (China) GP
Il Ltd ° VKC (China)GP Il Ltd.J5 H#VKC
Cayman Il Ltd. 2 & # A ° VKC (China) GP
Il Ltd % VKC Cayman Il Ltd A1RiZF S B E
AR B R AR o VKC Cayman I
LdmBEEEREL2EHE - REZESF RSB
& {5 » VKC + VKC (China) GP Il Ltd * VKC
Cayman Il Ltd &2 & 8 & &£ & # R B R

(i)  Long position in underlying Shares

Central Oscar FfT £ 94,262,000 f& 7~ 2~ & J&

R A L

(i) HERGPHNERE

Approximate

Capacity in which Number of percentage
Name of Director interests were held underlying Shares of interest
BEEfA BERZNS 7 HERGEE BT
Mr. Liu Jian Beneficial owner 1,809,000 0.22%
RSt E Em#EA A
Ms. Chen Zhuo Beneficial owner 1,809,000 0.22%
PRE 2+ EmEEA
Mr. Liang Bing Beneficial owner 1,809,000 0.22%
RESHE Em#EA A
Mr. Long Weimin Beneficial owner 1,809,000 0.22%
BEAERLE EmHEA A
Mr. Wei Zhe Beneficial owner 16,000,000 1.96%
BHEE EmfEBEA

Save as disclosed above, as of 31 December 2019, none of the B LiitIREEIN - R2019F 12 A31H » HiEES

Directors nor their associates had any interests or short positions in
the shares, underlying shares and debenture of the Company or
any associated corporations.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME OF THE COMPANY

Pursuant to the written resolution of the Shareholders passed on 20
April 2015, the Company granted the Pre-IPO Share Option to 380
eligible participants to subscribe for 80,000,000 shares as incentives
or rewards for their contribution to the Group. Further details of the
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and the share options granted are
disclosed in note 32 to financial statements.
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME

As announced by the Company on 20 June 2017, the Board
resolved to adopt a share award scheme (the “Share Award
Scheme”) which has taken effect immediately.

The purposes and objectives of the Share Award Scheme are to
recognise the contributions by certain employees of the Group and
to provide them with incentives in order to retain them for the
continual operation and development of the Group and to attract
suitable personnel for further development of the Group.

The maximum number of shares that may be awarded under the
Share Award Scheme during its term is limited to 3% of the issued
shares capital of the Company as at the Adoption Date of 20 June
2017. The maximum number of Shares which may be awarded to a
Selected Person under the Share Award Scheme shall not exceed 1%
of the issued share capital of the Company as at the Adoption Date.

Pursuant to the Share Award Scheme, new Awarded Shares may be
allotted and issued to the Administration Committee or the Trustee
under general mandates granted or to be granted by the
Shareholders at general meetings of the Company from time to
time and be held in trust for the Selected Persons until the end of
each vesting period. The issue price of such new Shares shall be at
the nominal value of Shares. When the Selected Person has
satisfied all vesting conditions specified by the Board at the time of
making the Award and become entitled to the Awarded Shares, the
Administration Committee or the Trustee shall transfer the relevant
Awarded Shares to that Selected Person.

During the year 2019, a total of 6,516,000 Awarded Shares were
granted to 14 eligible employees of the Group by way of allotment
and issue of 6,516,000 new shares with nil consideration. Further
details of the Share Award Scheme are disclosed in note 32 to
financial statements.

Unless otherwise defined in this section, the capitalized terms used
in this section shall have the same meanings as those defined in the
announcements made by the Company on 20 June 2017 and 22
June 2017 relating to the Share Award Scheme.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into with any individual, firm or body corporate during the
year 2019.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No contracts of significance in relation to the Group's business to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries or holding company
was a party and in which a Director had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year 2019.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year 2019, no Directors had an interest in any business
which competes or may compete with the business in which the
Group is engaged.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING BY
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

A deed of non-competition (the "Deed of Non-Competition”) was
entered into by Mr. Liu Jian, Dawngate Limited and Qichang
International Limited (collectively, the “Controlling Shareholders”)
in favor of the Company on 5 November 2015, pursuant to which
each of the Controlling Shareholders will not, and will procure any
of its/his associates and any company directly or indirectly
controlled by he/it (not include any member of the Group) not to
either on his/its own or in conjunction with any body corporate,
partnership, joint venture or other contractual agreement, whether
directly or indirectly, whether for profit or not, carry on, participate
in, hold, engage in, acquire or operate, or provide any form of
assistance to any person, firm or company (except members of the
Group) to conduct any business which, directly or indirectly,
competes or may compete with the business presently carried on
by the Company or any of its subsidiaries or any other business that
may be carried on by any of them from time to time during the
term of the Deed of Non-competition, in Hong Kong or China and
such other places as the Company or any of its subsidiaries may
conduct or carry on business from time to time, including but not
limited to provision of property management services, residential
community O20 business and other related services.

The independent non-executive directors had reviewed the status
of compliance and confirmed that the Controlling Shareholders
have complied with all the undertakings under the Deed of Non-
Competition for the year ended 31 December 2019.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As of 31 December 2019, the register of substantial shareholders
maintained by the Company under section 336 of the SFO recorded
that the following entities, other than the Directors of the Company,
had an interest in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
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as follows:
Long positions iy
Number of
Shares/ Approximate
Capacity and underlying percentage
Name of shareholder nature of interest Shares of interest
B3, 1EEa B # R
BREEEB SO RERNEE ROEE BO
Hilton Assets (PTC) Limited Trustee 435,820,000 53.30%
HFEA
Dawngate Limited Interest in controlled corporation 435,820,000@ 53.30%
BEEBRAA R EE R
Qichang International Limited Beneficial owner 435,820,000 53.30%
REBRERAR] BEmBEAA
Vision Knight Capital (China) Interest in controlled corporation 94,262,0009 11.53%
GP I, L.P. R LB s
Central Oscar Holdings Limited Beneficial owner 94,262,000 11.53%
EnEE A
Decision Holdings Limited Beneficial owner 54,000,000 6.60%
E=BAA
Shanghai Hengji Assets Interest in controlled corporation 54,000,000% 6.60%

Management Center (L.P.)
FsEREESBEDL (AREE)

SRR o
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Notes:

m

The issued share capital of Dawngate is held as to 15% by Mr. Liu and
85% by Hilton Assets (PTC) Limited as trustee of the Liu Family Trust,
a trust with Mr. Liu as founder and established in accordance with the
laws of the Cayman Islands. The discretionary beneficiaries of the Liu
Family Trust include Mr. Liu and immediate family members of Mr.
Liu.

Dawngate holds 40% of the issued share capital of Qichang and is
taken to be interested in all shares of the Company held by Qichang
for the purposes of Part XV of the SFO. Each of Suiya Investment
Limited, Signgain Limited and Onsure Limited, being the wholly-own
investment holding company of Ms. Chen Zhuo, Mr. Liang Bing and
Mr. Long Weimin respectively, holds 20% of the issued share capital
of Qichang.

Central Oscar is held as to approximately 95.5% and 4.5% by Vision
Knight Capital (China) Fund II, L.P. and Vision Knight Capital (China)
Entrepreneur Fund I, L.P. respectively, both of which are managed by
VKC, an exempted limited partnership registered under the laws of
the Cayman Islands, the general partner of which is VKC (China) GP Il
Ltd. VKC (China) GP Il Ltd. is wholly-owned by VKC Cayman Il Ltd.
Both of VKC (China) GP Il Ltd and VKC Cayman Il Ltd are limited
companies incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands. VKC
Cayman Il Ltd is wholly owned by Mr. Wei Zhe. Under the SFO, each
of VKC, VKC (China) GP II Ltd, VKC Cayman Il Ltd, and Mr. Wei Zhe is
deemed to be interested in the 94,262,000 Shares of the Company
held by Central Oscar.

Decision Holdings is wholly-owned by Shanghai Hengji Assets
Management Center (L.P.), a limited partnership registered under
PRC laws, the general partner of which is Shanghai Yidejin Investment
Management Center (L.P.) (“Yidejin"), which is also a limited
partnership registered under PRC laws. Yidejin is managed by
Shanghai Yubo Investment Management Company Limited (“Yubo”),
a limited company established in the PRC, which is a non-wholly
owned indirect subsidiary of E-House (China) Holdings Limited.
Under the SFO, each of Hengji, Yidejin and Yubo is deemed to be
interested in the 54,000,000 Shares of the Company held by Decision
Holdings Limited.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group did not enter

into

any connected transactions or continuing connected

transactions which need to be disclosed in this annual report under
Rule 14A.49 of the Listing Rules.

/0
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MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The Group's major suppliers are sub-contractors providing relevant
services for the Group's property management and sales assistance
business lines. For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group's
largest supplier accounted for approximately 13.5% (2018: 13.1%) of
the Group's total purchases, and the Group's five largest suppliers
accounted for approximately 27.7% (2018: 26.4%) of the Group's
total purchases.

The major customers of our property management business line
include property developers, property owners and property owners’
associations, while the major customers of the sales assistance
business line include property developers. For the year ended 31
December 2019, the Group's largest customer accounted for
approximately 1.1% (2018: 3.5%) of the Group's revenue, and the
Group's five largest customers accounted for approximately 4.0%
(2018: 8.8%) of the Group's revenue.

At all time during the year, none of the Directors, their associates or
any shareholders of the Company which, to the knowledge of the
Directors, owned more than 5% of the Company's issued share
capital had an interest in any of the five largest suppliers or
customers.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Group remunerates its employees based on their performance,
experience and prevailing market rate.

The remuneration committee of the Company reviews and makes
recommendations to the Board on terms of remuneration
packages, bonuses and other compensation payable to Directors
and senior management. Details of the remuneration of the
Directors for the year ended 31 December 2019 are set out in note
9 to financial statements of this annual report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company's Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman
Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on
pro-rata basis to existing shareholder.
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PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the year ended 31 December 2019, no shares were
repurchased.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the listed
securities of the Company during the year ended 31 December
2019.

ARRANGEMENT TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than the share option scheme disclosed herein, at no time
during the year was the Company, its holding company, fellow
subsidiaries or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to
enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of
shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained sufficient public float during the year ended 31
December 2019 and up to the date of this report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company is set out in the section headed “Corporate Governance
Report” of this annual report.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2019 have been audited by Ernst & Young, Certified
Public Accountants. A resolution will be submitted to the
forthcoming AGM of the Company to re-appoint Ernst & Young as
the auditors of the Company and to authorise the Directors to fix its
remuneration.

On behalf of the Board
Liu Jian
Chairman

Hong Kong, 16 April 2020
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

Ernst & Young

22/F CITIC Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue
Central, Hong Kong

EY:

Independent auditor’s report
To the shareholders of Zhong Ao Home Group Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Zhong
Ao Home Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group"”) set out on pages 82 to 239, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2019, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at 31 December 2019, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “"Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our
audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The
results of our audit procedures, including the procedures
performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our
audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.
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Key audit matters

BEETEER

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B AR

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

FRRMAEES T RERRETEE

Impairment of trade receivables and other receivables

B 5 B WGR IR R H At B W =RTR B9 R (E

As at 31 December 2019, the gross balance of trade
receivables amounted to RMB430,236,000 of which a
provision for impairment amounting to RMB99,219,000 was
made. And the gross balance of other receivables amounted
to RMB258,831,000 of which a provision for impairment
amounting to RMB37,744,000 was also made. The expected
credit loss assessment of trade receivables involves
management’s significant judgement and estimation, such
as the existence of disputes, historical payment record,
forward-looking factors and any other available information
that may impact the estimated expected credit loss
assessment of trade receivables involves. Different as trade
receivables, the expected credit loss assessment of other
receivables focuses on whether those projects with the
performance bond have been quit and whether the
employee who is subjected to the employee loan has left.
Therefore, we identify them as key audit matters.
R2019F12A3NMA EZ RN ABBEBRBE/ARE
430,236,0007T + EH A B2 EHBEEE A R 99,219,000 7T -
i At FE MR TR IR AR SRR A A R 258,831,000 7T + E R EfEH
AR AR 37,744,000 7T - B S ENFIBHTFEREEE
B RERENERAE MG EERE  BEN
FACEE - B M ERAR AR EE F RWGRIBMMS KA E
ARMEEEENEAEMAAER - BEHEWRETR
[l - B SRIRR B EEERT HERNZZEAEBLHR
FEeNEARGERFRINRTEREERNEERSACE
F o Bt - AT EEERARESAFR -

Relevant disclosures are included in notes 4, 23 and 24 to
the consolidated financial statements.

HEAREAARA M ERKRIMTS - 23524 -

For trade receivables, we checked the ageing analysis
of trade debtors prepared by the management and
assessed the assumptions applied. We evaluated the
existence of disputes, historical payment records,
historical credit loss and forward-looking factors. We
obtained and evaluated the historical observed default
rates prepared by management to assess the overall
provision for impairment. For other receivables, we
assessed the status and reviewed contracts of those
projects with performance bond. We checked
employment status of employees with relation to
employee loans. We also assessed the adequacy of the
Group's disclosures for trade receivables and other
receivables in the financial statements.
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BHARBSEBNONRRLEESLN - AiREEESE
REMOESNMENRR - RATFE EEERME
2 IEWERIA N Bt JE M FRIR A B TS SRR P R BB T DM -
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Key audit matters

RRETEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

R AER PEERRETSE

Valuation of investment properties

RENENGEE

As at 31 December 2019, the Group's investment properties
amounted to RMB183,309,000. The Group recorded a net
fair value gain of RMB4,052,000 for the year, which has been
determined with reference to the valuations performed by
an independent firm of professionally qualified valuers on
the market approach. The valuation of the investment
properties involves significant estimates and key
assumptions on items such as the selection of comparable
properties and market price.

R2019F12A31H: ESENKREVERARE
183,309,0007T - EREHBAFEAFFERAEARE
4,052,000 * JI2ERBIUEX S B RMEEMITIRTISEM
ETHEMEE - REMENGES ENA LRYERT
HEREFIEE N ERAFT RARRE -

In the absence of current prices in an active market for
appropriate similar properties, the Group considers
information from a variety of sources, including: an active
market for properties of a different nature, condition or
|location, less active market transactions and discounted
cash flows of rental income.
ERBAEMENERTSHRTERBLT - E5EZE
BREZENRRENER  BRETRAME - RERGCLED
MERERTS  KERTSR S RESBAFTRRER

Relevant disclosures are included in notes 4 and 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

MHEARBEAAGR S EHRRMEI M5
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We examined the objectivity, independence and
competence of the external valuers. We checked the
property related information and involved our valuation
specialists to assist us in reviewing and assessing the
underlying assumptions adopted by the valuers in their
valuations, such as selection of comparable properties,
market price and discounted cash flows of rental
income.

ARFriRER T INEMERBZ M - B REEESD -
AR EMRBAEELIMARF HEERHBHER &
AHE G EM R A EP RN EREMRER - AEEA L
W - MSEBREESWATRBE SRS -



Key audit matters

BEETEER

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B AR

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

FRRMAEES T RERRETEE

Impairment of goodwill

BENRE

The Group recorded goodwill of RMB248,315,000 as at 31
December 2019 arising from the acquisitions of business.
R2019F12A310 - EXEZRBURBRTOBEARE
248,315,000 7T °

Management is required to assess goodwill impairment on
an annual basis. The impairment reviews performed by the
Group's management include a number of significant
judgements and estimates including those regarding cash
generating units (“CGU") identification, operating profit
forecasts, perpetuity growth rates and discount rates.
Changes in these assumptions may have significant impact
on the impairment assessment.

ERERGFAERAEBRE - AEEEEEETHRER
BIEETEXRAE MG ERAERSEAEU((REE
HEBM)ER - EERNTA  KEEREREREK - 2%
BERNBB AT RERENGREEEATE

Relevant disclosures are included in notes 4 and 17 to the
consolidated financial statements.

ERERREAAGRE M ERRMEA N7 -

We obtained an understanding of the management'’s
impairment model for goodwill and reviewed the key
assumptions adopted by management, including those
regarding CGU identification, operating profit
forecasts, perpetuity growth rates and discount rates.
We tested the mathematical calculation of the forecasts
and carrying values in management’s impairment
model and compared management’s estimate of the
recoverable amount with the carrying amount of each
CGU.

AFAEEE T #ERBREEALFREEEMERSR

MREER  ERZTERANREELEM - KEEH
TR KABRERRITRE - AFTRAIE TR R REE

REEBRERATOHETE - WK EEEE A E
CRNGEFTEESRSELBUMNKREELR -

We compared short and long-term growth rates with
the historical trends. We also considered the results of
management's prior period forecasts. We involved our
valuation specialists to assist us in assessing the
perpetuity growth rate and discount rate for each CGU
by comparing with past performance and relevant risk
factors. We assessed the sensitivity analysis performed
by the Company’s management on the impact of
changes in the key assumptions.

KA EARMERXEFEBILER - AAXERE
BREEHEANNGER - AR MAGEER BT EE
REeEEBUNKABRERTRE - FARLEBE
RERBERRER - XA ERAREEEETEH
BAREBEREDNTENGRESN -

FRIRKREFIRD T
20195 5]

77



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B AR

OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of
the Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee
in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report is made
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

J Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

B Az BIRD R
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Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among

other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and

significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in

internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we

have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding

independence and to communicate with them all relationships and

other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our

independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

30
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in
our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Ho Wai Ling.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

16 April 2020

B Az BIRD R
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
ireBm MEMEE RS

Year ended 31 December 2019 HE2019F 12 A31 HIEFE

2019 2018
2019 F 2018 4F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

B E AR®TRT AREBTT

REVENUE g 6 1,519,482 1,023,011
Cost of sales and services tHE MRS A A (1,116,041) (740,906)
GROSS PROFIT ER 403,441 282,105
Other income and gains H i YA B e zs 6 33,844 30,809
Selling and marketing expenses PHE REHEMAY (13,455) (5,539)
Administrative expenses TR (192,296) (151,065)
Net impairment losses (recognised)/reversal & g & E R EEE (FER),/

on financial assets [o] )5 58 (26,763) 1,672
Share of profits and losses of: FEAE AT AR K & 18 -

Joint ventures EEMPE 1,438 2,895

Associates B4 N ) 20 466 (4)
Other expenses HAb 2 (10,195) (1,641)
Finance costs R I 8 (21,501) (1,833)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BR L AT A H 7 174,979 157,399
Income tax expenses FriSfim 11 (41,059) (50,449)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FRFE 133,920 106,950
Attributable to: AT ARG

Owners of the parent ISYNCIEZZN 13 108,568 96,088

Non-controlling interests FEIE R 25,352 10,862
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE FAZERRERE

INCOME, FOR THE YEAR 133,920 106,950
Attributable to: AR AR

Owners of the parent ISYNCIEZ YN 108,568 96,088

Non-controlling interests FEFERR M 7 25,352 10,862

133,920 106,950

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE B ARZERERIZEA
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF EhsREF
THE PARENT
— Basic and diluted (RMB) — EAR#EE(AREIT) 13 0.133 0.119
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSIT

ON
fre MR

As at 31 December 2019 722019412 A 31 H

2019 2018
20195 2018 4F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B =E AR¥T T ARETIT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property and equipment I EIVE L 14 55,228 41,533
Investment properties LAY 15 183,309 184,384
Right-of-use assets EREEE 16 46,769 =
Goodwill EES 17 248,315 155,456
Prepayments for acquisition of properties W B 3 Y TR IR 18 55,839 7,958
Investments in joint ventures REETEMNTE 19 3,166 4,412
Investments in associates REEE N AR E 20 4,578 3,175
Other intangible assets HitEmp EE 21 89,176 90,837
Long-term deposits RERE 4,984 997
Deferred tax assets R IBEE 22 60,360 30,929
Total non-current assets kRBEELE 751,724 519,681
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories FE 2,224 1,409
Trade and bills receivables B 5 RWEIE K RN EE 23 332,260 207,826
Prepayments and TR RRIA K B At
other receivables FE U FhIE 24 288,232 196,508
Contract assets BHEE 25 59,650 =
Financial assets at fair value through AT EFAEBEH
profit or loss SREE 26 2,536 =
Cash and cash equivalents NENRREEEBY 27 458,000 415,795
Total current assets mEBEEAE 1,142,902 821,538
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Trade payables B S ENHIA 28 136,890 47,687
Other payables and accruals H b IE MR B A 29 645,147 433,332
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings &+ & R17 R E M E R 30 82,965 70,382
Lease liabilities HEAaE 16, 30 24,518 =
Deferred liabilities BELEEE 3,820 -
Tax payables JERTARIE 125,871 98,573
Total current liabilities B S ERRE 1,019,211 649,974
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEEFRE 123,691 171,564
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES # & E R A E & & 875,415 691,245

PREKEEERA T
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

iR e BRHIR LR

As at 31 December 2019 7220194 12 831 H

2019 2018
2019 F 2018 £F
Notes RMB’'000 RMB’000
B 5T ARET R ARETT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FEREEE
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIAAE 22 26,848 25,376
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings B8R 17 R E M &R 30 47,570 41,459
Lease liabilities HEaE 16, 30 22,773 =
Other long-term payables EH fth = BAME T 5RIE 40,299 18,460
Total non-current liabilities FREEEAE 137,490 85,295
NET ASSETS EEFE 737,925 605,950
EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO BAREE AELER
OWNERS OF THE PARENT
Share capital IEN 31 6,745 6,689
Reserves 1 33 671,686 555,123
678,431 561,812
Non-controlling interests FEIE PR RE RS 59,494 44,138
TOTAL EQUITY ERETE 737,925 605,950
Liu Jian Chen Zhuo
= R
Director Director
E2 E2
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GARBEDR

Year ended 31 December 2019 HZE 2019412 A31 HIEFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

RRRER AR
Capital Share Non-
Issued Share redemption  Statutory Other Special option  Retained controlling Total
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve  earnings  Sub-total interests equity
E5ERE BhRE

BRORE  RHEE @ iEHE  AfEE  BURE fiff  REERA Pit FERER 4o
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTR ARMTR ARMTR ARMTT ARMTR ARMTR ARBTR ARBTR AREBTR ARETR

As at 1 January 2018 R2018E181A 6,619 439,134 48 19,442 14,000 (66,128) 19,744 59,520 492,319 54,314 546,693
Change in accounting policy SHUREY - - - - - - - (15,990) (15,990) (3,076) (19,066)
As adjusted R 6,619 439,134 18 19,442 14,000 (66,128) 19,744 43,530 476,389 51,238 527,621
Profit for the year FRFE - - - - - - - 96,088 96,088 10,862 106,950
Capital contribution from FERERITE

non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - - 3,678 3678
Acquisition of subsidiaries WEHBAR - - - - - - - - - 1318 1,318
Dividend declared (note 12) BERRE (FixE12) - - - - - - - (33,984) (33,984) (4,09) (38,080)
Contract to acquire remaining a1 A1KE—ZMB AR

interest in a subsidiary HepER - - - - - 18,035 - - 18,035 (18,035) -
Transfer from retained eamings BB RERF - - - 13,391 - - - (13,391) - - -
Recognition of equity-settled RNERLEEMRAER

share-based payments 70 5,455 = = = = M8 = 5943 = 5,943
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-RIBRTR - - - - - - - - - (203) (203)
Acquisition of non-controlling  YERIEHERRIERS

interests - - - - - (376) - - (376) (624) (1,000
Share options lapsed B HERE - - - - - - (283) - (283) - (283)
As at 31 December 2018 R2018%12A31H 6,689 444,589 48 32,833 14,000 (48,469) 19,879 92,243 561,812 4,138 605,950
As at 1 January 2019 R2019%1A18 6,689 444,589 48 32,833 14,000 (48,469) 19,879 92,243 561,812 44,138 605,950
Profit for the year ERFIE - - - - - - - 108,568 108,568 25,352 133,920
Dividend declared (note 12) BERRE (M3t 12) - (18209) - - - - - - (18209)  (19.402)  (37,611)
Acquisition of subsidiaries s KB AR (R 35)

(note 35) - - - - - - - - - 30,522 30,522
Capital contribution from FARERTE

non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - - 431 431

Contract to acquire remaining T”]W% FHBLF
Tg

interest in a subsidiary - - - - - 21,547 - - 21,547 (21,547) -
Recognition of equity-settled B )

share-based payments (note 32) 11 (W‘BZ) 56 4,657 - - - - - - 4713 - 4,713
Transfer from retained eamings & 8RB A&7 - - - 12,709 - - - (12,709) - - -
As at 31 December 2019 R2019%12A31A 6,745 431,037* 48* 45,542* 14,000 (26,922  19,879*  188,102* 678,431 59,494 737,925

@ These reserve accounts comprised the consolidated other reserves of ~ * u/< Z2EREROEREMBIKARNEGS KM EE
RMB671,686,000 (2018: RMB555,123,000) in the consolidated DRABAR puti—kj671,686,00077:(20']8¢ AR
statement of financial position. 555,1 23,0007T) °

PRIAREEMERD A
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mAERERER

Year ended 31 December 2019 HE2019F 12 A31 HIEFE

2019 2018
2019 F 2018 4F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

Bt ARBTR ARBTE

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING REZLLEEFDNHRERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax: R A AT A - 174,979 157,399
Adjustments for: HIATRIERE
Fair value gains on investment properties REMERN N TFEWZS 15 (4,052) (3,216)
Depreciation of items of property and WENRREEBITE
equipment 14 16,553 11,468
Depreciation of right-of-use assets BREEERE 16 12,026 =
Amortisation of intangible assets A Y 21 16,157 13,796
(Gain)/loss on disposal of items of HEYENKREEER
property and equipment (), BB 7 (1,765) 60
Impairment/(reversal) of trade and B 5 e W F0E K e W E %
bills receivables B (Bm) 23 13,369 (4,404)
Impairment of prepayments, TENFRIE  =e REMEK
deposits and other receivables IR E 24 11,093 2,732
Impairment of goodwill HERE 17 3,281 -
Impairment of property, plant and M - WE RFERE
equipment 14 456 =
Impairment of contract assets BHEERME 25 1,845 -
Share of profits of joint ventures EEE E R (1,438) (2,895)
Share of (profits)/losses of associates FE(REE =N B (FIE), BB (466) 4
Fair value adjustment of contingent HAREZ R FEAE
consideration 7 174 -
Finance costs EURID RN 8 21,501 1,833
Net foreign exchange losses/(gains) PE 3 B8 (U2 ) JH 58 7 3,334 (1,431)
Other interest income from financial assets 322 F{EzF ABZH &
at fair value through profit or loss BEMGHEMHEUA 6 (2,148) (3,915)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary & —RMTE R ml i Es 36 - (299)
Gain on disposal of a joint venture HE—ReE D EWE - (1,450)
Bank interest income AT EHA 6 (2,358) (2,943)
Share-based payment expenses of ARRRONRAXS
the Company 32 4,713 5,660
267,254 172,399
Increase in inventories FEEN (669) (585)
Increase in contract assets BHIEEL N (55,996) -
Increase in trade and bills receivables B 5 e WG K e I E R
and prepayments and other receivables DA R FEAS 5R08 K E A
FE UL FRIEIE N 30,966 (84,013)
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 R H AR R
and accruals FEETE RN 70,721 13,874
Cash generated from operations REMBRS 312,276 101,675
Tax paid BEAHIE (43,678) (45,117)
Net cash flows from operating activities REEEEBHNESHRETHE 268,598 56,558
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

'Jﬂ/\
,\/\ i//lbi%

Year ended 31 December 2019 #Z=2019F 12 A31 B ILFE

2019 2018
2019 F 2018 4F
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000

B aE AR®BTFR ARETT

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REREEZDNHRERE

ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from disposal of property and B EYENMRAEFTSFE

equipment 8,122 256
Purchases of items of property and EEYENREER

equipment (16,990) (19.359)
Prepayments of items of property and Y% N&EIEE

equipment SOENNE A (46,576) -
Purchase of intangible assets ,ﬁ\%gﬁ%ﬁé (1,979) (752)
Acquisition of subsidiaries g1y PN 35 (24,217) (29,397)
Investment in an associate ﬁ/\\\—%%ﬁ%i\\ ARE 20 (490) -
Increase in financial assets at fair value BRATEFABRZHNSH

through profit or loss B AN 26 (54) =
Interest income received EFEHA 6 2,358 2,943
Disposal of investment properties HEREYHE 15 3,855 =
Dividend received from a joint venture W B —HaeEtENRE 2,684 2,275
Additions of investment properties NEREME 15, 37(a) (259) (6,512)
Other interest income from financial assets ZAFEFt AIBRENEFEE

at fair value through profit or loss FT S E oA S UA 6 2,148 3,915
Increase in other receivables H b B U RN IA HE 0 (65,056) -
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—RHMEBAA 36 - (120)
Disposal of a joint venture HE—REEDHE - 2,678
Net cash flows used in investing activities REEEFTARERETFE (136,454) (44,073)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING RERMEZDNRERE

ACTIVITIES
New bank loans HEIRITER 153,800 40,000
Repayment of bank loans BEIETER (165,356) (63,314)
Interest paid EfTFE (5,932) (3,215)
Principal portion of lease payments HENRORS B (8,904) -
Acquisition of non-controlling interests Ui B FE 72 A A 2 29(b) (22,500) (23,500)
Capital contribution from non-controlling SRR E R BT E

interests 431 3,678
Dividends paid BERRE 12 (18,209) (33,984)
Dividends paid to non-controlling Eﬁ;ﬂ HXHX%E"]H

shareholders (19,402) (4,096)
Net cash flows used in financing activities BEEEfMARESRETFE (86,072) (84,431)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

,\/ < Eﬁi/)lbi%

Year ended 31 December 2019 HE2019F 12 A31 HIEFE

2019 2018
2019 & 20184
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BaE AR%T ARETTT
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH ReRRSESEYEM CRD)
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS TR 46,072 (71,946)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of FHZIR& NIREEEY
year 415,795 483,806
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net [ RE )Mz 2 558 (3,867) 3,935
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRZRAERBSEEY
AT END OF YEAR 458,000 415,795
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH RERASEEBYERDIN
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in PBARRKRTIBEERIREE
the statement of financial position B 458,000 415,795
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RERERMIBER
AS STATED IN THE STATEMENT OF HeZEEY
CASH FLOWS 458,000 415,795
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Zhong Ao Home Group Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated and registered as an exempted company with
limited liability in the Cayman Islands under the Cayman
Islands Companies Law on 5 January 2015. The registered
office address of the Company is P.O. Box 2681, Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands.

The Company'’s subsidiaries are principally engaged in the
provision of property management services, sales assistance
services, provision of cleaning and greening services and
provision of real estate agency services in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC"). In the opinion of the directors,
the Company’s immediate and ultimate holding company is
Qichang International Limited (“Qichang”), a limited liability
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”).

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

BT R Y ot

31 December 2019 7220194 12 A 31 H

RAER
FRIREEAR AR ARQT ) K215
F1ACHRBEHREHERREEHREHS
AR EER A HAEREERAR - &K
A A 9% % 5 &9 b ik R P.O. Box 2681,
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands °

ARAMBRREEZRHEARLME ([
B DREREMEEERY - BERE 8
B ERG REERERBNER - B
ERA - ARAEERRRERAFSME
BEREBERAB(RE]) AR A —BRE
BRAZES ([EBELERS ) EMKIINE
BRAR]

HEAKIE A R EFR
ARREEMBARMFENT -

follows:
Place of Percentage of equity
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/  attributable to the Company
registration and registered FAREEERE DL
Name business share capital Direct Indirect  Principal activities
&% A, BRITER/ E& M TEXB
ERREREH AR A
Zhong Ao Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands usD1 100% - Investment holding
hERERAR A A HBRAHS = REER
Zhong Ao Property Services Hong Kong HKD1 - 100%  Investment holding
(Hong Kong) Limited
("Zhong Ao HK")
RENERY (FE)BERAA 30 18T RAZK
(ThREE])
Aidaojia Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands HKD7.75 - 100%  Investment holding
("Aidaojia Holdings")
BARERERAF KBRAAS 7.75% 7T REZKR
(TEBIRER])
Aidaojia Information Technology Hong Kong HKD2 - 100%  Investment holding
Company Limited
("Aidaojia Information”)
00 2B REZK

BHFEAMRERAF
(TE2IZEHD)
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (Continued) 1. AaERE )
Information about subsidiaries (Continued) EBEHRBASINER (&)
Place of Percentage of equity
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/  attributable to the Company
registration and registered AAREEEEADL
Name business share capital Direct Indirect  Principal activities
A8 AL, BRTEE/ HE B TEXH
BRRERBH A RAE
Eastern Harbour Engineering Hong Kong HKD2 - 70%  Investment holding
Management Company Limited
("Eastern Harbour")
RABEIREERRAR &k 28T REAZMK
(IR7/8%])
BMBENEREERAF PRC/Mainland China HKD1,000,000 - 100%  Investment holding
("Guangzhou Xuji")*
BINBENEREERAF HE/HE N, 1,000,000 7 REER
(TEMBE])*
BRARNEERERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB 100,000,000 - 100%  Provision of property
("Guangdong Zhong Ao")* management services
BRAANEXERERAA HRE R E R, AR #100,000,0007T REDEERRE
(TERHE])*
MINGEEREERMERBABR LB PRC/Mainland China RMB2,500,000 = 100%  Provision of property
("Hangzhou Lvdu") management services
MMEERECEDERBERAR T8/ PEAL AR 2,500,000 7T REMEERRG
(THIHERER ) *
MMEENEERERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 - 100%  Provision of property
("Hangzhou Huachang")* management services
MMEENEERERAF RE/HRERA, AR 1,000,000 7 RUEMEEE R
(TMEE D)
MNEENERBERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB500,000 - 100%  Provision of property
("Hangzhou Gaodi")* management services
M= ENERBEERA A RE/ B B 500,000 70 REMRERRY
(MMEsEl)*
WTKRMEEEER AR PRC/Mainland China RMB11,000,000 = 92.5%  Provision of property
("Zhejiang Yongcheng”)* management services
HLKRNEEEERAF FE/RER AR 11,000,000 REmEERRY
(TR
EERRMEEEER AR PRC/Mainland China RMB3,000,000 - 70%  Provision of property
("Shanghai Yidong")* management services
LERRNEERERAR HiE/HER AR ¥3,000,0007C REMEERRG
(T Lgtazm])*
BEBEMEERERAF PRC/Mainland China RMB6,000,000 - 100%  Provision of property
("Hongtu")* management services
LERANRERERAA P/ BN A 6,000,000 70 RENEERRSG

(B )

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (Continued) 1.

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Place of
incorporation/

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Issued ordinary/

BB

31 December 2019 7220194 12 A 31 H

YNCI-¢ - 9€-)
BB ARNER (&)

Percentage of equity

attributable to the Company

registration and registered AARELEEAD L
Name business share capital Direct Indirect  Principal activities
L AL, BRTEE/ E& M TEER
BRREELE AR

EREMBBENERBERLA PRC/Mainland China RMB5,000,000 - 92.5%  Provision of property
("Ningbo Reston") management services

BEREEAENERBERAR HE/RERL AR H5,000,0007C REMRERRY
(TEREE])

EREENEEEERARF PRC/Mainland China RMB1,000,000 - 72.71%  Provision of property
("Ningbo Yongxing")* management services

BERRENEEEERAF HE/RERL AR 1,000,007 REmEERRY
(TERBE])"

HERKEEHIREERAA PRC/Mainland China RMB3,000,000 = 92.5%  Provision of engineering
("Ningbo Yongdu")* services and sale of

engineering spare parts

BRABERTRERAF HE/RERL AR 3,000,0007C RETERRELEETR
(TR ) B ft

BNPREXEXERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 = 60%  Provision of property
("Zhong Ao Shangye")* management services

BN RAFREZERAF HhE B R, AR 10,000,000 7T REMEER R
(TrhREzE])

MMZENEERERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB3,000,000 - 75%  Provision of property
("Hangzhou Anjia")* management services

MM ZZNEERERAF RE/HER, AR 3,000,000 7 RUMEEE R
(CAEEDD

B ILK R RE 2R AR A PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 - 100%  Provision of property
("Foshan Pairuier”)* management services

HLEREERREERAR FE/HER AR #50,000,0007C REMRERRY
(TR L)

EESEEZREERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB500,000 - 60%  Provision of property
("Shanghai Tangnian")* management services

ESFERRBERAR FEL/ B it AR 500,000 7C REDEEERY
(TLE5E)*

EESEEZREER AR PRC/Mainland China RMB2,000,000 - 60%  Provision of property
("Shanghai Tanglei") management services

LEAEBZREERAR BB R, AE# 2,000,000 70 REMFER RS
([L&E5E]*

B R X RIS ERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB3,000,000 - 60%  Provision of property
("Guilin Gangshen")* management services

ERERNERBERDA PR/ BN AR ¥3,000,00070 RENEERRG
(TEMERD)

FRIREEERD A

2019 & 91



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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1. CORPORATE INFORMATION (Continued) 1.

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

YNCIE-¢ 53¢ -))
BB ARNESR (&)

Place of
incorporation/

Issued ordinary/

Percentage of equity
attributable to the Company

registration and registered AAREEEEAD L
Name business share capital Direct Indirect  Principal activities
£ AL BRTLE/ HE Mg TEER
BREREELH AR A

ERGHBENSBSTIRER PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000,000 - 60%  Provision of landscaping

("Ming-King-City")* design and construction
services

ERERBENSESIGIITRERARA RE/ REAL AR 20,000,000 7 REEMSBR R
([8E5R 1) R IRT
BENT2EREEMELREERA PRC/Mainland China RMB32,352,941 - 66%  Provision of property
(“Suzhou House Construction” ) management services
FNIXERZENFERERAD FE/FERL ARH32,352941 REmEERRY
(TERMNERE )"

ERABREXEARSERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB5,000,000 - 51%  Provision of real estate
("Huihuang Property”) agency services

BREBEEXHARBERA HRE R E R, AR # 5,000,000 REEHERERY
(MEREX)*

ERBEEMERAREERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 51%  Provision of real estate
("Huihuang Real Estate”)* agency services

ERBRERHERARBERAH TR/ PR AR#10,000,0007C REFHERERS
(MBEEMmE])"

EMRREEYEREARAF PRC/Mainland China RMB500,000 - 60%  Provision of property
("Guilin Hengxin")* management services

MR REBENEREERAF RE/HRE R, AR 500,000 7T RUMEEE R

(TEMERED

Guangzhou Xuji, Shanghai Yidong and Foshan Pairuier are

registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under PRC law
and the registered capital of Guangzhou Xuji and Shanghai

Yidong and Foshan Pairuier has been fully paid up.

L The subsidiary is a limited liability company.

During the year, the Group acquired Ming-King-City, Suzhou
House Construction, Huihuang Property, Huihuang Real
Estate and Guilin Hengxiu. Further details of acquisition of
the above subsidiaries are set out in note 35.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in
the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs")
(which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“"HKASs”) and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants ("HKICPA"), accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They
have been prepared under the historical cost convention,
except for investment properties and financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss which have been measured at fair
value. These financial statements are presented in Renminbi
("RMB") and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the "Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2019. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is
achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over
the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the
current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
() the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are
consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2019 722019412 A 31 H

2.1

2.2

94

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the
Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results
in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All
intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control described
above. A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary,
without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii)
the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (i)
the fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any resulting
surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of
components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised

HKFRSs for the first time for the current year's financial

statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation

Leases

Plan Amendment, Curtailment
or Settlement

Long-term Interests in
Associates and Joint Ventures

HKFRS 16
Amendments to HKAS 19

Amendments to HKAS 28

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments

Amendments to HKFRS 3,

HKFRS 11, HKAS 12 and
HKAS 23

Annual improvements to
HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

Except for the amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKAS 19, and
Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle, which are
not relevant to the preparation of the Group's financial
statements, the nature and the impact of the new and revised
HKFRSs are described below:

(a) Adoption of HKFRS 16

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 Leases, HK(IFRIC)-Int 4
Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease,
HK(SIC)-Int 15 Operating Leases — Incentives and
HK(SIC)-Int 27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions
Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets
out the principles for the recognition, measurement,
presentation and disclosure of leases and requires
lessees to account for all leases under a single on-
balance sheet model to recognise and measure right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities, except for certain
recognition exemptions. Lessor accounting under
HKFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from HKAS 17.
Lessors continue to classify leases as either operating or
finance leases using similar principles as in HKAS 17.
Therefore, HKFRS 16 did not have any financial impact
on leases where the Group is the lessor.

The Group has adopted HKFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective method of adoption with the date of initial
application of 1 January 2019. Under this method, the
standard has been applied retrospectively with the
cumulative effect of initial adoption recognised as an
adjustment to the opening balance of retained profits at
1 January 2019, and the comparative information for
2018 was not restated and continued to be reported
under HKAS 17 and related interpretations.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

926

AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)
(a) Adoption of HKFRS 16 (Continued)

New definition of a lease

Under HKFRS 16, a contract is, or contains a lease if the
contract conveys a right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer
has both the right to obtain substantially all of the
economic benefits from use of the identified asset and
the right to direct the use of the identified asset. The
Group elected to use the transition practical expedient
allowing the standard to be applied only to contracts
that were previously identified as leases applying HKAS
17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 at the date of initial application.
Contracts that were not identified as leases under HKAS
17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 were not reassessed. Therefore,
the definition of a lease under HKFRS 16 has been
applied only to contracts entered into or changed on or
after 1 January 2019.

As a lessee — Leases previously classified as
operating leases

Nature of the effect of adoption of HKFRS 16

The Group has lease contracts for various items of
properties. As a lessee, the Group previously classified
leases as either finance leases or operating leases based
on the assessment of whether the lease transferred
substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership of
assets to the Group. Under HKFRS 16, the Group
applies a single approach to recognise and measure
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for all leases,
except for two elective exemptions for leases of low-
value assets (elected on a lease-by-lease basis) and
leases with a lease term of 12 months or less (“short-
term leases”) (elected by class of underlying asset).
Instead of recognising rental expenses under operating
leases on a straight-line basis over the lease term
commencing from 1 January 2019, the Group
recognises depreciation (and impairment, if any) of the
right-of-use assets and interest accrued on the
outstanding lease liabilities (as finance costs).

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(a)

Adoption of HKFRS 16 (Continued)

As a lessee — Leases previously classified as
operating leases (Continued)

Impact on transition

Lease liabilities at 1 January 2019 were recognised
based on the present value of the remaining lease
payments, discounted using the incremental borrowing
rate at 1 January 2019 and included in interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings. The right-of-use assets
were measured at the amount of the lease liability,
adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease
payments relating to the lease recognised in the
statement of financial position immediately before 1
January 2019.

For the leasehold land and buildings (that were held to
earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation)
previously included in investment properties and
measured at fair value, the Group has continued to
include them as investment properties at 1 January
2019. They continue to be measured at fair value
applying HKAS 40.

The Group has used the following elective practical
expedients when applying HKFRS 16 at 1 January 2019:

o Applying the short-term lease exemptions to
leases with a lease term that ends within 12
months from the date of initial application

o Using hindsight in determining the lease term
where the contract contains options to extend/
terminate the lease

o Applying a single discount rate to a portfolio of
leases with reasonably similar characteristics when
measuring the lease liabilities at 1 January 2019
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2.2

98

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(a) Adoption of HKFRS 16 (Continued)

Financial impact at 1 January 2019

The impact arising from the adoption of HKFRS 16 as at
1 January 2019 was as follows:

22 SRR EESS #)

(a) BRMBEBMBREEAF 1657
(&)

R2019F 1 5 1 BRI =&

K2019F1 A1 BRERBE B EHRE
BRI 16FAELNTEMT ¢

Increase
0
RMB’000
AREFT
(Audited)
(EZ)
Assets BE
Increase in right-of-use assets e FAMEE A N 1,637
Increase in total assets BERESEM 1,637
Liabilities &=
Increase in interest-bearing bank and other borrowings &8 R17 K E A EE N 1,637
Increase in total liabilities BEREEM 1,637
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB

31 December 2019 7220194 12 A 31 H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 22 S BERRREZE @)
AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)
(a) Adoption of HKFRS 16 (Continued) (a) BB BIMBHMELERF 165
(#&)
As a lessee — Leases previously classified as finance EREBA — kD EAMERE
leases WHEE
The lease liabilities as at 1 January 2019 reconciled to R2019F1ATHNEESaFEER
the operating lease commitments as at 31 December 2018 K12 A 31 B L EAEHER
2018 were as follows: wm
RMB’000
ARETT
(Audited)
(& Z)
Operating lease commitments as at 72018512 A 31 HHRE
31 December 2018 HE AR 3,586
Less: Commitments relating to short-term leases and A ERFE AR & K FIgRAE HRTE
those leases with a remaining lease term ended 2019F 12 431 Bz
on or before 31 December 2019 Al S o B9 A S AR B O 4 (627)
2,959
Weighted average incremental borrowing rate as at R2019F 1 A1 By EFIES
1 January 2019 BERN=E 5%
Discounted operating lease commitments as at 201941 A1 BRIBRIREE
1 January 2019 HEAYE 1,637
Lease liabilities as at 1 January 2019 R2019%1 A1 HNEEAE 1,637
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(b)

100

Amendments to HKAS 28 clarify that the scope
exclusion of HKFRS 9 only includes interests in an
associate or joint venture to which the equity method is
applied and does not include long-term interests that in
substance form part of the net investment in the
associate or joint venture, to which the equity method
has not been applied. Therefore, an entity applies
HKFRS 9, rather than HKAS 28, including the impairment
requirements under HKFRS 9, in accounting for such
long-term interests. HKAS 28 is then applied to the net
investment, which includes the long-term interests, only
in the context of recognising losses of an associate or
joint venture and impairment of the net investment in
the associate or joint venture. The Group assessed its
business model for its long-term interests in associates
and joint ventures upon adoption of the amendments
on 1 January 2019 and concluded that the long-term
interests in associates and joint ventures continued to
be measured at amortised cost in accordance with
HKFRS 9. Accordingly, the amendments did not have
any impact on the financial position or performance of
the Group.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 addresses the accounting for income
taxes (current and deferred) when tax treatments involve
uncertainty that affects the application of HKAS 12
(often referred to as “uncertain tax positions”). The
interpretation does not apply to taxes or levies outside
the scope of HKAS 12, nor does it specifically include
requirements relating to interest and penalties
associated with uncertain tax treatments. The
interpretation specifically addresses (i) whether an entity
considers uncertain tax treatments separately; (i) the
assumptions an entity makes about the examination of
tax treatments by taxation authorities; (iii) how an entity
determines taxable profits or tax losses, tax bases,
unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates; and
(iv) how an entity considers changes in facts and
circumstances. Upon adoption of the interpretation, the
Group considered whether it has any uncertain tax
positions arising from the transfer pricing on its
intergroup sales. Based on the Group's tax compliance
and transfer pricing study, the Group determined that it
is probable that its transfer pricing policy will be
accepted by the tax authorities. Accordingly, the
interpretation did not have any impact on the financial
position or performance of the Group.

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised

HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in

these financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3
Amendments to HKFRS 9,

HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 10

and HKAS 28 (2011)

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKAS 8

Definition of a Business'

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform’

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or
Joint Venture?

Insurance Contracts?

Definition of Material

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after

1 January 2020

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after

1 January 2021

e No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for

adoption

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to
be applicable to the Group is described below.

2.3
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BIH5 A P ot

31 December 2019 722019412 A 31 H

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

2.3.CHEMEERERNE B TR
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING P

Al )

STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 clarify and provide additional
guidance on the definition of a business. The amendments
clarify that for an integrated set of activities and assets to be
considered a business, it must include, at a minimum, an
input and a substantive process that together significantly
contribute to the ability to create output. A business can exist
without including all of the inputs and processes needed to
create outputs. The amendments remove the assessment of
whether market participants are capable of acquiring the
business and continue to produce outputs. Instead, the focus
is on whether acquired inputs and acquired substantive
processes together significantly contribute to the ability to
create outputs. The amendments have also narrowed the
definition of outputs to focus on goods or services provided
to customers, investment income or other income from
ordinary activities. Furthermore, the amendments provide
guidance to assess whether an acquired process is
substantive and introduce an optional fair value concentration
test to permit a simplified assessment of whether an acquired
set of activities and assets is not a business. The Group
expects to adopt the amendments prospectively from 1
January 2020. Since the amendments apply prospectively to
transactions or other events that occur on or after the date of
first application, the Group will not be affected by these
amendments on the date of transition.

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 address the
effects of interbank offered rate reform on financial reporting.
The amendments provide temporary reliefs which enable
hedge accounting to continue during the period of
uncertainty before the replacement of an existing interest rate
benchmark. In addition, the amendments require companies
to provide additional information to investors about their
hedging relationships which are directly affected by these
uncertainties. The amendments are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020. Early
application is permitted. The amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group's financial
statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in
HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of
assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture.
The amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss
when the sale or contribution of assets between an investor
and its associate or joint venture constitutes a business. For a
transaction involving assets that do not constitute a business,
a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is recognised in
the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated
investor’s interest in that associate or joint venture. The
amendments are to be applied prospectively. The previous
mandatory effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by the HKICPA in January 2016
and a new mandatory effective date will be determined after
the completion of a broader review of accounting for
associates and joint ventures. However, the amendments are
available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 provide a new definition
of material. The new definition states that information is
material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could
reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the
primary users of general purpose financial statements make
on the basis of those financial statements. The amendments
clarify that materiality will depend on the nature or magnitude
of information. A misstatement of information is material if it
could reasonably be expected to influence decisions made by
the primary users. The Group expects to adopt the
amendments prospectively from 1 January 2020. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact
on the Group's financial statements.
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3.

104

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting
rights and over which it is in a position to exercise significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee,
but is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights
to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities
require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

The Group's investments in associates and joint ventures are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at
the Group's share of net assets under the equity method of
accounting, less any impairment losses. Adjustments are
made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that
may exist.

The Group's share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures is
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
consolidated other comprehensive income, respectively. In
addition, when there has been a change recognised directly
in the equity of the associate or joint venture, the Group
recognises its share of any changes, when applicable, in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity. Unrealised
gains and losses resulting from transactions between the
Group and its associates or joint ventures are eliminated to
the extent of the Group's investments in the associates or
joint ventures, except where unrealised losses provide
evidence of an impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill
arising from the acquisition of associates or joint ventures is
included as part of the Group’s investments in associates or
joint ventures.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a
joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not
remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases,
upon loss of significant influence over the associate or joint
control over the joint venture, the Group measures and
recognises any retained investment at its fair value. Any
difference between the carrying amount of the associate or
joint venture upon loss of significant influence or joint control
and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds
from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

When an investment in an associate or a joint venture is
classified as held for sale, it is accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. For each business combination, the
Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling
interests in the acquiree that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of net assets
in the event of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate
share of the acquiree's identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are measured at fair
value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification
and designation in accordance with the contractual terms,
economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded
derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition
date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability is
measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in
profit or loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as
equity is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.
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3.

106

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of
the Group's previously held equity interests in the acquiree
over the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items is
lower than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the
difference is, after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss
as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group's cash-
generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group
are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating
units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is
recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is
not reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with
the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount
of the operation when determining the gain or loss on the
disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is
measured based on the relative value of the operation
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit
retained.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties, financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss at fair value at the
end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on
the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or
transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market
for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal
market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or
liability. The principal or the most advantageous market must
be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a
liability is measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic best
interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available
to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable
inputs.

Uy D
31 December 2019 7220194 12 A 31 H

TESTHBRBE D

ATEHE
¢Elﬁxﬁiﬁiﬁﬁiﬁ%%ﬁ&§%
ENBAFEFABRZERMEE - A FE
AMBL2EERNTEARETNEFRS
o HEESEMKENEZABEMY 2B
e RTEFENBREELEEREETE
TER (EETEMENERT) REREF
MMBHETHEZEERBEZABOR
S ZETEMBARBMNMENAELSTEE
mEAZTS  c BESBENRAFETRA
mis2EE AEENXAETERTANRE
TR IREM B2 EBERERELSE R
1% -

FEREENATEAEZRM S22 EER
BEREEENTEMKERZRIEBKE
ELETHERE&RSREERAENS 5
M2 REMEMELLEMEHIRES ©

AEEXRBESBRTBEE N GEDI -
MEBRAEHFAEATE UEEEMAN
RABRGARBREERLEA TR
AR

FRIAREEERAF
2019 F 3R

107



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BIH5 A P ot

31 December 2019 722019412 A 31 H

3.

108

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within
the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value

measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which

the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement is observable,
either directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which
the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement is

unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as
a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, contract assets, deferred tax assets, financial
assets and investment properties), the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the
higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use
and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for
an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other
assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs.

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2019

FTESTTHRBE»)

DR EFES

AR BREAHERRBEATENEE
REHE HRUEEATEAEMNSEEX
MERESAREDBETRNATERE

N
IN -

F—E — HREEXABRER
MG TS RE CREH
®)

- — fAERWAERHQF
BFfEMEBEANK
EE@AREBDRER

HERBRAE

E=E — HRERMAERHQF
BfEMEBERNR
1K 2 & A BB T 1 Al 8
g2

I~

HARH BRI EFEERANEENEE
mE @ AERERSHRERRLHEEATE
ATEME BEANKEER ABREN TG
N NEEREZRETHERER -

FETREENRE

HEEREDSR - KAETFREEERMER
A(FE  ANEE  BEERBEE  ©F
BERKREMERIN) SR EERH
WEEHE EEMNAINOSEREEXRS
AR B A0 (50 PR (B (B B L X SF{ERN th AR
MERNRSEE  YHRENEEEE
ROFEBEEYBELAHARARE BTN
HMEEXNEEMANBRSRA  ELBER
T AR EEMBREEABMERE AT
Bl &5, °



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged
to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it
arises in those expense categories consistent with the
function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period
as to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have
decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss
of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there has
been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount
higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises, (only
if there are revalued assets in the financial statements) unless
the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the
reversal of the impairment loss is accounted for in accordance
with the relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BIH5 A P ot

31 December 2019 722019412 A 31 H

£
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)

or

10

the party is a person or a close member of that person'’s
family and that person

i)
(i)
(iii)

has control or joint control over the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is
a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Property and equipment and depreciation

Property and equipment, other than construction in progress,
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses. The cost of an item of property and
equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to the statement of profit
or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where
the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a
major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the
asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of property
and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the
Group recognises such parts as individual assets with specific
useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property and equipment to its
residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Buildings 5%

Leasehold improvements  Over the shorter of the lease
20% to 33 /3% terms

20% to 33 /3%

10% to 33 /5%

Furniture and fixtures
Motor vehicles

Where parts of an item of property and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.

An item of property and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or
when no future economic benefits are expected from its use
or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement
recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the year the
asset is derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BIH5 A P ot

31 December 2019 722019412 A 31 H

3.

112

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Property, and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

Construction in progress represents leasehold improvements
under construction, which is stated at cost less any
impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost comprises
the direct costs of construction during the period of
construction. Construction in progress is reclassified to the
appropriate category of property and equipment when
completed and ready for use.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings held
to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation, rather
than for use in the production or supply of goods or services
or for administrative purposes; or for sale in the ordinary
course of business. Such properties are measured initially at
cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value,
which reflects market conditions at the end of the reporting
period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in the statement of profit
or loss in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the statement of profit
or loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.

For a transfer from investment properties to owner-occupied
properties, the deemed cost of a property for subsequent
accounting is its fair value at the date of change in use. If a
property occupied by the Group as an owner-occupied
property becomes an investment property, the Group
accounts for such property in accordance with the policy
stated under “Property and equipment and depreciation” for
owned property and/or accounts for such property in
accordance with the policy stated under “Right-of-use assets”
for property held as a right-of-use asset up to the date of
change in use, and any difference at that date between the
carrying amount and the fair value of the property is
accounted for as a revaluation in accordance with the policy
stated under “Property and equipment and depreciation”
above.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Other intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Other intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the
date of acquisition. The useful lives of other intangible assets
are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets
with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful
economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is
an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The
amortisation period and the amortisation method for an
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at
each financial year end.

Software and trademark

Purchased software and trademark are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised on the straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives of 3 to 10 years.

Acquired property management contracts

Acquired property management contracts are stated at cost
less any impairment losses and are amortised on the sum of
the years digits basis over their estimated useful lives of 5 to
15 years.

Customer Relationships

Customer Relationships are stated at cost less any impairment
losses and are amortised on the straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives of 10 years.

Leases (applicable from 1 January 2019)

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BIH5 A P ot

31 December 2019 722019412 A 31 H

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (applicable from 1 January 2019)
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

114

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the date the
underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets
are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted
for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of
right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease
liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and
lease payments made at or before the commencement
date less any lease incentives received. The cost of a
right-of-use asset also includes an estimate of costs to
dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore
the underlying asset or the site on which it is located.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of the lease terms and the
estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Buildings 2to 10 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group
by the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the
exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated
using the estimated useful life of the asset.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease payments
to be made over the lease term. The lease payments
include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable
lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and
amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the
exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain
to be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties
for termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the
Group exercising the option to terminate. The variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate are recognised as an expense in the period in which
the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (applicable from 1 January 2019)
(Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit
in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and
reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the
carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there
is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change
in lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease
payments resulting from a change in an index or rate) or
a change in assessment of an option to purchase the
underlying asset.

The Group's lease liabilities are included in interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and
equipment (that is those leases that have a lease term
of 12 months or less from the commencement date and
do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the
recognition exemption for leases of low-value assets to
leases of office equipments that are considered to be of
low value.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception

(or when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as

either an operating lease or a finance lease.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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31 December 2019 722019412 A 31 H

3.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (applicable from 1 January 2019)
(Continued)

Group as a lessor (Continued)

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all
the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are
classified as operating leases. When a contract contains lease
and non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted
for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is
included in revenue in the statement of profit or loss due to
its operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease
term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents
are recognised as revenue in the period in which they are
earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee
are accounted for as finance leases.

Leases (applicable before 1 January 2019)

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for
as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets
leased by the Group under operating leases are included in
non-current assets, and rentals receivable under the operating
leases are credited to the statement of profit or loss on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the Group is
the lessee, rentals payable under operating leases net of any
incentives received from the lessor are charged to the
statement of profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the
lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are
initially stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or
loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group's business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the
case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss,
transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a
significant financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient are measured at the
transaction price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance
with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are
not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through
profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

The Group's business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines whether
cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows,
selling the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified
and measured at amortised cost are held within a business
model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified
and measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income are held within a business model with the objective of
both holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling.
Financial assets which are not held within the aforementioned
business models are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subseqguent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement
of profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or
impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried
in the statement of financial position at fair value with net
changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or
loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected to
classify at fair value through other comprehensive income.
Dividends on equity investments classified as financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss are also recognised as other
income in the statement of profit or loss when the right of
payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to
the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably.

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial
liability or non-financial host, is separated from the host and
accounted for as a separate derivative if the economic
characteristics and risks are not closely related to the host; a
separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded
derivative would meet the definition of a derivative; and the
hybrid contract is not measured at fair value through profit or
loss. Embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or
loss. Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in
the terms of the contract that significantly modifies the cash
flows that would otherwise be required or a reclassification of
a financial asset out of the fair value through profit or loss
category.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(Continued)

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing a
financial asset host is not accounted for separately. The
financial asset host together with the embedded derivative is
required to be classified in its entirety as a financial asset at
fair value through profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a
third-party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and
either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of
the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent it has retained
the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the
Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the
extent of the Group's continuing involvement. In that case,
the Group also recognises an associated liability. The
transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on
a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group
has retained.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required to

repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
("ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract
and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at an approximation of the original effective
interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows
from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements
that are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the
next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures
for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit
losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure,
irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the
credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition. When making the assessment, the
Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,
including historical and forward-looking information.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach (Continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in
certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to
be in default when internal or external information indicates
that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full before taking into account any
credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is
written off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovering the contractual cash flows.

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group applies the simplified approach in
calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.
The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on
its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.

For trade receivables that contain a significant financing
component and lease receivables, the Group chooses as its
accounting policy to adopt the simplified approach in
calculating ECLs with policies as described above.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and borrowings or payables as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and,
in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of
directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade and other
payables, other long-term payable and interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include
financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through
profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are
incurred for the purpose of repurchasing in the near term.
This category also includes derivative financial instruments
entered into by the Group that are not designated as hedging
instruments in hedge relationships as defined by HKFRS 9.
Separated embedded derivatives are also classified as held
for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss. The net fair
value gain or loss recognised in the statement of profit or loss
does not include any interest charged on these financial
liabilities.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at
fair value through profit or loss are designated at the initial
date of recognition, and only if the criteria in HKFRS 9 are
satisfied. Gains or losses on liabilities designated at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss, except for the gains or losses arising from the
Group's own credit risk which are presented in other
comprehensive income with no subsequent reclassification to
the statement of profit or loss. The net fair value gain or loss
recognised in the statement of profit or loss does not include
any interest charged on these financial liabilities.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings and other long-term payable are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate
method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial,
in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective
interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are
an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in the
statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms
of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an
exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the
original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the
difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if
there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a
net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Treasury shares

Own equity instruments which are reacquired and held by the
Company or the Group (treasury shares) are recognised
directly in equity at cost. No gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of
the Group's own equity instruments.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Inventories

Inventories are merchandise goods stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Cost is determined on the first-in,
first-out basis and, in the case of work in progress and finished
goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour and an
appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is
based on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to
be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a
short maturity of generally within three months when
acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, including term deposits, which are not restricted
as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to
be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage of
time is included in finance costs in the statement of profit or
loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is
recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at
the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures, when the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse
in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures, deferred tax assets are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at
the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and
only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred
tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on either the same
taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend either
to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in
each future period in which significant amounts of deferred
tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income
on a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, which it
is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or

services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the
goods or services to the customer. The variable consideration
is estimated at contract inception and constrained until it is
highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when
the associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of
the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the Group a significant financial benefit for more
than one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract liability
under the effective interest method. For a contract where the
period between the payment by the customer and the
transfer of the promised goods or services is one year or less,
the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of a
significant financing component, using the practical expedient
in HKFRS 15.

(@) Provision of property management services

Revenue from the provision of property management
services is recognised over the scheduled period on a
straight-line basis because the customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits provided by the
Group.

(b) Sales assistance services

Revenue from the sales assistance services is recognised
when the relevant services are rendered and the
customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

(c)

130

Sales of goods

Revenue from the sales of goods is recognised at the
point in time when control of the asset is transferred to
the customer, generally on delivery of the goods.

Landscaping design and construction services

Revenue from the provision of landscaping design and
construction services is recognised over time, using an
input method to measure progress towards complete
satisfaction of the service, because the Group's
performance creates or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced.
The input method recognises revenue based on the
proportion of the actual costs incurred relative to the
estimated total costs for satisfaction of the construction
services.

Claims to customers are amounts that the Group seeks
to collect from the customers as reimbursement of costs
and margins for scope of works not included in the
original construction contract. Claims are accounted for
as variable consideration and constrained until it is
highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur
when the associated uncertainty with the variable
consideration is subsequently resolved. The Group uses
the expected value method to estimate the amounts of
claims because this method best predicts the amount of
variable consideration to which the Group will be
entitled.

Real estate agency services

Revenue from real estate agency services is recognised
at a point in time when the service is rendered and the
property buyer has executed the sale and purchase
agreement and made the required payments according
to the terms and conditions stated in different agency
contracts, since only by that time the Group has an
enforceable right to payment from the property
developers for the services performed.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over
the lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or a rate are recognised as income in the
accounting period in which they are incurred.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the
expected life of the financial instrument to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders' right
to receive payment has been established, it is probable that
the economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow
to the Group and the amount of the dividend can be
measured reliably.

Contract assets

A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for
goods or services transferred to the customer. If the Group
performs by transferring goods or services to a customer
before the customer pays consideration or before payment is
due, a contract asset is recognised for the earned
consideration that is conditional. Contract assets are subject
to impairment assessment, details of which are included in
the accounting policies for impairment of financial assets.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received
or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer
before the Group transfers the related goods or services.
Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group
performs under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the
related goods or services to the customer).
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Contract costs

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories,
property and equipment and intangible assets, costs incurred
to fulfil a contract with a customer are capitalised as an asset
if all of the following criteria are met:

(@) The costs relate directly to a contract or to an
anticipated contract that the entity can specifically
identify.

(b) The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity
that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy)
performance obligations in the future.

(©)  The costs are expected to be recovered.

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged to
the statement of profit or loss on a systematic basis that is
consistent with the pattern of the revenue to which the asset
related is recognised. Other contract costs are expensed as
incurred.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group's
operations. Employees (including directors) of the Group
receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments,
whereby employees render services as consideration for
equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for
grants after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference to
the fair value at the date at which they are granted. The fair
value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial
model, further details of which are given in note 32 to the
financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the performance
and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative
expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end
of each reporting period until the vesting date reflects the
extent to which the vesting period has expired and the
Group's best estimate of the number of equity instruments
that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the statement
of profit or loss for a period represents the movement in the
cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end
of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken
into account when determining the grant date fair value of
awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being met is
assessed as part of the Group's best estimate of the number
of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market
performance conditions are reflected within the grant date
fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but
without an associated service requirement, are considered to
be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting conditions are
reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to an
immediate expensing of an award unless there are also

service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met, no
expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or
is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the
date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not
yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This
includes any award where non-vesting conditions within the
control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled
award, and is designated as a replacement award on the date
that it is granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated
as if they were a modification of the original award, as
described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per
share.

The cost of cash-settled transactions is measured initially at
fair value at the grant date using the Black-Scholes formula,
taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the
instruments were granted (note 32). The fair value is expensed
over the period until the vesting date with recognition of a
corresponding liability. The cumulative expense recognised
for cash-settled transactions at the end of each reporting
period until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the
vesting period has expired and the Group's best estimate of
the number of awards that will ultimately vest. The liability is
measured at the end of each reporting period up to and
including the settlement date, with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Other employee benefits
Pension scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the "MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for its employees in Hong Kong. Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the employees' basic salaries
and are charged to the statement of profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF
Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately
from those of the Group in an independently administered
fund. The Group's employer contributions vest fully with the
employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central
pension scheme operated by the local municipal government.
These subsidiaries are required to contribute 14% to 20% of
its payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The
contributions are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension

scheme.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they
are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other
costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of
funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed
final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of
association grant the directors the authority to declare interim
dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are recognised
immediately as a liability when they are proposed and
declared.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in RMB, which is the
Company'’s functional currency. Each entity in the Group
determines its own functional currency and items included in
the financial statements of each entity are measured using
that functional currency. Foreign currency transactions
recorded by the entities in the Group are initially recorded
using their respective functional currency rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the
reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in the statement
of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of
a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line
with the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value
of the item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair
value gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive
income or profit or loss is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an
advance consideration, the date of initial transaction is the
date on which the Group initially recognises the non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the
advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction
date for each payment or receipt of the advance
consideration.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

The functional currencies of certain subsidiaries are currencies
other than RMB. As at the end of the reporting period, the
assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into the
RMB at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their statements of profit or loss are
translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange rates
for the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of certain subsidiaries are translated into RMB
at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows.
Frequently recurring cash flows of certain subsidiaries which
arise throughout the year are translated into RMB at the
weighted average exchange rates for the year.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities.
Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could
result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to
the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the
future.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group applied the following judgements that significantly
affect the determination of the amount and timing of revenue
from contracts with customers:

(i)  Identifying performance obligations in multiple
underlying activities of property management services

The Group provides property management services
which comprised of multiple underlying activities to the
customers (i.e. security, maintenance, cleaning,
landscaping, administrative and support services).

While each of these activities are individually capable of
being distinct, the Group determined that they are not
distinct within the context of the contract because the
ultimate objective of the management services is to
perform any activities that are necessary to ensure the
properties are operating as intended. In addition, the
Group determined that the management services
represent a series of services that are substantially the
same and have the same pattern of transfer to the
customers over the term of the contract. Each distinct
service represents a performance obligation that would
be satisfied over time (i.e., over the length of the
contract, not at a point in time) and has the same
measure of progress (e.g., time elapsed). Consequently,
the Group determined that the multiple underlying
activities of property management services to be
accounted for as a single performance obligation.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Judgements (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(i)  Determining the method to estimate variable
consideration and assessing the constraint for property
management services

The Group gives discount to the customers as a strategy
to improve the cash collection of property management
fees, which give rise to variable consideration. The
Group determined that the expected value method is
the appropriate method to use in estimating the
variable consideration for reductions in property
management services, given that there is a wide range
of possible outcomes which are subject to specific cases
and negotiations with customers.

Before including any amount of variable consideration
in the transaction price, the Group considers whether
the amount of variable consideration is constrained. The
Group determined that the estimates of variable
consideration are not constrained based on its historical
experience, current negotiations with customers and
the current economic conditions. In addition, the
uncertainty on the variable consideration will be
resolved within a short time frame.

Property lease classification — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on
its investment property portfolio. The Group has determined,
based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the
arrangements, such as the lease term not constituting a major
part of the economic life of the commercial property and the
present value of the minimum lease payments not amounting
to substantially all the fair value of the commercial property,
that it retains substantially all the significant risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of these properties which are leased
out and accounts for the contracts as operating leases.

Uy D
31 December 2019 7220194 12 A 31 H
BEAETHE R )

F & (4
RERFEHNWS (&)

(i) EEGETERERFEYEEER
AR T %

AEEREFEHTN  (FREED
XEEER S WA KE - #MslE
AERE - NEEREE  BHREEE
SIS ERE/E IS A
REMEEN L ARFEZEA 8
MER  REERIBFEBARER
RAMZTE -

EREMBRENTERERAARSE
BZA > AREEEREAERENTS
BELXEIRH - AEEBRBEESL
R BEFPNERNRARENEHE
M HEE A R ER AR AZRE -
EESN - AT AE B A B RE N A RS By
FAFEIRR o

MEHES R —AREFERHAEA

AEECREREMEEAI AR EM
B - RIBHARE L PHER R G RRHE - 1
MM TBRERMEIEESTNEIERD
AREHERBEREINENBERYEZEAKR
MORABE AEEEEEEREZEFH
eV X P AN mEV T 2 KRR &
B WKBBESAONKEHEAR -

rAnSARIEZE 139



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BIH5 A P ot

31 December 2019 722019412 A 31 H

4.

140

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Judgements (Continued)

Classification between investment properties and owner-
occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an
investment property, and has developed criteria in making
that judgement. Investment property is a property held to
earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore, the
Group considers whether a property generates cash flows
largely independently of the other assets held by the Group.
Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn
rentals or for capital appreciation and another portion that is
held for use in the production or supply of goods or services
or for administrative purposes. If these portions could be sold
separately or leased out separately under a finance lease, the
Group accounts for the portions separately. If the portions
could not be sold separately, the property is an investment
property only if an insignificant portion is held for use in the
production or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes. Judgement is made on an individual
property basis to determine whether ancillary services are so
significant that a property does not qualify as an investment

property.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least
on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in
use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is
allocated. Significant judgements and estimates are involved
in cash generating unit identification, operating profit
forecasts, perpetuity growth rates and discount rates.
Changes in these assumptions can result in materially
different on impairment charges or available headroom. The
carrying amount of goodwill at 31 December 2019 was
RMB248,315,000 (2018: RMB155,456,000). Further details are
given in note 17.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets (including the right-of-
use assets) at the end of each reporting period. Indefinite life
intangible assets are tested for impairment annually and at
other times when such an indicator exists. Other non-financial
assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators
that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An
impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or a
cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which
is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value
in use. The calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is
based on available data from binding sales transactions in an
arm'’s length transaction of similar assets or observable market
prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When
value in use calculations are undertaken, management must
estimate the expected future cash flows from the asset or
cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables
and other receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables and other receivables. The provision rates are
based on days past due for groupings of various customer
segments that have similar loss patterns (i.e., by customer

type).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group's historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to
adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-
looking information. At each reporting date, the historical
observed default rates are updated and changes in the
forward-looking estimates are analysed.
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4.

142

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables
and other receivables (Continued)

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a
significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to
changes in circumstances and forecast economic conditions.
The Group's historical credit loss experience and forecast of
economic conditions may also not be representative of a
customer’s actual default in the future. The information about
the ECLs on the Group's trade receivables, other receivables
and contract assets is disclosed in note 23, note 24 and note
25 to the financial statements, respectively.

Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit
in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing
rate ("IBR") to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of
interest that the Group would have to pay to borrow over a
similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to
obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a
similar economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what
the Group “would have to pay”, which requires estimation
when no observable rates are available (such as for
subsidiaries that do not enter into financing transactions) or
when it needs to be adjusted to reflect the terms and
conditions of the lease (for example, when leases are not in
the subsidiary’s functional currency). The Group estimates the
IBR using observable inputs (such as market interest rates)
when available and is required to make certain entity-specific
estimates (such as the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating).

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant
management estimation is required to determine the amount
of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon
the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together
with future tax planning strategies. The amount of
unrecognised tax losses at 31 December 2019 was
RMB120,622,000 (2018: RMB114,952,000). Further details are
contained in note 22 to the financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Estimation of fair value of investment properties

The valuation of the investment properties involved estimated
and assumption on items such as the selection of comparable
properties and market price.

In the absence of current prices in an active market for similar
properties, the Group considers information from a variety of
sources for estimation of fair value of investment properties,
including:

(@) current prices in an active market for properties of a
different nature, condition or location, adjusted to
reflect those differences;

(b)  recent prices of similar properties on less active markets,
with adjustments to reflect any changes in economic
conditions since the date of the transactions that
occurred at those prices; and

(c) discounted cash flow projections based on reliable
estimates of future cash flows, supported by the terms
of any existing lease and other contracts and (when
possible) by external evidence such as current market
rents for similar properties in the same location and
condition, and using discount rates that reflect current
market assessments of the uncertainty in the amount
and timing of the cash flows.

The carrying amount of investment properties at 31
December 2019 was RMB 183,309,000 (2018: RMB184,384,000).
Further details, including the key assumptions used for fair
value measurements, are set out in note 15 to the financial
statements.
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5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into

business units based on different lines of services rendered in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") as follows:

(a)

144

The Group primarily provides property developers and
property owners with a broad range of property
management services for mainly residential properties,
and commercial and government buildings. Services
provided by the Group include standard property

management services and ancillary services;

The Group provides property management service to
property developers for their sales centres. The services
rendered by the Group include cleaning, security and
maintenance for their model houses and sales centres
and the provision of general assistance to facilitate the
sales process of the properties;

The Group provides property developers and property
owners with a series of indoor and outdoor
environmental cleaning, greening and maintenance.
This business division also provides services to the
property developers and property owners of the
property management business division. Accordingly,
segment result of cleaning and greening division are
evaluated by the Group’s management on services as
subcontracted from the property management business
division;

The Group provides property and real estate customers
and investors with real estate information consulting
services, real estate brokerage and consulting services,
real estate marketing planning, house leasing, real
estate investment consulting services as well as agency
services for obtaining property ownerships; and

Other businesses comprise landscaping design and
construction services, consulting services, engineering
services, catering services and the sale of engineering
spare parts.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resource allocation and performance assessment.
Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable
segment profit, which is a measure of adjusted profit before
tax from continuing operations. The adjusted profit before tax
from continuing operations is measured consistently with the
Group's profit before tax from continuing operations except
that changes in fair value of investment properties, bank
interest income, other interest income from financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss, fair value adjustment of
contingent consideration, share of profits of joint ventures,
share of profits of an associate, net foreign exchange gains,
share-based payment expenses, non-lease-related finance
income/costs as well as head office and corporate expenses
are excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude deferred tax assets, cash and cash
equivalents, financial assets/liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss and other unallocated head office and corporate
assets as these assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings (other than lease liabilities), other long-term
payables, tax payable, deferred tax liabilities and other
unallocated head office and corporate liabilities as these
liabilities are managed on a group basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference
to the selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the
then prevailing market prices.
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5.

146

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Operating segments

The following table provides an analysis of the Group's

REFITER ()

REDED
BREBEUYS 2 ARERERE

o

revenue and results based on types of business: EDHT
Property Sales Cleaning Real estate
management assistance  and greening agency Other
For the year ended 31 December 2019 business business business business businesses Total
nE BER EibE
BZ2019512831 ALEE EREH S BiLEH REEH Rt @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBT R ARBTR ARBT R ARBTR ARBTR
Segment revenue (note 6) AEE (o)
Sales to external customers NG R EE 1,138,745 40,361 31,595 185,913 122,868 1,519,482
Intersegment sales HEEEE 4,133 - 95,927 - 6,275 106,335
1,142,878 40,361 127,522 185,913 129,143 1,625,817
Reconciliation: k-
Eliminations of intersegment sales DEEHEHE (106,335)
Revenue from continuing operations SEEERH G 1,519,482
Segment results PHEE 186,767 8,511 14,312 29,232 13,441 252,263
Reconciliation: k-
Bank interest income BATHISHA 2,358
Other interest income from financial BATER ABEN
assets at fair value through CRAENEM
profit or loss HMEMA 2,148
Changes in fair value of investment BRENENLTE
properties ) 4,052
Fair value adjustment of contingent FAREATE
consideration AE (174)
Net foreign exchange loss EXBETE (3,334)
Corporate expenses ERY (58,024)
Share-based payment expense IR (4,713)
Share of profits of a joint venture ElE—FAZENE 1,438
Share of profits of assaciates [EfERE A R FIE 466
Finance costs BB (21,501)
Profit before tax BRERIRIE 174,979

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Operating segments (Continued)

B HS R 3R Y =T
31 December 2019 7220194 12 A 31 H
5. REsHER B

REDE(#)

mT

Property Sales Cleaning
management assistance  and greening Other
For the year ended 31 December 2018 business business business businesses Total
S BER
HE2018F12A31BIEFE BERER TS &S Hith %7 st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Segment revenue (note 6) AEE (o)
Sales to external customers AN R PE 948,296 41,503 47 33,165 1,023,011
Intersegment sales DEREHEE = = 58,957 4,822 63,779
948,296 41,503 59,004 37,987 1,086,790
Reconciliation: i -
Eliminations of intersegment sales 2 BB B i (63,779)
Revenue from continuing operations B4 & ¥ 2 Wz 1,023,011
Segment results PEEE 165,445 14,646 6,145 9514 195,750
Reconciliation: 8k
Bank interest income BRITFIEBHA 2,943
Other interest income from financial ~ ZAFEiF ABZER
assets at fair value through SREEMEM
profit or loss FBUWA 3,915
Changes in fair value of investment R EMENLFE
properties ) 3216
Net foreign exchange gains B 5 M 3 1,431
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RHE AR 299
Gain on disposal of a joint venture HE—HAE L ERE 1,450
Corporate expenses TEHEY (47,003)
Share-based payment expense RIGNFRAZ (5,660)
Share of profits of joint ventures FEMRE &R 2895
Share of profits of an associate FE(S — B & A RIFE @
Finance costs BB (1,833)
Profit before tax BB TR 157,399
PRIAREEHRAR
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5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. RETHER/(
(Continued)
Operating segments (Continued) &)
Property Sales Cleaning Real estate
management assistance  and greening agency Other
31 December 2019 business business business business businesses Total
s FER B E
2019%12A318 EEER B BLER RE£% Hit¥% o
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETR
Segment assets SHEE 1,599,992 37,921 63,678 250,665 85,110 2,037,366
Reconciliation: HEE -
Elimination of intersegment receivables ¥4 7 & fE MR (838,616)
Corporate and other unallocated assets ~ (¥R EMANEHEE 695,876
Total assets BEER 1,894,626
Segment liabilities AHEE 694,890 21,010 22,293 134,144 87,255 959,592
Reconciliation: % -
Elimination of intersegment payables HADHERTE (838,616)
Corporate and other unallocated liabilities £k E AR EE 1,035,725
Total liabilities AfEesE 1,156,701
Other segment information Hip2 HER
Share of profits and losses of: f‘%ﬁi MERERE :
Joint ventures RELE 1,438 - - - - 1,438
Associates w%’&? 466 - - - - 466
Net impairment losses recognised/ RE=HAED/ ()
(reversal) in profit or loss BEBETE 20,798 4,630 (218) 2,708 2,126 30,044
Depreciation and amortisation TEREE
Unallocated N 1,015
Segment 2E 30,280 695 32 12,528 186 43,721
Investments in associates REENERE 4,578 - - - - 4,578
Investment in a joint venture R-FEELERE 3,166 - - - - 3,166
Capital expenditure* ARREX
Unallocated AN 803
Segment D 63,928 3913 463 28,673 401 97,378
* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property and * BAREY BERBSYE N RE LBy -

equipment, investment properties, intangible assets and

prepayments for acquisition of properties.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

5. REFHER (&)

(Continued)
Operating segments (Continued) 1L D IR (48)
Property Sales Cleaning
management assistance and greening Other
31 December 2018 business business business businesses Total
VjES BER
0185124318 ERER [EES RLER Eth %% &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBFTL ARETT ARBFTL AREFTL
Segment assets PHEE 1,350,213 29,567 45,809 26,032 1,451,621
Reconciliation: i
Elimination of intersegment receivables %847 S Y 5B (648,337)
Corporate and other unallocated assets ~ (¥R EMA SR EE 537,935
Total assets BEEE 1,341,219
Segment liabilities PHEE 512,769 19,079 31,403 71,377 634,628
Reconciliation: i
Elimination of intersegment payables WD BN B (648,337)
Corporate and other unallocated liabilities %K EtAAE ARG 748,978
Total liabilities afEeE 735,269
Other segment information HitHHER
Share of profits and losses of: FEBFIE R -
Joint ventures BEE 2,895 = = = 2,895
Associates NG| @ = = = @
Net impairment losses recognised/ REE AR,/ (E1E)
(reversal) in profit or loss REBETE (1,811) 139 = = (1,672)
Depreciation and amortisation e R
Unallocated AP 405
Segment N 24,078 544 - 237 24,859
Investments in associates REZNB)IRE 3,175 = = = 3,175
Investment in a joint venture R—RAEERE 4412 = = = 4412
Capital expenditure* EARX*
Unallocated RO 2,145
Segment A 38914 948 28 70 39,960
i Capital expenditure consists of additions to property and e EARRYBENEMERRE  REYE -

B EERBEMENTANR -

equipment, investment properties, intangible assets and
prepayments for acquisition of properties.
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5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION <5

(Continued)

Operating segments (Continued)

The Group is organised into business units based on the

geographical zones of services rendered in the PRC. The

following table provides an analysis of the Group's revenue

and results based on geographical zones as follows:

REFITER ()

IR AR ()

A EIER B AL IRAS KoM I8 B 1 Bl 5 &
TEEEfT o T2 IR T 510 HR [ 42 {2t 7 42 [ U
HREEHDN

For the year ended Southern  Eastern and Northern

31 December 2019 region central region region Total

HBZ2019%12B31BLEE EEHE ERRETHE ELE At

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARET R ARETR ARETR ARETR
(Note a) (Note b) (Note c)
GETY (FtzEb) (BfaEc)

Segment revenue il 568,382 913,317 37,783 1,519,482

Segment results DEEE 119,469 122,677 10,117 252,263

For the year ended Southern Eastern and Northern

31 December 2018 region  central region region Total

BE2018F12A3NBLEFE ERHR ERRETHE Eitia Bt

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETTT ARETT ARETT

(Note a) (Note b) (Note )

(FizEa) (FifzEb) (FifzEc)

Segment revenue DS 252,648 706,286 64,077 1,023,011

Segment results RS 63,157 116,679 15,914 195,750

Notes: MizE -

(@)  Southern Region included the cities of Guangzhou, Nanning, (@) E@MESFEEMN M= =3 -
Sanya, Foshan, Zhongshan, Jiangmen, Qingyuan, Zhaoging, =TT S I =1 - - -3 =77 N v — I
Guilin, Wenchang, Huizhou, Wuzhou, Cenxi and Guigang. Mo BEREE o

(b)  Eastern and Central Region included the cities of Changde, b) ERRERMESIESE MM &M
Hangzhou, Suzhou, Chongqing, Ningbo, Jiaxing, Nantong, EF BER ZE mE-AE - -EmN-/E
Shaoxing, Quzhou, Nanchang, Shanghai, Wuxi, Xuancheng, g b8 | T 8T AN f&E
Zhenjiang, Huzhou, Nanjing, Hengyang, Fuyang, Chuzhou, Rk B RN BEE RN E
Yixing, Wenzhou, Huai'an, Taizhou, Taixing, Taizhou, Yueyang, ZaM ZFHE BN BB EREE
Huanggang and Changsha. b o

(0 Northern Region included the cities of Baotou, Eerduosi, © EtWEEFEEME A AE .4
Dalian, Beijing, Tianjin, Bazhou, Tangshan, Qingdao, Baoding, W RE B %Lu EE CBRE - HE
Heze and Zhangjiakou. BEFRO -

150

ANNUAL REPORT 2019

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R 75 Rk B

31 December 2019 7220194 12 A 31 H

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 6. Wz - Hlw A R ks=

An analysis of revenue is as follows: WESH DT
2019 2018
2019 % 20184F
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TRT ARBTE

Revenue from contracts with customers RERFEE O
Rendering of services TR RS 1,496,455 1,005,742
Sales of goods HEEM 23,027 17,269
1,519,482 1,023,011
Revenue from contracts with customers REBZESHHURE
(i) Disaggregated revenue information () EBoirwzEsEs
For the year ended 31 December 2019 HE2019F 12831 HILEE
Property Sales Cleaning Real estate
management assistance  and greening agency Other
Segments business business business business businesses Total
k| nx BAR EitE
EBEH eSS BIEB REXH Rftis @zt

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  AREBTR  ARETRT  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR

Type of goods or services  ERFARBER
Rendering of services TR AR 1,138,745 40,361 31,595 185,913 99,841 1,496,455
Sales of goods HEER - - - - 23,027 23,027

Total revenue from contracts  KERFA MBI
with customers 1,138,745 40,361 31,595 185,913 122,868 1,519,482

Geographical markets BEMS

Mainland China HEAH 1,138,745 40,361 31,595 185,913 122,868 1,519,482
Timing of revenue WREAREY

recognition
Revenue recognised RE-BRERERNE

over time 1,138,745 40,361 31,595 - 99,841 1,310,542
Revenue recognisedata  ME—RF AR

point of time - - - 185,913 23,027 208,940

Total revenue from contracts  RERFA M
with customers 1,138,745 40,361 31,595 185,913 122,868 1,519,482
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6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

() Disaggregated revenue information (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2018

6.

W - HbWA R WS @)

REEFEHNHKE (&)
(i) EBaRFBmERE)
BZ2018F12HA31BLEEE

Property Sales Cleaning Real estate
management assistance  and greening agency Other
Segments business business business business businesses Total
7E nE FER FiE
ERER RS Bilé 1) REEH A% ast
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ANRBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ANEBTT ANRBTT
Type of goods or services  ERARHER
Rendering of services RS 948,296 41503 47 = 15,8% 1,005,742
Sales of goods HEER - - - - 17,269 17,269
Total revenue from contracts  REBF A M8
with customers 948,296 41,503 47 - 33,165 1,023,011
Geographical markets WEMS
Mainland China AE R 948,296 41,503 47 - 33,165 1,023,011
Timing of revenue R
recognition
Revenue recognised RE-BRERERNE
over time 948,296 41,503 47 - 15,896 1,005,742
Revenuerecognisedata  ME—SHEHEINE
point of time = = = = 17,269 17,269
Total revenue from contracts RERF A HElE
with customers 948,296 41,503 47 - 33,165 1,023,011
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

() Disaggregated revenue information (Continued)

Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from
contracts with customers with the amounts disclosed in

the segment information:

For the year ended 31 December 2019

6. Wi - Hb AR WS (&)

31 December 2019 7220194 12 A 31 H

REFFAHHIWE &)

@i B

DR EER (F)

UTEIREFEFA MW ED BE
LT SRR S AR

HZ2019F12A31HLLEE

Property Sales Cleaning Real estate
management assistance  and greening agency Other
Segments business business business business businesses Total
28 nE RER EitE
ERER EER BILER REEH iR @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETFR AR¥EFR ARETR ARETR ARETFR ARETFR
Revenue from contracts ~ REEFAXHNE
with customers
External customers HIERFE 1,138,745 40,361 31,595 185,913 122,868 1,519,482
Intersegment sales SHEHE 4,133 - 95,927 - 6,275 106,335
Intersegment adjustments > SRR R4
and eliminations (4,133) - (95,927) - (6,275) (106,335)
Total revenue from contracts  RERFAHEW
with customers 1,138,745 40,361 31,595 185,913 122,868 1,519,482
For the year ended 31 December 2018 BE2018F12A31HLFE
Property Sales Cleaning Real estate
management assistance and greening agency Other
Segments business business business business businesses Total
28 ES BER BHE
EEEK hEER S EB REEB LS b
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARET T ARETT ARETT ARETT
Revenue from contracts ~ REEFANHNE
with customers
External customers MEPEPR 948,296 41,503 47 = 33,165 1,023,011
Intersegment sales HERHE = = 58,957 = 482 63,779
Intersegment adjustments A HfEAE R H
and eliminations = = (58,957) = (4.822) 63,779)
Total revenue from contracts  RAZRFAME
with customers 948,296 41,503 47 - 33,165 1,023,011
FREREEERA A

2019 F 3k
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6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 6. Wi HtW AR W E &)

(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued) REBFESHNWNE &)

(i) Disaggregated revenue information (Continued) (i) CoiFkzEERE)
The following table shows the amounts of revenue TRETNAREHBEEZRHK RS
recognised in the current reporting period that were B Bt ARSHYNENARG

included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of
the reporting period:

2019
2019 %
RMB’000
ARBT T
Revenue recognised that was included in contract BEFARSHINENEERN
liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period: iR ¢
Property management services (note 29) MEERER (H3E29) 92,010
2018
20184
RMB’000
AREFT
Revenue recognised that was included in contract BERTARSHINENEERN
liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period: B R -
Property management services L EBLES S 82,265
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
(i) Performance obligations

Information about the Group’s performance obligations
is summarised below:

Provision of property management service

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered and payment is generally due
within 90 days from the date of billing.

Sales assistance services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered and payment is generally due
within 90 days from the date of billing.

Sales of goods

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of
the goods and payment is generally due within 30 to 90
days from customer acceptance of delivered goods.

Landscaping design and construction services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered and payment is generally due
within 90 days from the date of billing. A certain
percentage of payment is retained by customers until
the end of the retention period as the Group's
entitlement to the final payment is conditional on the
satisfaction of the service quality by the customers over
a certain period as stipulated in the contracts.

Real estate agency services

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of
the services. The property buyer has executed the sale
and purchase agreement and made the required
payments according to the terms and conditions stated
in different agency contracts and payment is generally
due within 60 days from the date of billing.

BB

31 December 2019 7220194 12 A 31 H

6. Wz - EMR AR W= #)

REEFEHNNWE &)

(ii)

BHEE
BRAKREROEENERRLNT

RHYEEERE

BHEER IR AR TS AL - SRR —
AR 8% AR B8 H BAERT 90 B I -

1 AR

BHEERREIRIGRERK - A~
MR AR E HERE ST 90 B A EH

EmiHE

BHBEEREmRX TR ER - FRIE—
R EF KB R HE miEF 30290
RAZIE -

Bk =B R aT RERRE

BHE (EREZ R RN R RIS BT -
BENFEERHARZAGE0R
NeBETAEDUMNNRATFRE
EERBEHERBL  DRAKEZA
FEPRANRENE THRAEH
IR E B &7 7 B W RIR N3RPT
B o

FEithEREIR

BHRERRXMNREERET WEE
XREVEEHRLRETAKESLD
Fo e R R R SIAREMNR - B
FGEERH AT B REFTO0BRRA -
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6. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 6. Wz - HAUWA K W @)
(Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued) REEBEFSHMIKREE &)
(i) Performance obligations (Continued) (i) BHEFEGE)
Real estate agency services (Continued) B B IR (%)
The transaction prices allocated to the remaining R2019412 831 B SRELR TEL
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially EEGRBAIRSBDEET) T DE
unsatisfied) as at 31 December 2019 are as follows: %glllﬂ? ) - a
2019
2019 %
RMB’'000
ARBTR
Within one year —F R 123,057
More than one year —FPA -
123,057
All the remaining performance obligations are expected FIEsA TBAEETEHN —F AR -
to be recognised within one year. The amounts EXHBNSBEETEEZRGA A
disclosed above do not include variable consideration BB o
which is constrained.
2019 2018
20195 20184
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARMET T ARETTT

Other income Haplr A
Bank interest income RITHBUA 2,358 2,943
Other interest income from financial assets E A EF ABRANEEE
at fair value through profit or loss P15 E 4t RIS A 2,148 3,915
Government grants AT #R Bh 16,290 10,572
Rental income AeWA 7,169 4,652
Others Hith 62 2,331
28,027 24,413
Gains Wz
Fair value gains on investment properties & &Y% A FEK 4,052 3,216
Gain on disposal of items of property HEYENKEEER
and equipment P& 1,765 -
Net foreign exchange gain BE 3 W s R - 1,431
Gain on disposal of a joint venture HE KA ENLE - 1,450
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary (note 36)  H&E—RHBE R FIH s (H7E36) - 299
5,817 6,396
33,844 30,809
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PROFIT BEFORE TAX

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB

31 December 2019 7220194 12 A 31 H

7. BRBAIRE

The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after charging/ REENBRBAIAEENG, (Gt A) 55\
(crediting): g

2019 2018
2019 F 2018 4F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B E AR¥T T ARBET T
Cost of services provided B ARAEA A 1,099,991 728,781
Cost of goods sold BEEERKAR 16,050 12,125

Employee benefit expense (excluding
directors’ and chief executive's

BEBMAX (TBHEE=S
K@ T A B H B

remuneration (note 9)): (MI3E9)) -
Salaries and other benefits 7 N L Ath 43 F) 503,652 353,227
Retirement benefit scheme contributions  3RREF 5T B 15,908 20,333
Share-based payment expenses KA BRI
of the Company X 4,713 5,592
524,273 379,152
Depreciation of items of property and Y N RBTE B
equipment e 14 16,553 11,468
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FTREEERE 16 12,026 =
Amortisation of other intangible assets Hh R A 21 16,157 13,796
Impairment of financial assets, net EREEREFHE
Net impairment losses recognised/ B 5 e W38 I FE I
(reversal) of trade and bills ZERREEEER
receivables (B[E) 5% 23 13,369 (4,404)
Net impairment losses recognised of H b fE W R IE R A
other receivables BEEEFE 24 11,093 2,732
Impairment of contract assets ABHEBERE 25 1,845 -
Impairment of items of property and L EYS GRS
equipment RIE 14 456 =
Impairment of goodwill EESERE 17 3,281 =
Fair value gains on investment properties & & ¥ A FEK 15 (4,052) (3,216)
Gross rental income HeW AL 6 (7,169) (4,652)
Net foreign exchange losses/(gains) B EE, (W) F 5 3,334 (1,431)
Lease payments not included in the Rt AHEBEFTEHN
measurement of lease liabilities MHEERT 16 577 =
Fair value adjustment of contingent FAREBATE
consideration HE 174 -
Bank interest income RITA S WA (2,358) (2,943)
(Gain)/loss on disposal of items of HEMENZHEEE D
property and equipment (Yezx), E18 (1,765) 60
Auditor’s remuneration ZE BN E 4,914 4,678
Other interest income from financial BATEFABSNERMEE
assets at fair value through profit or loss R E At F B 6 (2,148) (3,915)
Gain on disposal of a joint venture HE—RELE 2 M - (1,450)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RMMB AR Z W - (299)
Government grants* BT RE* 6 (16,290) (10,572)
* Government grants include various subsidies received by the & B aEA QRN E A R W E HE K
Company's subsidiaries from relevant government bodies. FHERNEE) - MEFBEZSE/mMNRE
There are no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies related to A e B R B -

these grants.
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8. FINANCE COSTS 8. HMIEA
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: SRR AR DT T
2019 2018
2019 % 2018
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®T R AREFTT
Interest on bank borrowings RITERFE 7,248 4,897
Interest expenses/(reversal of interest) imputed FLIE(E MHEE
on consideration payable RS/ (FEEE) 10,203 (3,064)
Interest on lease liabilities HEAERNE 4,050 =
21,501 1,833
9. DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 9. EERBRSTHAEHMH
REMUNERATION
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, RIFB RS EmARB (T EmRA]) - &
disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of R BEBIZE 383(1)(@) ~ (b) * (o) R (IR K
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), section ARAI(KBESNEZER) ROIE2HHEN
383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies REEEELRRSTHRASHMUOT -
Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as
follows:
2019 2018
2019 4% 2018 &
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARETT
Fees we 7,868 7,856
Other emoluments: Hitnf & :
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EUREYMFE 1,370 8,909
Equity-settled share option expense EniEEBRERS - 68
Pension scheme contributions BRRESE BN 69 88
1,439 9,065
9,307 16,921
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
REMUNERATION (Continued)

On 20 April 2015 and 10 July 2015, certain directors were
granted share options, in respect of their services to the
Group, under the share option scheme of the Company.
Further details of which are set out in note 32 to the financial
statements. The fair value of such options, which has been
recognised in profit or loss over the vesting period, was
determined as at the date of grant and the amount included
in the financial statements for the current year is included in
the above directors’ and chief executive's remuneration
disclosures.

(a) Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors
during the year were as follows:

9.

Uy D
31 December 2019 7220194 12 A 31 H
EERESTHRAEHM @

201594 A208 &201547 A10H © &
TESRHEBEAKERE - BIBEAA AN
AR SERBRE - £ — T BHRY
HHREME32 - ZEBRENAE(EHRE
BHAREBE=ER)NFLBAHEE - Hit A
AEEMBERENESEMALNEE RS
TTERABHBIEER -

(a) BMYFHITES
FRENBIFNTESQRSMT :

2019 2018

2019 F 2018 £F

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTRT ARETT

Mr. Zhang Weilun SRAE R ST A 159 152
Mr. Chan Wai Cheung Admiral PRIZE LA 159 152
Mr. Chan Ka Leung Kevin BRRRFEE 159 152
Mr. Huang An Xin BRI AE 159 152
636 608

There were no other emoluments payable to the
independent non-executive directors during the year
(2018: Nil).

FAMELMEMNBLIFATESH
Bi& (2018 4F : &) -

FRIAREEERAT
2019 F 3R
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 9. EERRSITHRAEHM @
REMUNERATION (Continued)
(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors (b) BITES kHITESERES
and chief executive THAE
Salaries, Equity-settled Pension
allowances and  share option scheme Total
Fees benefits in kind expense  contributions  remuneration
e 2MR BREE  BAEHE
ik ENRE  BRERX 5 Hmas

RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR  AR®TR  ARBTR  ARBTR  ARETR

2019 2019 F
Executive directors: HITES
Ms. Chen Zhuo BeEit 1,908 456 - 23 2,387
Mr. Liang Bing REKAE 2,172 456 - 23 2,651
Mr. Long Weimin BEAREE 2177 458 - 23 2,658
6,257 1,370 - 69 7,696
Non-executive directors: FRITEE
Mr. Wei Zhe gt 106 - - - 106
Ms. Wu Qimin REGETt 106 - - - 106
Mr. Zheng Dong* BRI 63 - - - 63
275 - - - 275
Chief executive: RETHAR :
Mr. Liu Jian AEEE 700 - - - 700
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
REMUNERATION (Continued)

(b) Executive directors, non-executive directors (b)

9. BEERBEITHAEETFM &)

HITES  FUTESRES

and chief executive (Continued) THRAE (#)
Salaries,  Equity-settled Pension
allowancesand  share option scheme Total
Fees  benefits in kind expense  contributions  remuneration
e 2R EniE BHRE5tE
ik EnflE  BREREX 358 Fl@E
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AREFT ARETT ARETT ARETFT
2018 2018 %
Executive directors: RTES:
Ms. Chen Zhuo BeEgt 1,355 1,848 5 23 3231
Mr. Liang Bing REESE 1,355 1,848 5 23 3,231
Mr. Long Weimin ERERE 1,355 1,850 5 21 3,231
4,065 5,546 15 67 9,693
Non-executive directors: FRITEE
Mr. Wei Zhe FEEE 102 - 48 - 150
Ms. Wu Qimin Rt 102 = = = 102
Mr. Zheng Dong* BRI 102 = = = 102
306 - 48 - 354
Chief executive: BERTHRAE :
Mr. Liu Jian oyt 2,877 3363 5 21 6,266
* On 5 July 2019, Mr. Zheng Dong resigned as non- * M201947 A5H « BRELEBFE

executive director of the Company.

ARBIFRITESR o

FRIAREEERAT
2019 F 3k
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10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 10. EEBESFES
The five highest paid employees during the year included FARARRF EERE=RESTNERSTT
three directors and the chief executive (2018: three directors BAEB(RI8FE: ZHEERESTHA
and the chief executive), details of whose remuneration are 8) HFBFBEN EXMES - AFEEH
set out in note 9 above. Details of the remuneration for the #h— 5 (2018F : —B)BEIEARBEEX
year of the remaining one (2018: one) highest paid employee FEFITHRA BN Z=HEBNH BN
who is neither a director nor chief executive of the Company T :

are as follows:

2019 2018
2019 F 2018 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TRE ARBTET

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e B REYHE 4,864 1,320
Pension scheme contributions RIREFTEIH R 16 15

4,880 1,335
The remuneration of the non-director and non-chief executive FEERIIEZSITHRABE BHFMN FLATE
highest paid employee whose remuneration fell within the B &= EHES O

following bands:

Number of employees

EEAH
2019 2018
2019 F 2018 4F
RMB1,000,001 to RMBS5,000,000 AR 1,000,001 TTE A R ¥ 5,000,000 7T 1 1
RMBS5,000,001 to RMB10,000,000 AR 5,000,001 7TTE A R 10,000,000 7T - -
1 1
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11. INCOME TAX 1. FrEH
Provision for PRC corporate income tax (the “CIT") has been HE209F12A83MBILEFEE - HEPER
provided at the applicable income tax rate of 25% for the year B (TEEMEH ) BE M AEERH
ended 31 December 2019 (2018: 25%) on the assessable A Y B B A B B9 FE RR F A 1% 25% (2018
profits of the Group's subsidiaries in Mainland China, except F:25%) MERMEHERGTR  ZARK
for those subsidiaries which enjoyed lower tax rate for benefit. HMEREENHBRARIRIN o
No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made in the BARMEFEANEEMERERBAERS
financial statements as no assessable profit was derived from FE  MARYERRFREBFNEFH(ELD
Hong Kong during both years. Bt o
2019 2018
2019 20185
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARET T
Current — Mainland China: BVER — AR A,
Charge for the year FAL 61,654 53,980
Deferred tax (note 22) RIEFIE (P 22) (20,595) (3,531)
Total tax charge for the year FRBRIEZ T 41,059 50,449
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11. INCOME TAX (Continued) 11. FREH (@)
A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before PR EE R R+ 5 55 A AR B B A B B9 B 1B
tax using the statutory rate to the tax expense at the effective Y B ER MR ENRIBHR S 2 iR
rate is as follows: T
2019 2018
2019 2018 4
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARET T
Profit before tax BR3¢ AT A1 174,979 157,399
Tax at the applicable tax rate RERM R ENHRIA 43,745 39,350
Profits attributable to joint ventures BETEREE AT
and associates FEAE A (476) (849)
Expenses not deductible for tax IE kR 6,568 6,139
Income not subject to tax BIEFRIUA - (928)
Temporary differences recognised B AT R ER
from previous periods gt ER (16,127) =
Tax losses not recognised RNERIAEE 7,056 6,943
Tax losses utilised from previous periods )R AT HARI R B IB B 18 (1,078) (1,503)
Withholding tax on distributable profits of N ES B R B A Bl A] 43 R
the Group’s PRC subsidiaries FER A 1,371 1,297
Tax charge for the year FARBIAX L 41,059 50,449
The share of tax expense attributable to joint ventures and SREPENBESNTEESEHRERIAA
associates amounting to RMB635,000 (2018: RMB849,000), are E#635,0007T(20184F : AR#849,0007T)
included in “Profits and losses of joint ventures” and “Profits Bt A& CENFENEE| X [BEAQ
and losses of associates” in profit or loss. AIMAEREBE] AT o
Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% RIER RN EMESRE PR BRI
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign SNERE R E AN E E TR BEE
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established W 10% TEMF - Z A E B 200861 A1 H 8
in Mainland China. The requirement is effective from 1 AR WEAR2007F12 831 HABHNEA
January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December A o 0 SR A B () 3t ER OB 4R B 2 BT AE Bl SA RE
2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a ] ARG ERLTH - B AR
tax treaty between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the BB o REBER2019FEHRBERTES%
foreign investors. The Group has applied an applicable rate (20184F : 5%) o 7N & B 1% 78 Bt B 2008 £F 1
of 5% in 2019 (2018: 5%). The Group will be liable for A1 HEANAERNBZENT BE R A
withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those B BB 2 B 3 R O P B B AR TR O ES -

subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect of
earnings generated from 1 January 2008.
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12.

13.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DIVIDENDS

During 2019, a dividend of HK2.5 cents per share in respect of
the year ended 31 December 2018 was declared by the
directors of the Company and approved in the Company'’s
annual general meeting on 29 May 2019. Dividends
amounting to RMB18,209,000 was paid on 14 June 2019 (2018:
RMB33,984,000).

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount is
based on the profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of
the parent for the year, and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares of 817,354,219 shares (2018: 810,570,384
shares) in issue during the year.

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount is

12.

13.

Uy D
31 December 2019 7220194 12 A 31 H

iR =

R2019F A » KRR EZFE TR 2019
F5A29BAREMRFBEFANE EHOUEE
E2018F 12 A3 BIEFEMERE AEAR2.5
Bl e R2019F 6 A14BERRESEEAA
R 18,209,000 7T (2018 £ : A ¥ 33,984,000
JT) °

g%ﬁ%?ﬁ%é%ﬁkﬂﬁﬁ%ﬂﬁ
BEF

EREABNCBIEAFER AR L BERS
HEABERE - ARFERND BT @A IE
14 $0817,354,219 % (2018 £F : 810,570,384 %)

) g
== o
Al

AFEEREARNSEIIER TIIRE

based on:
2019 2018
20194 2018 4F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETFT
Earnings 27
Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders  FFE&EREANZFIFTHASTA T
of the parent, used in the basic TimEw A ARG
earnings per share calculation 108,568 96,088
Shares e
Weighted average number of ordinary shares  5TE SRR EARRFIFT AR F A
in issue during the year used in the basic BT EBRINEF
earnings per share calculation 817,354,219 810,570,384

For the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, the
computation of diluted earnings per share did not include the
exercise of the share options of the Company since the
exercise price of the share options was higher than the
average market price of the Company’s shares during the
years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.

HZE2019F 1201812 31 HIEFE » &
B EREERA W EST A QR B EE
111E - TR ERENTTEES R AR R R
M E2019F K 2018F 12 A3 HILEE
NE TS ER °

FRIAREEERAT
2019 F 3R

165



By

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R %5 2k B

31 December 2019 7220194 12 A 31 H

166

14. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 14. MERRE
Leasehold Furniture Motor
Buildings  improvements and fixtures vehicles Total
BF HENELEE KERBERRE AE &t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥TR AR¥TR ARBTR AR¥TR AR¥TR
31 December 2019 20195 12A318
Cost B
At 1 January 2019 R2019F1 A1H 21,657 10,113 30,800 17,370 79,940
Additions NE 7,381 7,044 5,351 3,726 23,502
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 35) WEEMIE A 7 (FTFE35) 8,339 2,930 1,995 295 13,559
Disposals rk (8,009) (247) (1,588) (500) (10,344)
At 31 December 2019 R2019%12 8318 29,368 19,840 36,558 20,891 106,657
Accumulated depreciation RHE
At 1 January 2019 R2019F1 5 1H (4,020) (5,989) (21,218) (7,180) (38,407)
Depreciation provided for the year FRFTEHEITE (1,810) (5,367) (5,413) (3,963) (16,553)
Disposals HeE 2,356 242 931 458 3,987
At 31 December 2019 R2019%12 8318 (3,474) (11,114) (25,700) (10,685) (50,973)
Impairment A
At 1 January 2019 201961818 - - - - -
Additions NE - - (456) - (456)
At 31 December 2019 R2019F 12 A31H - - (456) - (456)
Net carrying amount REFE
At 1 January 2019, net of R2019%F1 518 -
accumulated depreciation Hk 2t E 17,637 4,124 9,582 10,190 41,533
At 31 December 2019, net of R2019F12A318 -
accumulated depreciation MR R E 25,894 8,726 10,402 10,206 55,228
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14. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

R 75 Rk B

31 December 2019 7220194 12 A 31 H

14. MERRE®)

Leasehold Fumniture Motor  Construction
Buildings  improvements and fixtures vehicles in progress Total
BF HENEEE KERETRE e ERIRE At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFTT AREFTT AREFTT AREFTT AREFTT AREFTT
31 December 2018 2018512 A 31 R
Cost KA
At 1 January 2018 R2018E1R18 20,327 5,960 26,746 10,449 936 64,418
Additions NE 1,330 6,173 444 8,135 - 20,079
Acquisition of subsidiaries WENED A = 670 639 92 = 1,407
Disposals HE = (21) (498) (1312) - (1,831)
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 36) ME-RMBRR (HE36) - (2,669) (528) - (936) (4133)
At 31 December 2018 201812 8318 21,657 10,113 30,800 17,370 - 79,940
Accumulated depreciation ZitiE
At 1 January 2018 R2018F1 818 (3,139 (3,387) (17,236) (5,369 - (29131)
Depreciation provided for the year ERNFEHETE (881) (3,164) (4,592) (2,831) = (11,468)
Disposals HeE = 21 474 1,020 = 1,515
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 36) HE-FHBAR (it 36) = 541 136 = = 677
At 31 December 2018 R2018E 128318 (4,020) (5.989) (21,218) (7,180) - (38,407)
Net carrying amount REEEE
At 1 January 2018, net of R018E1A18
accumulated depreciation MR 25HE 17,188 2573 9,510 5,080 936 35,287
At 31 December 2018, net of R2018F 128318
accumulated depreciation Nk 2:e 17,637 4,124 9,582 10,190 = 41533
FREREEERA A
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31 December 2019 722019412 A 31 H

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 15. REWHE
2019 2018
2019 5% 2018 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TRT ARBTT

Carrying amount at 1 January R A1 BEREREE 184,384 163,592
Additions NE 570 13,386
Additions from acquisition of a subsidiary AU EE—RMBARMAE

(note 35) (Pt 5£ 35) - 4,190
Transfer to owner-occupied property R EaRYE (1,842) =
Sold to third party HETFE=H (3,855) =
Net gain from fair value adjustments NP EFBR MR 4,052 3,216
Carrying amount at 31 December Mm12 A31 BREREE 183,309 184,384
Certain investment properties are leased to third parties TN REREAEHETFE=
under operating leases, the details of which are included in J o EEEEE NN 16 o
note 16.
The Group's investment properties are all commercial AEFREYMEANRR RN EREEY
properties in Mainland China. The directors of the Company ¥ . ANTFIBECRELKSYENND BY
have determined that all the investment properties are NEBE T AR EYEAEEYE - 85
commercial properties, based on the nature, characteristics WA IR N EELME L2019 12 831 B HY
and risks of each property. Investment properties are stated NEBE TR EB T B L ERGEMTHE
at fair value, which has been determined with reference to the BT 25 R ZMAR AT AT £ BT
valuations performed by Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate HIEEET - ALEEBEENGEB TS
Appraisal and Advisory Limited, an independent firm of HMEREENEREAERESHNEREA
professionally qualified valuers, using the market approach, TEBEENTESHE AEETEEBDR
as at 31 December 2019. The fair value represents the amount BT ER T R R (L E TR T E R R RS
of market value at which the assets could be exchanged EEER o

between a knowledgeable, willing buyer and a
knowledgeable, willing seller in an arm’s length transaction at
the date of valuation. The Group’s management had
discussions with the valuer on the valuation assumptions and
valuation results on a regular basis when the valuation is
performed.

1 68 ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Each year, the Group’s property manager and the chief
financial controller decide, after approval from the audit
committee, to appoint which external valuer to be responsible
for the external valuations of the Group's properties.
Selection criteria include market knowledge, reputation,
independence and whether professional standards are
maintained. The Group's property manager and the chief
financial controller have discussions with the valuer on the
chief valuation assumptions and valuation results twice a year
when the valuation is performed for interim and annual
financial reporting.

There were no buildings (2018: RMB450,000) included in the
completed investment properties of which the property
certificates have not been obtained as at 31 December 2019.

The Group's investment properties with a carrying value of
RMB146,431,000 (2018: RMB93,122,000) were pledged to
secure general banking facilities granted to the Group as at
31 December 2019 (note 30).

Fair value hierarchy

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group's investment properties:

15.

Uy D
31 December 2019 7220194 12 A 31 H

BEWE®)

BF  AEEMEEE RS EEZ
ZEEHAETRERBINFBEMEELRE
BYEMINFEE - RERERRETISH
B BEBUMRETRIFERKE - K
SEMEEE R BRERT R RFRYE
BEETHEER S EFRRRMGERMR
T2AERKRRGESR

48 Bl &
wimm =5

PR2019F12 A31 H I EZ F (20184 : A
R# 450,000 70) 5T A M ARG EEE B %
TREWE -

REBEREEAR146,431,00070(20184F :
AR #93,122,0007T) Wi EMEE HE T -
BREBR 2019412 A 31 BERS — KRR
TRV E R LR (BFEE30) ©

NFEEBR

TEREALXEEREMEN R FEFER
A&

Fair value measurement as at 31 December 2019 using

ERNTHER 201912831 BN A FEFE
Quoted
pricesin  Significant  Significant
active  observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
ERMS  EATERRE EAFUEE
HERE WARE WARE Total
(5—F8) (B=fE) (B=8) st
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARMBTT AR®BTR AR®TRT AR¥TR
Recurring fair value AT IR B R H 1
measurement for: NFEFE
Investment properties REME - - 183,309 183,309

FRIAREEERAF
2019 F 3R
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31 December 2019 722019412 A 31 H

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 15. REWZE #)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) NTEEERE)

Fair value measurement as at 31 December 2018 using
A TEIER 2018512 A 31 B A FER B
Quoted
prices in Significant Significant

active observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

ERTS EAUER EATAUEE
HOHR(E BARE W ABUR Total
(E-B) (F-B) (=B it

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT  ARETT ARBTRT ARETR

Recurring fair value ATIER T
measurement for: RNIEGE -
Investment properties BEYME - = 184,384 184,384
During the year, there were no transfers of fair value REFE FEREE_ER BLER
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers FEAENER  TEATEFEEAE=
into or out of Level 3 (2018: Nil). ERIME=ERE L (20185 : &) °
Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within PHEEATEEBRE=ZFOAFEF=E
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy: BE -
2019 2018
2019 20184
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®T AREFT
Carrying amount at 1 January »1 A1 HEEE 184,384 163,592
Additions NE 570 13,386
Additions from acquisition of a subsidiary AW E—RME AT MAE
(note 35) (B 5E35) - 4,190
Transfer to owner-occupied property EEHEaRYE (1,842) =
Sold to third party HETE=S (3,855) =
Net gain from fair value adjustments NP EFBR W 4,052 3,216
Carrying amount at 31 December m12 A31 BREE 183,309 184,384
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31 December 2019 7220194 12 A 31 H

15. BEWHE ®)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued) NEEERE)
Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the NI REEDFEABEMMAGERT REERH
key inputs to the valuation of investment properties: R A BIEREEE
Range
|
Significant Unobservable
Valuation technique input 2019 2018
ERTAEHE
fRERKT BARE 2019 F 2018 F
Residential properties Direct comparison Market unit price 7-24 9-23
method (RMB/sg.m.)
(E=at/ES HELBE M5B ER
(NREETL/F75K)
A significant increase in the market unit price per square FBERATBEMNEBRAZ FHJERIEE
metre would result in a significant increase in the fair value of YR N E(BEREEIE -
the investment properties.
16. LEASE 16. HE
The Group as a lessee REEEAEHAA
(@) Right-of-use assets (a) HEHAEEE
The carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use assets ANEEFRAEEEZFERERSE
and the movements during the year are as follows: N :
Buildings Total
BF At
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETFT
As at 1 January 2019 R2019%F1 A1 H 1,637 1,637
Additions NE 14,891 14,891
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 35) e B B /8 & &1 (B 5% 35) 42,267 42,267
Depreciation charge WELH (12,026) (12,026)
As at 31 December 2019 R2019412 A31H 46,769 46,769

FRIAREEERAT
2019 F 3k
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16. LEASE (Continued) 16. *E%E.(%)
The Group as a lessee (Continued) AEBEAEEBA®E)
(b) Lease liabilities (b) HEERE
The carrying amount of lease liabilities (included under HMEEBZEREGIATGTERITR
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings) and the HtER] W) RFERZESHMT

movements during the year are as follows:

31 December

2019
2019 %
12H31H
RMB’000
ARBT T
Carrying amount at 1 January M1 AR ZEREE 1,637
New leases HEE 14,363
Additions as a result of acquisition of a subsidiary ~ EWE—KHBEARMAE
(note 35) (F¥3E35) 40,195
Accretion of interest recognised during the year F N PTRER AT B8 0
(note 8) (P45 8) 4,050
Payments (NEN (12,954)
Carrying amount at 31 December M®12 A 31 BZRAE 47,291
Analysed into: DR
Current portion BERER 24,518
Non-current portion FEENEREL 22,773
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in HEBBEWIE R DR ERIM R
note 43 to the financial statements. RMIEE43 »
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16. LEASE (Continued) 16. *Hg(fg“)
The Group as a lessee (Continued) REBELSFABAE)
(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to (c) MEZFERNBEEEEFBENT

leases are as follows:

2019
20195
RMB’'000
ARBTR
Interest on lease liabilities (note 8) HEBENR (H7E8) 4,050
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FREEEITERX 12,026
Expense relating to short-term leases and BT HATE & M eA T A AR 2019 F
other leases with remaining lease terms 12 A31 Bz AIfEme At iE &
ended on or before 31 December 2019 BENFEX
(included in cost of sales) (GFASEERKA) 205
Expense relating to leases of low-value assets HBEEEEERESHNRY
(included in administrative expenses) GTATTBAR) 372
Total amount recognised in profit or loss B R R R IE A EE 16,653
The Group as a lessor REBFERHEA
The Group leases its properties under operating lease REERBECEHELHEEEDE %5
arrangements, with leases negotiated for terms of five years. HELERNFRARF - LEFEHENERK
The terms of the leases generally also require the tenants to —MRIMRERP X MRES °
pay security deposits.
As at the end of the reporting period, the Group had total RERE BN - IRIBEME PRI MW HRIA T F
future minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable FHAR AT ST E - AR EH R KR K

operating leases with its tenants falling due as follows: RHESRYIEATEINT -

31 December 31 December

2019 2018

2019 % 20184
128318 128318
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR AR®TRT

Within one year —F R 4,741 4,753
In the second to fifth years, inclusive E_FEERF (BEERWE) 1,303 3,111
6,044 7,864
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31 December 2019 722019412 A 31 H

17. GOODWILL 17. &%

RMB’000
AREFT

As at 1 January 2018 201841 A1 H
Cost and net carrying amount B R BR TS E 105,560
Acquisition of subsidiaries WESHE 2 A 49,896
Cost and net carrying amount at 31 December 2018 R 20184 12 A 31 H&IA A K ERE(E 155,456
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 35) i — R BT 8 & =) (BT % 35) 96,140
Impairment during the year FARIE (3,281)
Cost and net carrying amount at 31 December 2019 72019412 A 31 B IR A R EEE(E 248,315

Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business acquisitions is allocated
to the following cash-generating units (“CGU") for impairment

testing: A

o Ningbo property management service cash-generating e EBERYETERKASELBAM(R
unit ("CGU A"), SELBRAL

e Nanning Real estate agency cash-generating unit (“CGU s HERMEREBRSELABEU(RS
B"), EEEMB])

e Guangdong property management service cash- s BERVEEERBHSELBM(R
generating unit (“CGU C"), SELEBMC])

e Suzhou property management service cash-generating s HMNYEEBRRBHEEELSEM(R
unit ("CGU D"), SEEEMD])

e Hangzhou property management service cash- e MMMEEBREReELEML(R
generating unit (“CGU E"), SEABME])

e Guangzhou landscaping design and construction e ENEMEBRFRELIREEASE

services cash-generating unit (“CGU F")

. Others cash-generating units ("Others”)

1 74 ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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17. GOODWILL (Continued)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB

Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)

31 December 2019 7220194 12 A 31 H

17. BE &)
SEREN I EAC))

31 December

31 December

2019 2018

2019 F 2018 4F

12A31H 12A31H

CGU A REELEEMA 101,083 101,083
CGUB REELEENB 68,776 -
CGUC WEELEEMNC 24,929 24,929
CGUD RWEEEEMD 20,171 =
CGUE WEeEEBEME 14,987 14,987
CGUF R ELBMF 7,003 -
Others Ei 14,647 14,457
251,596 155,456

Impairment IE (3,281) =
Total e 248,315 155,456

The recoverable amount of those cash-generating units has

been determined based on a current market value calculation

using cash flow projections based on financial budgets

covering a five-year period approved by senior management.

The discount rates applied to the cash flow projections are

15% and the cash flows beyond the five-year period were
extrapolated using a growth rate of 2% (2018: 15% and 2 %).

ZERSEEBMARE S EREE AT
HREFEET  FTECARBRERRER
BiERERFHEA M BEEELNR
//luiﬁ_ Bl o ZIRE R ETERERB 15% HHTIR
o AFHREBAIR S RERIFEA 2% (2018

E 1 15% N 2%) R R EEH o



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BIH5 A P ot

31 December 2019 722019412 A 31 H

17. GOODWILL (Continued)

176

Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)

Assumptions were used in the value calculation of the cash-
generating units for 31 December 2019 and 31 December
2018. The following describes each key assumption on which
management has based its cash flow projections to undertake
an impairment testing of goodwill.

Budgeted revenue:  The basis used to determine the value
assigned to the revenue from the
segment is the average revenue
achieved in the year immediately
before the budget year, increased
for expected efficiency
improvements and expected market
development.

Budgeted operating  The basis used to determine the
expenses values assigned are the cost of
inventories consumed, staff costs,
and other operating expenses. The
values assigned to the key
assumptions reflect past experience
and management’s commitment to
maintain its operating expenses at
an acceptable level.
Discount rates The discount rates used are before tax
and reflect specific risks relating to
the unit.

Impairment losses amounting to RMB3,281,000 (2018: Nil)
during 2019 were recognised Others which reflect the loss in
value of the CGUs. The impairment losses were recognised in
profit or loss for year ended 31 December 2019.

Sensitivity to changes in assumptions

With regard to the assessment of the value in use of the cash-
generating units, management believes that no reasonably
possible change in any of the above key assumptions would
cause the carrying value, including goodwill, of the cash-
generating units to exceed the recoverable amount.

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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18. PREPAYMENTS FOR ACQUISITION OF

19.

PROPERTIES

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

18.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had deposits of
RMB55,839,000 (2018: RMB7,958,000) in relation to the
acquisition of properties situated in Mainland China paid to

property developers. The acquisition of certain properties

was completed during the current year and the related
prepayments of RMB311,000 (2018: RMB6,874,000) were
transferred to investment properties and RMB4,670,000 has
been transferred to property and equipment. The group has
paid RMB46,576,000 for acquisition of new properties in 2019.

INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES

19.

B 75 MY T
31 December 2019 720196 12 A31H
W BB Y R TR IR

R2019F12A31 8 ' AEERYERER
WAL BN ME - SR2ZEAA
R #55,839,0007T(20184F : A R#7,958,000
To) o W E TWEE R AFE ST A KB
B 7B 2B A R #5311,0007T (2018 4F A
R#6,874,00070) BHEIREYZE - AR A
R#4670000 B EBEEYERRME-
2019 F A& B B 5 AR 46,576,000 7T A
RUSEE T2 -

REELENRE
2019 2018
2019 & 2018 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TRE ARBTT

Share of net assets

I BEFE

3,166 4,412

Particulars of the Group's joint ventures are as follows:

31 December 2019

AEBEEREMFRNOT

2019%12H31H

Percentage of

Place of UTRENEDL
Paid-up  registration Ownership Voting Profit

Name capital  and business interest power sharing  Principal activities
=1 BREX BEREXBY e gL REE  AEIE IEXRE
BB BENERS RMB1,500,000  PRC/Mainland 60 (a) 60 Provision of property

AR2 ] (“Ningbo Disai”) China management services
ERTaEEENERE AR¥1,500000 B/ FERKM RENEXERRY

ARAR([EREE])

q:aﬂ%%ffz‘g?& 1 77



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
R %5 2k B

31 December 2019 722019412 A 31 H

19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 19. REETENKRE &)
(Continued)
31 December 2018 201812 831 H

Percentage of

Place of ATEERAAL
Paid-up  registration Ownership Voting Profit

Name capital  and business interest power sharing  Principal activities

i BRER EBRRkEFME P TERER RERE  FIENE FEXK

BB BEnERS RMB1,500,000  PRC/Mainland 60 (a) 60 Provision of property

AR 2 A (“Ningbo Disai") China management services

ERTaEEENERE ARE1500000  HE/HEMM RENEXERRY

BRAR(TZREE])

The above interests in joint ventures are indirectly held by the LR ErF s IR G MEERS -

Company.

(@) According to the Articles of Association of Ningbo (@) REZFHEMNAZKEZRE  BEEFDH
Disai, decisions on relevant activities require the FORE ERES A A —BGERET &t
unanimous consent and approval of the equity holders. Ao Bt - BREETIARIMERSE
Therefore, Ningbo Disai is accounted for as a joint EmEEhsE-
venture of the Group.

Ningbo Disai, which is considered a material joint venture of BRHMBEHEEAAEBEERSERE  EF

the Group provides property management services in Bl AR EIRARTS - WIAEREAER ©

Mainland China and is accounted for using the equity

method.
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19. INVESTMENTS IN JOINT VENTURES 19. REELENRE @
(Continued)
The following table illustrates the summarised financial TREREFAENBMESHEER - EHE
information in respect of Ningbo Disai, adjusted for any A& R 2= BRI B8 7 3Rk P BV BR
differences in accounting policies and reconciled to the HESEE :

carrying amount in the financial statements:

2019 2018
2019 F 2018 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTRT ARETET

Cash and cash equivalents ReRFASEEY 7,541 10,654
Other current assets HimEh & E 1,288 1,763
Current assets MENEE 8,829 12,417
Non-current assets ERBEE 443 295
Current liabilities mBAE (3,995) (5,345)
Net assets BEFE 5,277 7,367
Reconciliation to the Group's interest in EAREBNEGEEER

the joint venture: e ¥R
Proportion of the Group's ownership REBWPTAREL D 60% 60%
Carrying amount of the investment RENREE 3,166 4,412
Revenue W25 12,126 14,987
Interest income B WA 219 114
Depreciation and amortisation e R (22) 31
Tax 18 (786) (1,426)
Profit and total comprehensive income FRFERZEBRA

for the year 4BEE 2,383 4,825
Dividend declared EEIRRE (4,473) =
During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group HZE2019F 12 A31HILFE - ANEEWE
received dividend in the amounts of RMB2,684,000 (2018: BEERAZTENRE A AR K2684,0007T
RMB2,275,000) from Ningbo Disai. (2018 : AR#2,275,0007T) °

TR ees 179
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20. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 20. REEE N RINIRE
2019 2018
20195 20184
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TRT ARBTT

Share of net assets FE1E & EFE 4,578 3,175
Particulars of the Group's associates are as follows: AREBBL NSO T
31 December 2019 201912 H31H
Registered/  Place of Percentage of
paid up  registration ownership interest  Principal
Name capital  and business attribute to the Group  activities
Bift/ EEK AEBEEREE
=L BEREXx  XKnE EREAL TEEE
BMNBEESHRANF RMB7,000,000  PRC/Mainland 40 Provision of sports venue
(“Aoye Sports”) China leasing services
BNEXREERAA ARH7,0000007c B/ HEAM REEESHHERS
(TR%BE])
BRRBHEECEERERAR RMB1,000,000  PRC/Mainland 49 Provision of business
("Zhong Ao Zhong") China management services
ERPRAFRLLERERAF ARE1,000000c B/ HEAM REBEEERE
(T &H])
BT B ERR AR RMB1,000,000 PRC/Mainland 49 Provision of business
("Wuzhou Chengtou”) China management services
BMTRRTENEERA A ARM¥1,000000c B/ HERK REHEER RS
(TEMBER])
BN IXRRRENEEEERAR RMB500,000  PRC/Mainland 49 Provision of business
("Suzhou Shengjian”) China management services
FNIXREEENEERARAR ARK5000007T B/ HREIRH REBREE RS
(&M B%RE])
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20. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 20. REEE N TINIRE (&)

31 December 2018 2018412 A31H
Registered/  Place of Percentage of
paidup registration ownership interest  Principal
Name capital  and business attribute to the Group  activities
Bift,/ BER REBRIEMAR
218 BHER F5mE Enpott FEER
BINEEEE BB AR RMB7,000,000  PRC/Mainland 40 Provision of sports venue
("Aoye Sports”) China leasing services
EMEEBEARAF AR¥7,000000c  FE/HERMM REEERSHE SRS
(Te%85))
ERTEAREE2ERARAR RMB1,000,000  PRC/Mainland 49 Provision of business
("Zhong Ao Zhong") China management services
BRPRAHELCEERERAR AR¥1,000000 B/ HEMM R EE E R RG
(TR
In December 2019, the Group purchased the equity interests 201912 A - AN B # B Mk 12 /) Ak
in Wuzhou Chengtou amounting to RMB490,000 to coincide HARKEA490,0007T - LFEAEERIRE
with the Group's investment strategy. REE o
The following table illustrates the aggregate financial TRFAAREE R EE A R IEE B E AR
information of the Group's associates that are not individually HARBE I TS B H -
material:
2019 2018
2019 20184
RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR¥TR AR¥TRT

Share of the associates’ profit/(loss) for the year & AHE & N alFE,(EE) 466 4)
Share of the associates’ total comprehensive  JE{hEf& AR 42

profit/(loss) 2mEFE(EE) 466 (@)
Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's AEBREEARIRER

investments in associates HBARTEE 4,578 SAIVS

:paﬂ%ﬁz’%fg‘g?& 1 81
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21. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

182

21. Hh\EEEE

Acquired
property Software
management Customer and
contracts  relationships trademark Total
FrEEmE
EEEH EFBf& B REE et
31 December 2019 2019%12A31H RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETRT AREFT AR®EFR
At 1 January 2019: R2019F1A18 :
Cost B AR 118,124 - 5,564 123,688
Accumulated amortisation B (31,681) - (1,170) (32,851)
Net carrying amount REFE 86,443 - 4,394 90,837
Cost at 1 January 2019, net of R2019F1 A1BKAE
accumulated amortisation Ik Rt 86,443 - 4,394 90,837
Addition NE - - 1,979 1,979
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 35) Wk — KB 2 ) (P7E35) 3,600 7,000 1,917 12,517
Amortisation provided during the year  F RFT&H 124 85 (13,507) (1,556) (1,094) (16,157)
At 31 December 2019 R2019%12 8318 76,536 5,444 7,196 89,176
At 31 December 2019: M2019F 124318 :
Cost B 121,724 7,000 9,460 138,184
Accumulated amortisation ESa (45,188) (1,556) (2,264) (49,008)
Net carrying amount REEE 76,536 5,444 7,196 89,176
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31 December 2019 7220194 12 A 31 H

21. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) 21. EwEREEE &)
Acquired
property Software
management and
contracts trademark Total
FrENS M=
BEAHN HHREIE st
31 December 2018 2018 12 A31H RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTE AR®TT ARETR

At 1 January 2018: R2018F1H1H :

Cost B 109,079 4,812 113,891

Accumulated amortisation E Ty (18,508) (547) (19,055)
Net carrying amount REFE 90,571 4,265 94,836
Cost at 1 January 2018, net of R2018F 1 A1 AR

accumulated amortisation HIBR 2ty 90,571 4,265 94,836
Addition NG - 752 752
Acquisition of a subsidiary WE—RKE AT 9,045 = 9,045
Amortisation provided during the year & RFTEHE#5 (13,173) (623) (13,796)
At 31 December 2018 12018 12 B 31 H 86,443 4,394 90,837
At 31 December 2018: 20184128318 :

Cost (DN 118,124 5,564 123,688

Accumulated amortisation S (31,681) (1,170) (32,851)
Net carrying amount BEEF(E 86,443 4,394 90,837
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31 December 2019 7220194 12 A 31 H

22. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during

the year are as follows:

22. REMIBEEE B&
FRNELCHAEERABNEEMT :

Deferred tax assets FIERIEEE
2019
0198
Depreciation
Impairment Fair value Loss available ~ Impairment allowance
provision change of foroffsetting ~ of financial ~ in excess of
Lease fortrade  investment against future ~ and contract related
Liabilities ~ receivables ~properties Tax loss gains assets  depreciation Total
B5EY RENZ THEE  SHEER
SEHE NAYE ARl AHEE REERAE
e &% 25 HEEe i3] AE  NERE 3t
RMB"000 RMB"000 RMB"000 RMB"000 RMB"000 RMB"000 RMB'000 RMB"000
ARE AR% N AR# AR# N AR# ARH
n i r n fn i r n
At 31 December 2018 20185124318 - 30,45 1 - - - 513 30,929
Effect of adoption of HKFRS 16 VBB K528
Fl0HNTE 409 - - - - - - 409
M1 January 019 restated) 201951 A1H
(@35)) 409 30,415 1 - - - 513 31,338
Credited/[charged) to EniERR
the statement of profitorloss ~ £F A/ (1)
during the year note 11) (K3 11) 11,414 6,505 (1) (4.980) 16,391 461 638 30,428
Acquisition of subsidiaries WEHEAR
[note 35) (R 3) - 5133 - 5153 - - - 10,286
At 31 Decernber 2019 RA19F12A31A 1823 42,053 - 173 16,391 461 1,151 72,052
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B ISR MR
31 December 2019 7220194 12 A 31 H
22. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES 22 EEBIEEE EE@®
(Continued)
Deferred tax liabilities FERIERE
2019
2019%
Fair value Withholding
change of tax on
investment Intangible  undistributed Right-of-use
properties assets earnings assets Total
REMEN RESE
NYERD BVEE BNRIH ERREE ast
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR

At 31 December 2018 R2018%12 8318 (2,624) (21,611) (1,141) - (25,376)
Effect of adoption of KB B BREEN
HKFRS 16 FI6HRNTE - - - (409) (409)

At 1 January 2019 (restated) 72019451 F1H
(BE7) (2,624) (21,611) (1,141) (409) (25,785)

Credited/(charged) to the NP BHEK
statement of profit or loss 5t A/ (#18%)

during the year (note 11) (M1 11) (969) 3,789 (1,370) (11,283) (9,833)
Acquisition of subsidiaries WX EE M 2 7] (A7 35)

(note 35) - (2,922) - - (2,922)
At 31 December 2019 R2019%12 8318 (3,593) (20,744) (2,511) (11,692) (38,540)
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31 December 2019 722019412 A 31 H

22. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES

22. EEBIEEE, BE %)

(Continued)
Deferred tax assets FLEBIBEEE
2018
20184F
Depreciation
Impairment Fair value  allowance in
provision change of excess of
fortrade  investment related
receivables properties depreciation Total
B IR REME B :E1ERE
IERE B AF(E FEN
B ) TERE et
RMB’ 000 RMB'000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
ARBTT AR®TRT ARBTT ARETET
At 1 January 2018 20185 1A 1H
As previously reported SR 23R 24,494 1 - 24,495
Effect of adoption of RNE B BIwE
HKFRS 9 BRI R E 6,355 - - 6,355
At 1 January 2018 (restated) 201851 A1 B (&%) 30,849 1 - 30,850
Credited/(charged) to the FRMNERRTAS
statement of profit or loss (08 (HHEE11)
during the year (note 11) (434) = 513 79
At 31 December 2018 M20184F 12 A31H 30,415 1 513 30,929
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AR P 5
31 December 2019 7201912 431 H
22. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES 22 EEBIEEE EE@®
(Continued)
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIEAE
2018
20184
Fair value Withholding
change of tax on
investment Intangible undistributed
properties assets earnings Total
KEMEN REDEL
NHEZ EBVEE RBMEMB st

RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000
ARBTE ARBTT AR®TRT ARKTE

At 1 January 2018 R2018F 1 A1 H (1,277) (22,643) (2,104) (26,024)
Credited/(charged) to the FARBRERTAS

statement of profit or loss (FkR) (BitzE11)

during the year (note 11) (804) 3,293 963 3,452
Acquisition of subsidiaries WEEE A A

(note 35) (FF5E35) (543) (2,267) - (2,804)
At 31 December 2018 MR2018F 12 A31H (2,624) (21,611) (1,141) (25,376)
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31 December 2019 722019412 A 31 H

22. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES 22. EEBEBEEE AE®
(Continued)
For the purpose of the financial statement presentation, R EREFRE  ETEREEHRIBEEER
certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset. BECHE UTNANTEEFENFHEAN
The following is an analysis of the deferred tax balances of SEBRLEHIBERN DT

the Group for financial reporting purposes:

31 December 31 December

2019 2018
2019 20184
128318 12A31H
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TRT ARBTET

Net deferred tax assets recognised in RERE PSR R IER 60,360 30,929
the consolidated statement of BERIEEEFE
financial position
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in iR G B IR S R W SR Y (26,848) (25,376)
the consolidated statement of R IB A ERE
financial position
33,512 5,553
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of RBELATIE B RAEERIBEE ¢

the following items:

31 December 31 December

2019 2018
2019 % 2018 4F
128318 128318
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®BTRT ARETET

Tax losses not recognised for AEETIEE EERA
deferred tax assets MIBEE 120,622 114,952
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22. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES

(Continued)

In accordance with the PRC laws and regulations, tax losses
arising in Mainland China could be carried forward for a
period of five years to offset against future taxable profits.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of
the above item as it is not considered probable that taxable
profits will be available against which the above item can be
utilised.

At 31 December 2019, deferred tax liabilities of RMB2,511,000
(2018: RMB1,141,000) have been recognised for withholding
taxes that would be payable on the unremitted earnings that
are subject to withholding taxes of the Group's subsidiaries
established in Mainland China. Pursuant to a resolution of the
board of directors of the Company, these subsidiaries will not
distribute any earnings derived up to 31 December 2015 and
75% of earnings from 1 January 2016 onward will not be
distributed. The aggregate amount of temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries in Mainland China
for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised
was RMB 176,505,000 (2018: RMB171,025,000).

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the
payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

23. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

BB

31 December 2019 7220194 12 A 31 H

2. FEEBIBEERE BfE#)

BRPBDARER - RN AT IAE
BRI A S B T S AR SR SR BRI AE -

AMALBERABELEHREE - BATR
A LA B A A g BIAK BB ER LA o

R2019F12A31 8 ' EMAEBERFE A
Frak BB A Bl A E H & F (BB /e
TENF HERIEE T TH & & A K% 2,511,000
TL(20184F : AR#1,141,0007T) ° RIBAR
AESE —MAER  ZEMBRAETE
SIRBEETE2015FE 12 AN BHNER - 8
20165 1 A1 BB FIF 75% 5 TED K °
ERRELCHTEA BN RAHHNE QR
BATH MR E R R A AR 176,505,000
JC (20184 : AFREE171,025,0007T) °

A AR EB RIS L EAEHRER -

23. EZRBUREREBEREE

31 December 31 December

2019 2018

2019 2018

12831H 12H31H

RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR¥T T AREETIT

Trade receivables 5 W FOR 430,236 292,636
Bills receivable e R 1,243 1,040
Less: Impairment allowance o ORE R (99,219) (85,850)
332,260 207,826
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31 December 2019 722019412 A 31 H

23. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Trade and bills receivables mainly arise from property
management services income. The credit period is generally
90 days for property owners and property developers upon
the issuance of demand notes. The Group seeks to maintain
strict control over its outstanding receivables and has a credit
control department to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances
are reviewed regularly by senior management and credit
limits attributed to customers are reviewed once a year. In
view of the aforementioned and the fact that the Group's
trade and bills receivables relate to a large number of
diversified customers, there is no significant concentration of
credit risk. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills receivables as at the
end of the reporting period, based on the date of demand
note, net of loss allowance is as follows:

23. EFERWREREVEE &)

BHRUWHANEBRERTEREMEEE
RN - RBFBAMEELR  ZERD
FRRENEEN—RROR - AEESK
HEREE R GRERBRISEE » YR
EEEEMPIUAREEERR - BB H
SREEEEMRT  MEFHNEERER
FFERH R - ERA LA AEEE S
ERFAREBRBERZZTRTFEM -
AW BEAETOEERR - B 5 RUK
BRER -

RIRERR - HEFCEMERSTENE S
JRE L R T K e MR AR N R S 1R B O BR B
M

31 December 31 December

2019 2018

2019 £ 20184

12A31H 12 31 H

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBT T ARETT

Within 30 days 30BR 30,111 20,321
Over 30 days and within 90 days #E3@30 A %90 B A 63,052 28,386
Over 90 days and within 180 days A0 H & 180 B A 68,032 51,929
Over 180 days and within 365 days 35180 B & 365 HA 74,029 53,847
Over one year Bl —F 97,036 53,343
332,260 207,826
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23. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (Continued) 23.

The movements in the loss allowance of trade and bills

Uy D
31 December 2019 7220194 12 A 31 H

ESEWFEREREE &)
B 5 MENERIE R FE I S S 1B R 10 S B 1

receivables are as follows: T

31 December 31 December

2019 2018

2019 % 2018 4F

12831H 12H31H

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET R ARET T
At beginning of year F1) (85,850) (78,029)
Effect of adoption of BNE B S 7R - (12,225)

HKFRS 9 EORMTE

At beginning of year (restated) FH (L E5) (85,850) (90,254)
Impairment loss, net (note 7) R EEERRR (M EE7) (13,369) 4,404
Write-off 88 - -
(99,219) (85,850)

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses.
The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings
of various customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e.,
by customer type). The calculation reflects the probability-
weighted outcome, the time value of money and reasonable
and supportable information that is available at the reporting
date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions. Generally, trade receivables are
written off if past due for more than one year and are not
subject to enforcement activity.

REHE B RRABEEEETREDN -
U EEMEREER - BBXDNERARR
B EEANZ EFF 2 504 B H a8 B &
BEE(AEFER) - &t B RRSR R NE
ER - BERRERNBEAHAGNERE
EFH - ERARRARREEGEEANE
BRAEEN - —RME - BHEKFIAN
BHEE—F R BARBRNERHNITIEER
T LA EH
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31 December 2019 722019412 A 31 H

23. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (Continued) 23. BEREWHEREREE &)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk TR NEB (G HBREEEAENE S E
exposure on the Group's trade and bills receivables using a WHIBE R ENEENZERBER

provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2019 MR2019%F12H31H
Less than 6to 12 Over
6 months months 1 year Total
PR6EA  6F12{8A BiB1E @t
Expected credit loss rate HHEEEEX 8% 18% 41% 23%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000)  BREA&E (AREFIT) 175,634 90,106 165,739 431,479
Expected credit losses (RMB'000)  FBHiEEEE(ARETITL) 14,439 16,077 68,703 99,219
As at 31 December 2018 R2018E12 A 31 H
Less than 610 12 Over
6 months months 1 year Total
LR 618 R 621218 A HBiE1E FE
Expected credit loss rate JEHEEEEX 16% 26% 47% 29%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000)  BREA&E (AREFT) 119,548 72,883 101,245 293,676
Expected credit losses (RMB'000) ~ FEHAEEEE(ARETT) 18,912 19,036 47,902 85,850
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31 December 2019 7220194 12 A 31 H

24. PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 24. FE{JZhE R HitpEW =18

31 December

31 December

2019 2018
2019 F 2018 4F
12A831H 12H31H
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET R AREEFIT

Payment on behalf of customers to utility REEBEPRMARSEMER
suppliers (BN 109,847 78,948
Deposits paid to utility suppliers MAREEREEINNES 27,573 19,352
Other receivables H b fE U k18 121,411 69,104
Prepayments AN 64,675 49,679
Other tax recoverable H th AT Uk B 718 2,470 6,076
325,976 223,159
Less: Impairment allowance OB E R R (37,744) (26,651)
Total “Et 288,232 196,508

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of other

receivables are as follows:

31 December

Hib W FIRB EBIRRENEESHIT

31 December

2019 2018
2019 20184
12HA31H 12H31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETT
At beginning of year NG

As previously reported RS RIFT 2 ¥ (26,651) (10,723)

Effect of adoption of MBS s 4R
HKFRS 9 FIRNTE - (13,196)
At beginning of year (restated) REF (KEF)) (26,651) (23,919)
Impairment loss, net (note 7) BRI F R (M 7) (11,093) (2,732)
(37,744) (26,651)

FRIAREEERAT
2019 F 3k
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31 December 2019 722019412 A 31 H

24. PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

25.

194

(Continued)

Deposits and other receivables mainly represent performance
bond, bidding deposits for contracts and employee loans.
Expected credit losses are estimated by applying a loss rate
approach with reference to the historical loss record of the
Group. The loss rate is adjusted to reflect the current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions, as
appropriate. The loss rate applied where there are no
comparable companies as at 31 December 2019 ranged from
3% to 30% (2018: 3% to 30%).

CONTRACT ASSETS

24, ENFEREMERRIE#)

25.

GREEMERZFEEEABHRES A
HEEREREEBER - BHEEEBRDZ
EAREEMESL B ELEEABIBERAG
51 o BB RS 1 TR LA R E AR R N
RARAEAR I (R E ) A9 TEA © 7R 2019 F
12A318 RUYEAELRABHNEBERLT
AR BB E ) 3% 2= 30% (2018 F : 3%
= 30%) ©

BRNEE

31 December
2019

2019 &
12A31H
RMB’000
ARETFT

Contract assets arising from:
Construction services

TIEBELEZANEE
R RS

61,495

B

Impairment

(1,845)

59,650

Contract assets are initially recognised for revenue earned
from the provision of construction services as the receipt of
consideration is conditional on successful completion of
installation of the industrial products and construction,
respectively. Included in contract assets for construction
services are retention receivables. Upon completion of
construction and acceptance by the customer, the amounts
recognised as contract assets are reclassified to trade
receivables. The increase in contract assets in 2019 was the
result of the acquisition of Guangdong Ming-King-City
Landscape Architecture Co. Ltd.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, RMB1,845,000
(2018: Nil) was recognised as an allowance for expected credit
losses on contract assets. The Group's trading terms and
credit policy with customers are disclosed in note 23 to the
financial statements.

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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BB

31 December 2019 7220194 12 A 31 H

25. CONTRACT ASSETS (Continued) 25. BNEE#®)
The expected timing of recovery or settlement for contract M12A31H » B ENTEH AT M@ k4
assets as at 31 December is as follows: BRFEEIT
31 December
2019
2019 F
12A31H
RMB’000
ARET R
Within one year —FR 59,650
After one year AR — -
Total contract assets BHEERE 59,650
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of BHNEEREBERBNZESHOT
contract assets are as follows:
31 December
2019
2019 F
12A31H
RMB’000
ARET R
At beginning of year F4 -
Impairment losses, net BIEE R 1,845
At end of year FR 1,845

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses.
The provision rates for the measurement of the expected
credit losses of the contract assets are based on those of the
trade receivables as the contract assets and the trade
receivables are from the same customer bases. The provision
rates of contract assets are based on ageing of trade
receivables for groupings of various customer segments with
similar loss patterns (i.e., by customer type). The calculation
reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of
money and reasonable and supportable information that is
available at the reporting date about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

REDH TREERNS IS B AR EERE
AEBRHEEEEMETT - AUGEEHNE
ERBEEBRZBEBERIIREE S BUGK
HZBEREE  FANEERZZEUK
BREBHEREFER - SHNEEZBHEX
DREERUEBRER (AREFEEE D)
ZTRAEBEFPHERZRIKETE - Xt B R
TINEAER - BERENARRRE B A&
BEBBEFM - BN KRR AREER IR
BRIz AEAIEEF -

FRIAREEERAF
2019 F 3R
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31 December 2019 722019412 A 31 H

25. CONTRACT ASSETS (Continued) 25. BNEE#®)
Set out below is the information about the credit risk TRV AEBFTABEEEAFENESDNHE
exposure on the Group's contract assets using a provision ENEEREER :
matrix:
31 December
2019
2019 4
12A31H
Expected credit loss rate JBE=E B X 3%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) FEAEARETT) 61,495
Expected credit losses (RMB'000) BEEEBER(ARETT) 1,845
26. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 26. RAFEFABSNEREE

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

31 December

2019
2019 &
12H31H
RMB'000
ARETR
Financial assets at fair value through RATFEFABENSRMEE
profit or loss
Bank financial product RITERE SR (@) 54
Financial assets at fair value through BATEFABSNESREE
profit or loss (note 35) (BF3E35) (b) 2,482

At end of year FR 2,536

(a)  The balance represented principal-protected bank financial (@) HHREEIASREMRITESRER &
product with no fixed maturity. EEEEA -

(b)  The Company has a put option to dispose the acquired 51% (b) AABEARLEE  ATR2022FFH =
equity interest in Huihuang Property and Huihuang Real Estate HAEFHEEAEELEEEEZNIER
to the non-controlling equity holder in three tranches prior to B EE 51% HO B T IF R R R A A ©
the year 2022. The fair value of the option will be adjusted AR RE A T E BN 2019 F ~ 2020 F & 2021
based on the future financial performance of Huihuang FIRBIEIE B ¥ RIBIE B 2= H) R B
Property and Huihuang Real Estate in 2019, 2020 and 2021. The KATURAE - Mg BRRAFEFA
option was classified as a financial asset at fair value through BRENEMEE -

profit or loss.
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27. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

An analysis of the cash and cash equivalents is as follows:

BB

31 December 2019 7220194 12 A 31 H

27. RERBEEEY

ReMReFEWOFTMT :

31 December 31 December

2019 2018

2019 % 2018 4F

12831H 12H31H

RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARET T

Cash and bank balances Re NIRITARR 426,134 386,486
Time deposits TE BRTFERR 31,866 29,309
458,000 415,795

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and cash
equivalents of the Group denominated in RMB amounted to
RMB437,052,000 (2018: RMB358,782,000). The RMB is not
freely convertible into other currencies, however, under
Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange
RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to
conduct foreign exchange business.

The Group collects deposits from certain community residents
to establish daily repair and maintenance funds in accordance
with the relevant rules and regulations in the PRC.

All of the deposits collected are required to be kept in
designated bank accounts under the name of the relevant
subsidiaries of the Group although the deposits collected and
the related interest income belong to the community
residents. Pursuant to the property management agreements
between the Group and the community residents, the
withdrawal and use of the funds are subject to approval by
the community residents. As the monies maintained for daily
repair and maintenance funds are not controlled by the
Group, they are not recorded as bank balances by the Group.
As at 31 December 2019, RMB15,475,000 (2018:
RMB12,516,000) are kept in the daily repair and maintenance
funds on behalf of the community residents.

RBEIR - AEBUARBFENRE R
BWEE B A ARE437,052,0007 (20184 -
AR #358,782,0007T) - AR AILAE &
HfAHMEE KM BIETBEADINE
EFIROIRAERE EERMNESEEET A
EEEE S REREETINEESRIRITE
ARB R AEMmEE -

AEEREFBEMEARA AR AE THEE
FERBERS - LRI B FHENFERS -

BE SRR S MBI B BA T BLEE
RET#ER @ FTEFTRERSHANASLER
BB RARNBETALETERITERES - RIE
AEBEMRERIIVMMEEE DS 1=
B R (FAEEBFTRERLE - BRTFEMN
ERB#HERRERSNFAELEFE T
HCONERAN SR ERRSR ARTTAE R - 2019 12 A
318 ' BEREKLEERG AR 15,475,000 7T
(20184 : AR¥12,516,00070) IF A H & 4
BRRERES -
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31 December 2019 722019412 A 31 H

27. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Continued) 27. BERESEEY ©)
Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily RITIRESEN T BRITFHAN IR ZEF X
bank deposit rates. The cash and bank balances and pledged BREUA B o IRE RIRITEBR R E ERRITE
bank balances are deposited with creditworthy banks with no R T TF I 3T BGE 450 SR = B E RV IR
recent history of default. 17 °
28. TRADE PAYABLES 28. ESENRIE
An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the RIMERR  WBREAHFENE S RN
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: TEHEER ST T :
31 December 31 December
2019 2018
2019 % 2018 4F
12A31H 12H31H
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%T R ARETT
Within 60 days 60BN 122,441 39,312
Over 60 days and within 180 days BiE60H X180 HA 5,020 3,339
Over 180 days and within 365 days HBim 180 H & 365 HIA 1,706 2,999
Over one year HBilm—F 7,723 2,037
136,890 47,687

The trade payables are interest-free and normally settled on
terms of 30 to 90 days.

The fair values of trade payables approximate to their carrying
amounts due to their relatively short term maturity.
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29. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 29. HWENFIERETTER

31 December 31 December

2019 2018

2019 % 2018 4F
128318 123318
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TRT ARKBTET

Contract liabilities BHARE (a) 123,057 92,010
Receipts on behalf of community RAREEALRER

residents for utilities UK 238,681 161,287
Received in advance TAW IR - 188
Accruals FEst & A 131,120 66,339
Other payables H A FE A 5RIA 24,527 16,386
Deposits received [RRE 2 56,210 57,458
Other Payable for Option H A HA i FE < FRIE (b) 22,500 21,415
Amounts due to non-controlling equity  FEATH T B A A FE4Z A%

holders of subsidiaries EmFE ANFIE 25,602 10,241
Other tax payables H At IR 23,450 8,008

645,147 433,332

As at 31 December 2019, the Group's other payables and R2019F 12 A 31 B » REEH b &t 5IE
accruals included amounts due to non-controlling equity NG ERBRERN —KME QR IEEARE
holders of a subsidiary which are unsecured, interest-free and mRAANRIE  EREER 2B REAR
repayable on demand. EREER -
Except for Other Payables for Option and amounts due to B Lt BAME B < SR TE S R TIB IR B 22 I IS
non-controlling equity holder of Huihuang Property and P EFE R ST A ARIRSN - HAh R
Huihuang Real Estate, other payables are non-interest- NREARER  FTHBHRA=MA -

bearing and have an average term of three months.
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29. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS
(Continued)

(a)

200

29. HttERRERETER &)

Details of contract liabilities as at 31 December 2019 (@) F2019F12A31H k201941 A1H
and 1 January 2019 are as follows: MELHBEMNFBOT
31 December 1 January
2019 2019
20195 20194
12A31H 1HA1H
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETFT
Short-term advances received from B E PR RIE L
customers
Property management services (note 6) ¥ % 2 ik 7 (Bt 6) 123,057 92,010

Contract liabilities include short-term advances received
to deliver property management services. The increase
in contract liabilities in 2019 was mainly due to the
increase in short-term advances received from
customers in relation to the provision of property
management services at the end of the year.

Pursuant to the Agreements to the financial statements,
the non-controlling equity holders of Zhejiang
Yongcheng had a put option to require the Group to
acquire the remaining 30% equity interests in Zhejiang
Yongcheng in four tranches prior to the year 2020. The
considerations are contingent and will be adjusted
based on the future financial performance of Zhejiang
Yongcheng and capped at RMB22,500,000 for each
tranche. In every of 2017, 2018 and 2019, the Group
further acquired 7.5% equity interests in Zhejiang
Yongcheng, respectively. Since the Group did not have
present ownership interests in the 7.5% equity interests
in Zhejiang Yongcheng before the non-controlling
equity holders exercised the buy-out option, the Group
recorded the 7.5% equity interests in Zhejiang
Yongcheng owned by the non-controlling equity
holders as the non-controlling interests in the financial
statements. The buy-out option amount was classified
as a financial liability at 31 December 2019 and 2018 and
the changes in the amount of the option were
recognised in profit or loss. This equity interest
redemption option granted to non-controlling equity
holders of a subsidiary is a financial liability which only
includes the current portions (“Other Payables for
Option”).

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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R #22,500,0007T ° 72017 4F - 2018
FR219FEF NEBDR#E—F
U BE 9T T oK A B 7.5% R i B FEIR
RESFEATEWERER - A&E
48 AT T oK A B 7.5% F i Fh HE A i
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31 December 2019 7220194 12 A 31 H

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 30. ST EMITRHEMMERK
BORROWINGS
1 January
31 December 2019 2019 31 December 2018
20195
2019128318 1R18 018%12F 318
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
(%) Maturity RMB'000 RMB'000 (%) Maturity RMB'000
BWRIE (%) HBE ARTR ARETR  BEAEEG) IR ARETR
Current il
Lease liabilities (note 16 (b)) BEGE (M 160) 4.75-9.06 2020 24,518 1637 - - -
Bank loans — secured* RITEZ — HEm 4.2-15 2020 60,000 50,000 4.35-457 2019 50,000
Bank loans — unsecured RITER— BEA 5 2020 1,000 - = 2019 -
Current portion of non-current 3EE ﬁﬁ% il 5.22 2020 1,000 = - 2019 -
loans — secured — A
Current portion of non-current #E Eﬁﬁ izl HIBOR+1.5 2020 20,965 20,382 HIBOR+15 2019 20,382
loans — unsecured —BEA
107,483 72,019 70,382
Non-current FEEE
Lease liabllities note 16 ()~ BEBE(FE 16(b)) 4759.06  2021-2026 22,773 . = . =
Bank loans — secured* RITEZ — HEm 5.22-6.65  2021-2022 26,300 = = = =
Bank loans — unsecured RTET — BEM HIBOR+1.5 2021 21,270 41459 HIBOR+15  2020-2021 41459
70,343 41,459 41,459
177,826 113478 111,841
FRIREBERAA

201
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30. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER

BORROWINGS (Continued)

31 December

30. R RITREMER

(%)

31 December

2019 2018
2019 F 2018 4F
12A31H 12A31H
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T AREETTT
Analysed into: DA

Bank loans repayable: ARUATEREEIRITER -
Within one year or on demand —FRFIREK 82,965 70,382
In the second year F_F 27,070 20,610
Beyond three years, inclusive =FUE(BEFE=F) 20,500 20,849
130,535 111,841

Other borrowings repayable: AR A T HARR B A AL B 5K
Within one year or on demand —FRIRERK 24,518 =
In the second year F_F 5,463 -
Beyond three years, inclusive =FNE(BRE=F) 17,310 -
47,291 -
177,826 111,841

202 ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

30. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER

BORROWINGS (Continued)

The Group's bank loans were secured by the pledges of the
Group's assets with carrying values at 31 December 2019 and
31 December 2018 as follows:

BB

31 December 2019 7220194 12 A 31 H

0. sSTESRTREMMER &)

AEBHIRITERAKPAREB R 20194F
12 A 31 B % 2018412 A 31 B N 3IBREEH
BEERER

31 December 31 December

2019 2018

20194 2018 4F

12A31H 12A318

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

BitaE ARSTR AREBTT

Investment properties BEYEHE 15 146,431 93,122

In addition, Huihuang's non-controlling equity holder 2 §5(&
(“Liang Xiwei") guaranteed certain of the Group's bank loans
up to RMB5,000,000 as at the end of the reporting period at
nil consideration. In 2018, Hangzhou Anjia’s non-controlling
equity holder MM EEEZFREFP OLERLQE (“Hangzhou
Anju”) guaranteed certain of the Group’s bank loans up to
RMB30,000,000 at nil consideration.

As at 31 December 2019, all the Group’s borrowings were
denominated in RMB except that unsecured borrowings
amounting to RMB42,235,000 (2018: RMB61,841,000) were
denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

The bank borrowing balances of the Group bore interest at
floating rates, except for bank borrowings of RMB88,300,000
at 31 December 2019 (2018: RMB50,000,000) that bore interest

at fixed rates.

The carrying amounts of the interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings approximate to their fair values.

BEAN - EIE R IEIE R E I A A RBE (TR
HEDNRBERRASTREERAIERET
IRITEFE AR 5,000,000 © F220184F -
MMNE IR ESFEFEAMMNTEER
BERAPLERAB(MMEZE]D ASREE
RAEEE TRITERE A KR 30,000,000
=

R20194F 12 A31 8 » ZEE A BRI
ARMEEHE - AR 42,2350007T (2018
F: AR 61,841,0007T ) A £ H 1 5 5A
BITEHERAD ©

REERRITERGERIDEZBFIERGTE -
12019412 A31H A K %88,300,0007T(2018
& AR #50,000,0007T) B9 & % E E F
KT BRI o

FERRITREMERNREEREL A FEE
% o

smanezaz? 203
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31. SHARE CAPITAL 31. A&
Shares Bz 15
Nominal
value of
HKDO.01
each
Number of SREE
ordinary 0.01 & T
shares HK'000
ZEREB TFETT
Authorised: EIE
At 1 January 2019 and MR2019F1 1B K
31 December 2019 2019912 A31H 8,000,000,000 80,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRHBE
At 31 December 2017 and MR2017F 128318 X
1 January 2018 201841 A 1H 802,606,000 8,026
Shares issued BT 8,500,000 85
At 31 December 2018 and R2018F 12 A31H X
1 January 2019 201941 A1H 811,106,000 8,111
Shares issued (note (a)) B a7 D (FiFE @) 6,516,000 65
At 31 December 2019 M2019%12H31H 817,622,000 8,176
2019 2018
2019 F 2018 4F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARETIT
Issued and fully paid: BEITMRER
Ordinary shares L imA
At 1 January ®1A1H 6,689 6,619
Shares issued B TS 56 70
At 31 December M12A31H 6,745 6,689
(@)  During the year 2019, 6,516,000 shares were issued and (@ 2019F W - WRIERD ZENEH B (K =E

granted to the eligible employees under the share

award scheme (note 32) at nil consideration. M TFEERES -

204 ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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32. SHARE OPTION AND SHARE AWARD
SCHEME

The Company — Pre-IPO share option scheme

32. BRERKRG RS

ART—BRARMBERNBREST
£l

BXARABERIERETS ([5H8]]) iR E
NN B A2015F4 8208 % 201547 A 10
HiFRBEDR RN UAREENESE R
AEREEBRERBABERN iR
20204 A20H K 202057 A10E Hijm o
BIEFTE ARRESSERERTESER
AEREERERE FZEALTRBEAQT
B3 ©

The Pre-IPO share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was
adopted pursuant to the resolutions passed by the Company
on 20 April 2015 and 10 July 2015 for the purposes of
providing incentives to directors and eligible employees of
the Group, and will expire on 20 April 2020 and 10 July 2020
respectively. Under the Scheme, the board of directors of the
Company is authorised to grant options to the directors and
eligible employees to subscribe for shares in the Company.

RBET IR BRI BT -

Details of the share options granted under the Scheme are as

follows:
Category of Exercise price
grantees Date of grant per share Vesting period Exercisable period
AERAER R AH BRITEE BEH AFTEAH
Directors 20 April 2015 HKD1.72 20 April 2015-29 June 2016 30 June 2016-20 April 2020
5= 20154 A20R 17287 2015F 4 208 E2016F 6 4298 20166 A30HE 202064 A 20H
20 April 2015-29 June 2017 30 June 2017-20 April 2020
2015F 4 A20BE2017F 6 4298 20176 A30HE 202064201
20 April 2015-29 June 2018 30 June 2018-20 April 2020
2015F 4 208 E2018F 6 A29H 20184 6 A30HE 202064 A 20H
Employees 20 April 2015 HKD1.72 20 April 2015-29 June 2016 30 June 2016-20 April 2020
BB 20154 208 17287 201554 B208E2016%F 6 A29H 2016F 6 A30BZE2020F4 A20H
20 April 2015-29 June 2017 30 June 2017-20 April 2020
201554 82082201746 A29H 20176 B30BZE2020F4 A20H
20 April 2015-29 June 2018 30 June 2018-20 April 2020
20154 B208E2018%F 6 A29H 2018 6 A30BZE 20204 A20H
10 July 2015 HKD1.72 10 July 2015-29 June 2016 30 June 2016-10 July 2020
201547 R 10R8 17287 20157 A10BE2016F 6 A 298 20166 A30HE 202067 A10H

In 2019, the Group recognised no expense in relation to the
above share options (2018: credit of RMB135,000).

10 July 2015-29 June 2017
20157 A10BE2017 56 A29H
10 July 2015-29 June 2018
201557 B10BZ 20186 A29H

30 June 2017-10 July 2020
20176 A30BE2020%67 A10H
30 June 2018-10 July 2020
2018 6 H30BE 202067 A10H

MR20194F - AN B 3t L B IR i e o7 R

¥ (20184 : X AR¥135,0007T) °

FRIAREEERAF
2019 F 3R
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32. SHARE OPTION AND SHARE AWARD 32. BRERKRDERE ()
SCHEME (Continued)
The Company — Pre-IPO share option scheme ARQE—HR DB EERERES
(Continued) 2| (&)
No share options were exercised in 2019. At the end of the 2019 FE BB IR EITE o NIREHIKR » 51
reporting period, 41,045,723 share options under the Scheme EITE T H9 41,045,723 0 BEIREE 3R
have lapsed and the Company had 38,954,277 share options RIEETE] - AN B1F 38,954,277 10 M RA1TE
outstanding under the Scheme, which represented RIRERZHE - MENZAARARBEEITRDL
approximately 4.76% of the Company'’s shares in issue as at 476% o BIBAR RN ARG ERERE - BEAT
that date. The exercise in full of the outstanding share options FERARTHEEBRESEB AR AFEINETT
would under the present capital structure of the Company, 38,954,277 B& & B AL - HIBR AR (D B 1T S Al
result in the issue of 38,954,277 additional ordinary shares of Z IR TS R AARE B #967,001,0007% T (48
the Company for total cash proceeds of approximately BN ARM60,018,0007T) ©
HKD67,001,000 (equivalent to RMB60,018,000) before share
issue expenses.
The following share options were outstanding under the Pre- AT AFEARERARESAERETSE
IPO share option scheme during the year: TARITEEE R ARAE
2019 2018
2019 20184
Exercise price Number Exercise price Number
per share of options per share of options
BRTEE  BREHA BRTEE  BREHA
HKD '000 HKD ‘000
BT T4 BIT T1n
At 1 January R1A1H 1.72 38,954 172 39,655
Forfeited during the year FRIRI 1.72 - 1.72 (701)
At 31 December R®12A31H 1.72 38,954 1.72 38,954

The Company — Share award scheme

Pursuant to the written resolution of the board of the
Company passed on 15 January 2019, the Company issued
and granted an aggregate of 6,516,000 new shares to 14
eligible employees of the Group as incentives or rewards for
their contribution to the Group at nil consideration. During
2019, 6,516,000 additional ordinary shares of the Company
were issued under the scheme at nil consideration.
Accordingly, the Group recognised share-based payment
expenses of RMB4,713,000 for the year ended 31 December
2019.

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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BIE2019F1AISHEBBNARRESS
EERZER  ARREEREREFHTEED
A 36,516,000 ¥ D T AEE 1486 E
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33. RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements

there in are presented in the consolidated statement of

changes in equity.

(a)

Statutory reserves

In accordance with the PRC Company Law and the PRC
subsidiaries’ articles of association, each subsidiary
registered in the PRC as a domestic company is
required to appropriate 10% of its annual statutory net
profit as determined under generally accepted
accounting principles of The People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC GAAP") after offsetting any prior years' losses
to the statutory surplus reserve. When the balance of
this reserve fund reaches 50% of the entity’s capital, any
further appropriation is optional. The statutory reserve
can be utilised to offset prior years' losses or to increase
capital. However, the balance of the statutory surplus
reserve must be maintained at a minimum of 25% of the
capital after these usages.

Other reserve

The amount represented the contribution from Mr. Liu
Jian, the controlling shareholder and director of the
Company, through transferring his 40% equity interest
in Guangdong Zhong Ao, a subsidiary of the Company,
to Mr. Long Weimin and Mr. Liang Bing, both being
directors of the Company and employees of
Guangdong Zhong Ao in 2011.

BB
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33. fd#fE

AEERBENSRLEEINGEEAED
REF

(a) EERME
BRABRARERTBENEQFAE
BERE SRETHREL/INEART
H P 8 2~ R 2B S B A RDR RE 3 B (40
REARKMBEAR S RAN(+ E
SRR FEE) (R EMEFES
BR)MI0%EEEETERMRFE - It
EEREEREARNS0%E - B
BB IEL E < JRTE R B IEL
HEFBEIIBRER - A AT
BRHEENEBRNZFRARRLAR
FERDEERDN25% °

(b) HfttfEME

HZBREEARRERBRRFESTRZ
EER2MNM FEBARNARESTER
RTREERRREERRERLE
FEENARAIME QR ERP EAL0%
IRIEFTELE -

FRIRKREFIRD T
20195 5]
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33. RESERVES (Continued)

(c)

Special reserve

Special reserve mainly represent:(i) capital contribution
amounting to RMB258,000 by Mr. Liu Jian and non-
controlling equity holders for the transfer of 75% and
25% equity interests in EMNEBHE SRR ER A A
("Guangzhou Maiyue”) to the Group in April 2015
through structured contracts at nil considerations; (ii)
further capital contribution to Guangzhou Maiyue made
by Mr. Liu Jian amounting to RMB750,000 in 2015; (iii)
the obligation in relation to the acquisition of the
remaining 30% equity interests in Zhejiang Yongcheng
recognised in the amount of RMB80,630,000 but
decreased by RMB53,137,000 due to further acquisition
of the 7.5%, 7.5% and 7.5% equity interests in Zhejiang
Yongcheng at 26 July 2017, 22 June 2018 and 3 July
2019, respectively; (iv) additional interests in EM | {5
BRHE AR 2AF("Guangzhou Daojia”) acquired by the
Group from a non-controlling equity holder in 2016,
with the difference between the consideration paid and
the additional share of net assets in Guangzhou Daojia
as acquired by the Group amounting to RMB4,000
being transferred to special reserve; and (v) additional
interests acquired by the Group in 2018 in Ningbo
Yongdu from a non-controlling equity holder. The
difference between the consideration paid and the
additional share of net assets in Ningbo Yongdu
amounted to RMB376,000 and was transferred to special
reserve.

34. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY WITH
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS

Details of the Group's subsidiary that has material non-

33. @#E®)

(c)

Rl R

AR HEEZIE() 201594 A 8%
EREERERSEABBEBIES
HE(E T E AR 258,000 7T © AR
EEEEEMNBBEEBREERAA
([EMN B |)75% K 25% A% #E : (i))2015
FRREELERAEMNBEREIEARE
750,0007T : (jii) WEFR A A MR B AT T K B
#2T 30% B B9 B 1 A R # 80,630,000
7T R ER2017F7 A26H % 20184F 6
A22H X%2019%7 38 5 5B Y E
T KA 7.5% ~ 7.5% %2 7.5% R HE T 36
> NR#53,137,0007T ¢ (iv)FA2016%F -
REER—BIFERESEA ARE
BMEIREBEREAR AR (EME
R B EIMER - ENSNREEEINE
RMBEEFENANEE TR
f& 19 2 fE A Z= 58 A R ¥ 4,000 7T B 85 5
ERRIFEE RV2018FEAREEE —
HIEERRAE 2 35 A A MR B R K AR Y
BIMER - BRREEE R KEE R
BEFEEIMNOD 2 HANEEAR
¥ 376,000 L B E B = 4B R o

4. FEEARFEREBNRIHES
Ff B 2 B

AREBERRAEAFEBER NN ERRFE

controlling interests are set out below: FHY R -
Note 2019 2018
B 5E 2019 F 2018 4F
Percentage of equity interest held by JE¥% A& 42 25 FT 3 A e
non-controlling interests: B -
Zhejiang Yongcheng ) pARINDY (a) 7.5% 15%
Huihuang Property 1R E 35 49% =
Huihuang Real Estate VR IE i E 35 49% =
Suzhou House Construction EFIMNEE 35 34% =
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M. FEERFERESNRIES

MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING B B~ 8] ()
INTERESTS (Continued)
(@)  In 2019, the Group further acquired 7.5% equity interests (@) M2019F » REEE—FSUE NIk

in Zhejiang Yongcheng. Since the Group did not have
present ownership interests in the 7.5% equity interests

in Zhejiang Yongcheng before the non-controlling

equity holders exercised the buy-out option, the Group

recorded the 7.5% equity interests in Zhejiang

FX7.5% B - IR SFEERRAE R A A
TTE U RERE AT - 7K 5% B30 8 7O oK

X )7 5% B R BB R as

BALE

ERMBRERPHIFTRESTEA
PR AT T K BB 7.5% B ST 8% 1F IF

Yongcheng owned by the non-controlling equity TR o
holders as the non-controlling interests in the financial
statements.
2019 2018
2019 20184F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARETFT
Profit for the year allocated to DI EFEE AR A FAFE -
non-controlling interests:
Zhejiang Yongcheng DA% 359 4,855 7,707
Huihuang Property IBIEE % 3,466 -
Huihuang Real Estate FEIE P54 2 2,757 -
Suzhou House Construction MR 3,154 =
Decrease in non-controlling interests JEFE RS RE 2R
Zhejiang Yongcheng LKA (21,547) (18,035)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests BN IR ERMARE
Zhejiang Yongcheng ALK, - (676)
Accumulated balances of non-controlling e B BRI AR E R A
interests at the reporting date ZREHERR
Zhejiang Yongcheng ipak 354 18,229 34,931
Huihuang Property PV CREES 5,916 -
Huihuang Real Estate VEIE 2 10,629 -
Suzhou House Construction ERINERE 21,766 -

FRIAREEERAT
2019 F 3k
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34. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY WITH 34.
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS (Continued)

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial TRHBEAE A EERERZNHNB TN
information of subsidiaries that have material non-controlling B EFE B R o

BEEARFEZEREZNTSES
VI NGITE ),

interests.

The amounts disclosed are before any inter-company

P SRR RIS -

210

eliminations:

Zhejiang Huihuang Huihuang Suzhou House
Yongcheng Property ~ Real Estate  Construction
WK BEEX BERME BNERE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
2019 2019% ARBTT ARMTRT ARMTRT ARMTR
Revenue Yzs 416,903 94,798 70,263 100,174
Total expenses Y @ (383,576) (87,724) (64,636) (90,898)
Profit for the year FRFE 33,327 7,074 5,627 9,276
Total comprehensive income for the year FERE2EUBAETE 33,327 7,074 5,627 9,276
Current assets REEE 339,262 45,154 73,484 130,498
Non-current assets FRBEE 200,922 35,981 18,556 4,632
Current liabilities mEaE (253,029) (69,061) (63,987) (70,383)
Non-current liabilities FrBAaE (38,684) - (6,361) (729)
Net cash flows from/(used in) mEEHE/ (TR Rt
operating activities mERR (4,708) (1,328) 9,467 67,858
Net cash flows from/(used in) REEHNE/(F1E)Hs
investing activities MEFE (2,860) (1,111) (2,307) (553)
Net cash flows from/(used in) BEEBHE/(FA)BE
financing activities mE R 15,903 - (3,387) (91)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash BeRBALZEBMEN/
and cash equivalents (RD) 28 8,335 (2,439) 3,773 67,214

ANNUAL REPORT 2019
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34. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY WITH 4. BEERFIEREZNX O BEE
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING LI NGINE ),
INTERESTS (Continued)

Zhejiang

Yongcheng

AKX

RMB'000

2018 20185 ARETTT
Revenue g 367,607

Total expenses X a8 (330,115)
Profit and total comprehensive income for the year FAFBERZERALSE 37,492
Current assets MENEE 241,861
Non-current assets FRBEE 203,538
Current liabilities mEaE (192,959)
Non-current liabilities ElnE =R (19,125)
Net cash flows from operating activities RETHMERENEFE 26,554
Net cash flows used in investing activities RETHMARENEFE (107)
Net cash flows used in financing activities BB SRR RS FE (7,966)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents RekBeEBYEMEE 18,481
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35. BUSINESS COMBINATION 35. #8106t

The major acquisitions of subsidiaries accounted for as
business combinations not under common control are set out
as follows:

In January 2019, the Group acquired 60% equity interests in
R i S E AR S FETLREABR AT (“Ming-King-City")
from an mdependent third party. Ming-King-City is engaged
in the provision of landscaping design and construction
services. The acquisition was made as part of the Group's
strategy to expand its market share of property management
operation in the PRC. The purchase consideration for the
acquisition was in the form of cash, with RMB5,000,000 paid in
February 2019 (subject to adjustment) and no more than
RMB4,000,000 payable by the Group in cash upon satisfaction
of the certain conditions.

In April 2019, the Group acquired 51% equity interests of real
estate agency business in EFEEEE XA ARBER DA
( Hwhuang Property”) and EFEEIEFEEZ ARG EEBR
A 7] ("Huihuang Real Estate”) from an independent third
party. Huihuang Property and Huihuang Real Estate are
engaged in the provision of real estate agency services. The
acquisition was made as part of the Group's strategy to
expand its market share of property management operation
in the PRC. The aggregate purchase consideration was in the
form of cash, with RMB30,000,000 paid in May 2019 (subject
to adjustment) and no more than RMB70,000,000 payable by
the Group in cash upon satisfaction of the certain conditions.

In April 2019, the Group completed the capital injection to &k
MNIXBEEREWHEERABMBRAA (“Suzhou House
Construction”) in a total amount of RMB56,300,000. Upon
completion, Suzhou House Construction became a
66%-owned subsidiary of the Group. Suzhou House
Construction is a company established in the PRC with limited
liability which is principally engaged in the provision of
property management service. The acquisition was made as
part of the Group's strategy to expand its market share of
property management operation in the PRC. The purchase
consideration for the acquisition was in the form of cash and
was fully paid in June 2019.

In September 2019, the Group completed the capital injection
to FEMAPRBEYERBER LR (“Guilin Zhongao Hengxin
Property”) in a total amount of RMB2,882,188. Upon
completion, Guilin Zhongao Hengxin Property became a
60%-owned subsidiary of the Group. Guilin Zhongao Hengxin
Property is a company established in the PRC with limited
liability which is principally engaged in the provision of
property management service. The acquisition was made as
part of the Group’s strategy to expand its market share of
property management operation in the PRC. The purchase
consideration for the acquisition was in the form of cash, with
RMB 1,000,000 paid in December 2019 (subject to adjustment)
and no more than RMB1,882,188 payable by the Group in
cash upon satisfaction of the certain conditions.
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35. BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued) 35. ¥ 56t
The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of all BT U B B BT S B /B A B AU BE B BA RS 1] 54 Bl
the subsidiaries acquired as at the date of acquisition were as BEEBENAFEET :
follows:
Huihuang
Property and Suzhou Other
Huihuang House acquired
Real Estate Construction  subsidiaries Total
BEBXR Hitks
BERGE BNEE HEAR Bt
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

Mt ARETT ARETR AR®TR ARETR

Property and equipment EYE 14 12,747 402 410 13,559
Right-of-use assets FRESE 16 42,267 = = 42,267
Payments for acquisition WEMRNH

of properties 4,980 = = 4,980
Other intangible assets HmpEE 21 8,847 3,670 = 12,517
Long-term deposits REEX 1,982 = = 1,982
Deferred tax assets EEFREEE 22 6,813 1,786 1,687 10,286
Investments in an associates R R AIRE - 447 - 447
Inventories 7E 146 = = 146
Trade and bills receivables BHRKFERERRE 69,993 14,283 16,978 101,254
Prepayments, deposits and ANHE  &e K

other receivables H b FIE 42,596 63,417 4,661 110,674
Contract assets BHEE = = 5,499 5,499
Financial assets at fair value BATEFAEREN

through profit or loss TREE 2,482 = = 2,482
Cash and cash equivalents HeRELEED 14,387 48,471 5,225 68,083
Trade payables B HENTR (12,162) (910) (22,661) (35,733)
Other payables and accruals HENTERELER (89,744) (75,925) (7,823) (173,492)
Interest-bearing bank and TRRTREMER

other borrowings (30,250 = = (30,250
Lease liabilities HEaE 16 (40,195) = = (40,195)
Deferred tax liabilities EERBEEE 22 (2,022) (900) = (2.922)
Tax payables FERTHIE 9,322) = = 9,322)
Total identifiable net assets BATETEMNA R

at fair value BEFERR 23,545 54,741 3976 82,262
Non-controlling interests FE AR (10,321) (18,612) (1,589) (30,522
Goodwill on acquisition gz me 17 68,776 20171 7,193 96,140

82,000 56,300 9,580 147,880
Satisfied: VAN ESIE
Other payables Hih R 52,000 = 3,580 55,580
Cash Be 30,000 56,300 6,000 92,300
82,000 56,300 9,580 147,880
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35. BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued) 35. ¥ &6t
The fair values of the trade receivables, prepayments and B FEWRTE « FafT I8 & H A pE W s E R
other receivables as at the date of acquisition amounted to W BB A FE D B A AR 101,254,000
RMB101,254,000 and RMB110,674,000, respectively. The gross TR ARM110,674,0007T - Z 5 U KA
contractual amounts of trade receivables and other REMEWZRIENES NS EI I ABARE
receivables were RMB113,149,000 and RMB 118,445,000, 113,149,000 7T K2 A K ¥ 118,445,000 7T » E
respectively, of which trade receivables of RMB11,895,000 and & 5 eI E A R 11,895,000 7T M 8 1+
prepayments and other receivables of RMB7,771,000 are SRIB K H e W sk IB A R #7,771,000 7T 78
expected to be uncollectible. FHRATURE] o
An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of BRAWENRBATINRE SR ET ¢
subsidiaries is as follows:
RMB'000
AREFTT
Cash consideration HeRE (92,300)
Cash and bank balances acquired EWEEIR & RIRTTAER 68,083
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents included in & /EHE S RBIER T N
cash flows from investing activities REFEWF R (24,217)
Transaction costs of the acquisition included in RETHEANRESREE
cash flows from operating activities R 5 R AR (1,646)
(25,863)

The Group incurred transaction costs of RMB1,646,000 for this
acquisition. These transaction costs have been expensed and
included in administrative expenses in the condensed
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

None of the goodwill recognised is expected to be
deductible for income tax purposes.

Since the acquisition, Huihuang Property and Huihuang Real
Estate contributed RMB185,913,000 in total to the Group’s
revenue and RMB20,264,000 in total to the consolidated profit
for the year ended 31 December 2019. Suzhou House
Construction contributed RMB100,174,000 to the Group's
revenue and RMB9,790,000 in total to the consolidated profit
for the year ended 31 December 2019. Other acquired
subsidiaries contributed RMB94,680,000 in total to the
Group's revenue and RMB4,351,000 in total to the
consolidated profit for the year ended 31 December 2019.
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36. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY 36. HE—ZXKMIEB AT
2019 2018
2019 F 20184F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®TRT ARBTT

Net assets disposed of: HEEEFE
Property, plant and equipment Y - BEREE - 3,456
Cash and bank balances W& RIRTTEEER - 120
Prepayments and other receivables Faf A R E A UK IR - 1,351
Trade payables B S RNIE - (1,626)
Accruals and other payables FEETE R & B fth FE ST /1B - (2,887)
Non-controlling interests IR R - (203)
- 211
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HeE—XFBATHUE - 299
- 510
Satisfied by: BATAAZA :
Other receivables H b FEURIE - 20
Investment in an associate R—FKEZ A aRE - 490
- 510
An analysis of the net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in FAHE—FRMBAR 2R RAEEEY
respect of the disposal of a subsidiary is as follows: B RO
2019 2018
2019 4 2018 F
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR®T ARETFT
Cash consideration ReRE - =
Cash and bank balances disposed of EHERE KBS HEHR - (120)
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents AL E—ZXHEBRARH
in respect of the disposal of a subsidiary ReRBREeEBYRLFE - (120)
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37. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a)

216

Major non-cash transactions

During the year, the carrying amounts of trade and bills
receivables and prepayments and other receivables
amounting to RMB1,321,000 (2018: RMB840,000) were
offset as payments for acquisition of properties and
payments of RMB311,000 (2018: RMB6,874,000) for
acquisition of properties were transferred to investment
properties and an amount of RMB4,670,000 has been
transferred to property and equipment which did not

37. GREBERERME

(a) EBFBEERSH

FR-EHERFTERERZRIAR
B AR E MR FIENREEA
K #1,321,0007C (20184 : A B ¥
840,0007T) EEBWEEM XN KT
LAIKSES - BEARE311,0007T(2018
F: ANR#6,874,0007T) WEWMER
NHREEEEREWE ARK
4670000 TS D EREWENRE

PASY =&

result in any cash flow. MAELEERRE RS ©
Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) BMERBMELAEENS
activities
Interest-
bearing
Lease bank Other
liabilities  borrowings payable
s EIRIT Hit
HEAE EEN FEAS KR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETET
At 31 December 2018 R20185F 12 H31 H - 111,841 39,875
Effect of adoption of HKFRS 16 R 487 i B 75 # &5 £ 2
1,637 - -
At 1 January 2019 R2019%F1 518 1,637 111,841 39,875
Changes from financing MEREREMESE
cash flows (8,904) (17,488) (22,500)
New leases 14,363 = =
Increase arising for acquisition U BE B 8 A =) i 1 N
of subsidiaries = = 53,698
Increase arising from acquisition [ U B R & A &) i hn
of subsidiaries (note 35) 40,195 30,250 =
Foreign exchange realignment - (533) -
Interest expense (note 8) MBS (BIES) 4,050 6,465 10,203
Fair value adjustment of
contingent consideration - - 174
Interest paid classified as
operating cash flows (4,050) = =
At 31 December 2019 M2019612 A31H 47,291 130,535 81,450

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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37. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 37. REHERERNT @
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing b) BMETBMELEEENESH @)
activities (Continued)
Interest
bearing
bank Other
borrowings payable
FHERTT B
(B FERTFRIE
RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTIT ARETET

At 1 January 2018 20181 H1H 100,969 65,439
Changes from financing cash flows MEREMEMELE (23,314) (22,500)
Increase arising from acquisition Lr i BT 8 /1 ) 72 A 3 0
of subsidiaries 30,000 =
Foreign exchange realignment HINGEE B EE 711) -
Interest expense (note 8) MEFRXZ (H3E8) 4,897 (3,064)
At 31 December 2018 M2018%F 12 H31H 111,841 39,875
(c) Total cash outflow for leases (c) HERSRHAE
The total cash outflow for leases included in the FARERERANEER 2T HR
statement of cash flows is as follows: BT -
2019
2019 %
RMB’'000
ARETR
Within operating activities REFBAN 577
Within financing activities MEEHNRN 11,504
12,081
38. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 38. WREE
The Group had no material contingent liabilities as of 31 R2019F 12 A31H » AEBIWEE KRR
December 2019 (2018:Nil). BEQ0184F : £) -
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39. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following capital commitments at the end

of the reporting period:

39. EXREIE
RIBEFK  AEEEU TERRE -

31 December

31 December

2019 2018
2019 % 2018 4F
12A31H 128318
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
PitEE AR®T T ARETT

Contracted, but not provided for: BETA - BRI ¢
Acquisition of property and equipment  YEEYI % MR E & 2,719 1,620

and leasehold improvements HEMERE

Acquisition of a subsidiary W iE — KB A A (@) 68,000 30,000
70,719 31,620

218

In December 2019, the Group entered into an
agreement with of the equity holder of ER & & 1F LR
ZREBMR AT ("Guangdong Jin Dun Zheng An
Security”), pursuant to which the Group agreed to
acquire 60% equity interest in Guangdong Jin Dun
Zheng An Security Services Company Limited at an
aggregate consideration of RMB68,000,000 payable in
cash (subject to adjustment).

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
BALANCES

(a) Related party transaction

A non-controlling equity holder of a subsidiary of the
Company provided a corporate guarantee in respect of
certain bank loans granted to the Group up to
RMB5,000,000 (2018: RMB30,000,000) at nil
consideration as at 31 December 2019 (note 30).

(b) Compensation to key management
personnel

The remuneration of key management personnel during
the year was as follows:

BB
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40. BB AR5 K&tk

(a)

BB 5

AAE—EHEB AR IEERERF
BAB2019F12A3MBEERTA
EEMNETRTEREZARE
5,000,000 70 (2018 4F : AR # 30,000,000
TO) IR AR (FI5E30) ©

BTEIEEEASHNMME

FRAEEEEABNHMOT

2019 2018
2019 & 2018 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥TRT ARBTRT

Short-term employee benefits HEEEF 16,372 19,700
Post-employment benefits BERR 12 2 A 90 117
Share-based payments A& 15 5% 396 611

16,858 20,428

The remuneration of key management personnel is
determined by reference to the performance of
individuals and market trend.

TREEABNHFMIIREAARER
MEBBETE -

smannman 219
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY  41.

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting year are as follows:

31 December 2019

Financial assets

SR TR (ZEH)
SEFSMT AR HROETENT -

2019%12H31H

TREE
Financial
Financial assets at
assets at fair value
amortised through
cost profit or loss Total

R SH AR BAYHE

AEE FPAREK
THMEE THMEE #st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR®TRE AR®BTR

Trade and bills receivables B 5 e WA K e R E %

(note 23) (Bt 23) 332,260 - 332,260
Financial assets at fair value BATFEFAEZTZH

through profit or loss (note 26) A E (FizE26) - 2,536 2,536
Cash and cash equivalents (note 27) ¥4 NMIREZEEY (H:E27) 458,000 - 458,000
Financial assets included in T AT FRIE K& E A FE UK

prepayments and other receivables  FXIBH & R EE

(note 24) (PtzE24) 221,087 - 221,087
Long-term deposits REIFR 4,984 - 4,984

1,016,331 2,536 1,018,867
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. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 41. €@ T B (3R®EE) (&)

(Continued)
Financial liabilities e =
Financial
Financial liabilities at
liabilities at fair value
amortised through
cost profit or loss Total
REBHEE RAFEFA
TEH BEH
tREE cRIBE HE
RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBT T ARBTF T
Financial liabilities included in ST AH M ER A R EET
other payables and accruals ERNeMBE
(note 29) (PfEE29) 476,140 - 476,140
Interest-bearing bank and sTESRITREMER
other borrowings (note 30) (Bt3£30) 177,826 - 177,826
Other long-term payables E R AR FUB 38,429 1,870 40,299
Trade payables (note 28) B 5 M 5kIE (Mf3E28) 136,890 - 136,890
Other Payables for Option H A HA M JE <P 3008
(note 29) (FF5E29) - 22,500 22,500
829,285 24,370 853,655
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 41. €®m T B (3R¥ER|) (&)

(Continued)
31 December 2018 20184 12 A 31H
Financial assets EREE
Financial
assets at
amortised
cost Total
bive S IDIN
STER
TRIEE st
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTIT ARETIT
Trade and bills receivables (note 23) B 5 e FRIA K e W ZE IR (BT 7E 23) 207,826 207,826
Cash and cash equivalents (note 27) Re MRS EEY (HFE27) 415,795 415,795
Financial assets included in prepayment ST AFETFRIE K H A R R IE A
and other receivables (note 24) SREE (HiE24) 140,753 140,753
Long-term deposits RHEFER 997 997
765,371 765,371
Financial liabilities EHAaE
Financial
Financial liabilities at
liabilities at fair value
amortised through
cost  profit or loss Total
REERA EAFERA
FTER bi=Enls)
THAE TRAE #aT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T AREFIT ARETT
Financial liabilities included in ST AH b FE S 5RIE K FEET
other payables and accruals ERNTRAE
(note 29) (Bt 29) 311,711 — 311,711
Interest-bearing bank and FHEIRIT M EMERK
other borrowings (note 30) (PfF5E30) 111,841 = 111,841
Other long-term payables HAth R BT FRIR - 18,460 18,460
Trade payables (note 28) B 5 e kI8 (M5 28) 47,687 = 47,687
Other Payables for Option E b HA#E PR FOE
(note 29) (FF5E29) = 21,415 21,415
471,239 39,875 511,114
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42. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 42. €T EWAFERAFREBEER
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group's financial REEEEEAFEAERBEN SR I AN
instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that AEBeRMTANKREBERAFERAT :

reasonably approximate to fair values, are as follows:

Carrying amounts Fair values
fREE AY¥E
2019 2018 2019 2018

20195 20185 20195 20184
RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETRT ARETT ARETR ARETR

Financial assets CHEE
Financial assets at fair value through profit A FEF ABRZ

or loss TREE 2,536 - 2,536 -
Financial liabilities SRAE
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 5T BR7T R E B 69,535 61,841 70,559 58,760
Other long-term payables Hit RHEIENTKIB 40,299 18,460 48,500 18,460
Other Payables for Option H fth HARE FE (T F00R 22,500 21,415 22,500 21,415
Amounts due to non-controlling equity FERIFR B A R FEE AR 2=

holders of subsidiaries BB ARE 18,651 = 19,666 =

150,985 101,716 161,225 98,635
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42. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 42. €T EWAFERAFEER

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss was based on expected return rate.

The fair values of the non-current portion of interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings, financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, financial assets included in
prepayments and other receivables, lease liabilities, amounts
due to non-controlling equity holders of a subsidiary, and
other long-term payables have been calculated by
discounting the expected future cash flows using rates
currently available for instruments with similar terms, credit
risk and remaining maturities. The Group’s own non-
performance risk for interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings and other long-term payables as at 31 December
2019 was assessed to be insignificant.

Management has assessed that the fair values of non-current
portion of interest-bearing bank and other borrowings,
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, financial
assets included in prepayments and other receivables, lease
liabilities, amounts due to non-controlling equity holders of a
subsidiary, and other long-term payables approximate to
their carrying amounts largely due to the fact that these
borrowings are made between the Group and independent
third-party financial institutions or related companies based
on prevailing market interest rates.

Except for non-current portion of interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings, financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss, financial assets included in prepayments and other
receivables, lease liabilities, amounts due to non-controlling
equity holders of a subsidiary, and other long-term payables,
management has also assessed that the fair values of the
Group's other financial instruments approximate to their
carrying amounts largely due to the short term maturities of
these instruments.
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OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The Group’s management is responsible for determining the
policies and procedures for the fair value measurement of
financial instruments. The Group’s management reports
directly to the board of directors. At each reporting date, the
Group’s management analyses the movements in the values
of financial instruments and determines the major inputs
applied in the valuation. The valuation process and results are
discussed with the board of directors once a year for annual
financial reporting.

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to the
valuation of financial instruments together with a quantitative
sensitivity analysis as at 31 December 2019 and 31 December

BB
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42. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 42. €T EWAFERAFEESR

(%)

rEBEEERABESRTARFENE
MBRNER AEEEREEEERNERES
WE -REBEEH AREEEESOM
TRTANEEZEHUETHETERNE
RHAME UBF-REEZSRFERM
BHBRNmAERF AR -

UWTARSR T EGHEMNEXRTAEREA
BB EER N 20194 12 A 31 H & 20184
12 A31 HN2{LBURRE DT ¢

2018:
Valuation Significant
technique unobservable input Range Sensitivity of fair value to the input
EER% EXRTEZERARE €E AVEHBAENSBE
Financial assets at Monte Carlo  Discount rate 14.00%-15.00% 1% increase/decrease in discount rate
fair value through simulation would result in a decrease/increase in
profit or loss method fair value by RMB47,131/RMB140,403
RATE B SERE T3k 1400%-1500%  BEBREHEN, WA 1% HERRTE
HEMEE REHER B/ EMARE 471318/
AR 140,403 7T
Other payables Uniform Volatility of forecasted 2019: 1% increase/decrease in forecasted
simulation profit of the target 1.26%-3.53% profit of the target company would
company (2018: result in a decrease/increase in
1.28%-3.56%) fair value by RMB250,000
(2018: RMB178,000)
H B H0R 1R SR EINGINEN R 20194 B2 R M FEREME N
HK IR 1.26%-3.53% /R 1% KBHAFERD
(20184 /¥ I AR ¥ 250,000 70

Discount rate

ks

1.28%-3.56%)

2019:
15.00%-16.00%
(2018
15.00%-16.00%)

20194 :
15.00%-16.00%
(20184 :
15.00%-16.00%)

(20184 + AR#178,0007T)

1% increase/decrease in discount rate
would result in an increase/decrease in
fair value by RMB870,000
(2018: RMB748,000)

BRI, 1% BERAFE
£,/ 8 AR 870,000 7T
(20184 : AR#748,0007T)

FRIAREEERAF
2019 F 3R
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42. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 42,
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value

As at 31 December 2019

EMIENAFERAIFEHER

(%)

NFEEBR

TREPAAEESHIANATEAERE

A&

BAVESNENEE
R2019512A31H

Fair value measurement using

ERNT BB AFEE

Quoted

prices in Significant  Significant

active  observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

ERME  EATHE BEATTER

HERE WABE WABE
(%—18) (%=58) (B=FE) st
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR AR%®TnR AR%®Tn AR%Txn

Financial assets at fair value BAFEFABRER

through profit or loss TREE - - 2,536 2,536

The Group did not have any financial assets measured at fair
value as at 31 December 2018.
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42. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 42,
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)
Liabilities measured at fair value:

As at 31 December 2019

B HS R 3R Y =T
31 December 2019 7220194 12 A 31 H

EMITENAFERAIFEHER

(#&)
NEEERE)
BRAFEFTENERE
®2019%12H31H

Fair value measurement using

EAUTBENAVETE

Quoted
prices in
active
markets
(Level 1)
SEET S
HiRE
(%—-18)
RMB’000
AR¥TR

Significant  Significant

observable unobservable
inputs inputs
(Level 2) (Level 3) Total

EAUHRE EATTHE
WARE WARE
(=) (£=8) @t

Other long-term payables H At REAE 508 -
Other Payables for Option Hot HA e e 9 FKIR
(note 29) (M13E29) -

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTRE ARBTR ARETR
- 1,870 1,870

- 22,500 22,500

As at 31 December 2018

MR2018%12 A 31 H

Fair value measurement using

ERATHENAFENE

Quoted
prices in
active
markets
(Level 1)
T 5
(B
(5—E)
RMB'000
ARBTT

Significant Significant

observable unobservable

inputs inputs
(Level 2) (Level 3) Total

BEARER BEATATEE
BARE BARUR
(B=FE) (F=F) -

Other Payables for Option Hot HARE e 9 R IR -
Other long-term payables H At R EAE R RIR =

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBETT ARBTT ARETR
= 21,415 21,415

- 18,460 18,460

During the year ended 31 December 2019 and the year ended
31 December 2018, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers
into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial
liabilities (the year ended 31 December 2018: Nil).

REZE2019F 12 A31 HIEFE REZE 2018
FN2ANBLEEE  F—EBHREF_ER
ZETEQNFEASNER  TESCHEE
FematBAFZ=BRASINE=BHEL
(BZE2018F 12 A31BILFEE - &) o
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42. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 42. ¢ T AN AFTERAFERER

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) (=)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued) NEEERE)
Assets for which fair values are disclosed: BERBEATFENEE :
As at 31 December 2019 M2019%12H31H

Fair value measurement using
ERAUTBENALEHE
Quoted

prices in Significant  Significant

active  observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

SERMS  EATHR EAFTEE

HRE WARE BWAYE
(5—F8) (B=f8) (B=F8) met
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARMTFT AR®BTR AR¥TRT AR%¥TR

Financial assets at fair value through 1R A F(EH A B

profit or loss CREE - - 2,536 2,536
Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed: EEEAFENEE :
As at 31 December 2019 mzo»]qqgolzﬁ 318

Fair value measurement using
ERATREHATFETE
Quoted

pricesin  Significant  Significant

active  observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

ERME  EATERE EARUEE

HRE BARE WARE
(B-F) (=) (B=E) st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARWMTR AR®BTR ARWTR

Interest-bearing bank and AT RIRTTREMER
other borrowings - 70,559 - 70,559
Other long-term payables Hib REBEN Z0E - 46,630 1,870 48,500
Other Payables for Option H fth B RE E (5 5K 0E - - 22,500 22,500
Amounts due to non-controlling ARIRIENGIE 2290
equity holders of subsidiaries Emisa AFIE - 19,666 - 19,666
- 136,855 24,370 161,225
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42. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 42. 4T AN AFTERAFEREBR

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) (&)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) NEEER &)
As at 31 December 2018 2018412 A31H

Fair value measurement using

ERATEENAFETE

Quoted
prices in Significant Significant
active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
ERME EAUBRE EATAEE
(B ) A& A\ 2R
(5—E) (F=R) (=) et
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTT ARBTT ARBTLT ARET:R

Interest-bearing bank and FHRRITREMER

other borrowings = 58,760 = 58,760
Other Payables for Option H it B FE (T 5RIR - - 21,415 21,415
Other long-term payables H R EARE 1 FRIE = - 18,460 18,460

- 58,760 39,875 98,635
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 43. cRiEMEEBERBER

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group's financial instruments include financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss, cash and cash equivalents,
financial assets included in prepayment and other receivables,
trade and bills receivables, other payables, interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings and other long-term payable.

The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise
finance for the Group's operations. The Group has various
other financial assets and liabilities such as trade and bills
receivables and trade payables, which arise directly from its
operations.

The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments
are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and
liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees
policies for managing each of these risks and they are
summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group's bank borrowings
set out in note 30.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a
reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other
variables held constant, of the Group's profit before tax
(through the impact on floating rate borrowings).

AEENSRTABREEARAFEFA
BEamemEE R MREFEY A
BENREREGEEKENEREE 5
FEN IR K R RE - HEAFIR - 58
RITREMBREE B RIEMFOR -

ZETHMTANTIRANERAKENLE
E5be ARBRAZREMERMEER
BfE - MERKBEENESRUGIANE
WRERESRENFA

AEEEMTAELANTIERR AN XME
b2 SNERR  EERBRERREBE SRR
EXeRRERYREEELFARNEK
R BRABGRBIEAOT ©

FEER

AR EFR B TSHE S BARE B R
530 A R B RITIE AR -

TEHPEAEA BT LBBTHA LS
SRETENERT - AEEBRBAFE(H
BB EREOTE) HBAE -

Increase/

Increase/ (decrease)
(decrease) in in profit
basis points before tax

B  BREAFE
EFA (TR &,/ (Rd)

RMB'000

AREFTT

For the year ended 31 December 2019 BZE2019F12A31HLFE 50 (369)
(50) 369

For the year ended 31 December 2018 BZE20185F 12 A3 HILFE 50 (350)
(50) 350
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 43. TRIAREEARRBE @)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign currency risk HNES [ Bex
The Group's businesses are located in Mainland China and AEBEBUATRBEAM - BETHHER
nearly all transactions are conducted in RMB. All of the SUARBHET - AEBMEEEREREUNU
Group's assets and liabilities are denominated in RMB, except ARBEE - EBRARRIRE THE QR AT
for those owned by the Company and certain subsidiaries WA EAEZTT B ITTEHERID ©

which are denominated in US dollars and HK dollars.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of TREAPRBEERET LB TEERNEE
the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the AR MAT A HE S HRIEFTEN BN
USD and HKD exchange rates, with all other variables held T AEERBEEFNB(EREKEEREE
constant, of the Group's profit before tax (due to changes in AT EZEFH ML) OERE -

the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities).

Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in (decrease)
USD/HKD in profit
rate before tax
ETHBRT BR AT
= 8
EHCFR) 8 OGFfd)
% RMB’000
ARET T
2019 2019
If the USD weakens against the RMB EXTH AR 10% 616
If the USD strengthens against the RMB EETLHARERE ] (10%) (616)
If the HKD weakens against the RMB BRI H AR EEEESy 10% (2,821)
If the HKD strengthens against the RMB ABTTHAREER (10%) 2,821
2018 2018 4F
If the USD weakens against the RMB BEEITTHAREEGY 10% (1,862)
If the USD strengthens against the RMB BEEITHAREERE (10%) 1,862
If the HKD weakens against the RMB BB TTH AR 10% 2,469
If the HKD strengthens against the RMB ARETTHAREHER (10%) (2,469)
Credit risk =8 =Rk
There are no significant concentrations of credit risk within AEEVESKEEETER BHFHE
the Group. The credit risk of the Group's other financial HEENAEREMEREENEERRE
assets, which comprise cash and cash equivalents, long-term BReRBEEEEY REFER  EFHRK
deposits, trade and bills receivables, other receivables arises FRIE N R R R H A U R IE - BRI R R
from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure NBRAERFNZELANKREE -

equal to the carrying amounts of these instruments.
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 43. TRIREREEERREEK @)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at R2019F 12831 H R KA K
31 December 2019 FRERE D
The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum TRxIYNEEAEEZEHRENEZELSEZEN
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, FrEEHNSAEERR @ i EBELAEEE
which is mainly based on past due information unless other KRkt (BATEEE LKA BN E
information is available without undue cost or effort, and year- SEAERIBRIN) - RF RSN 2019
end staging classification as at 31 December 2019. The F12RINBETHE - M2 SEATR
amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial EEMAEREENMBEZRRESHMHEENE
assets and the exposure to credit risk for the financial BERk -
guarantee contracts.
12-month
ECLs
128 A 7 Lifetime ECLs
FEEE 2HEHEEER
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
PR B2 BEER3 1kt M@t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT AREFT ARETT ARETT ARBTT
Trade receivables* 2 2 e s * = = = 430,236 430,236
Bills receivable** AhES S 1,243 = = = 1,243
Financial assets included AR FER
in prepayments and Ht Uk FIAR)
other receivables SRBE
— Normal** — L@ 258,831 = = = 258,831
— Doubtful** — REE* _ _ _ _ _
Cash and bank balances Be MRTHES 458,000 = = = 458,000
718,074 - - 430,236 1,148,310
* For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified * AN ER B HRUE FE R RS (LA B E S R K

approach for impairment, information based on the provision
matrix is disclosed in note 23 to the financial statements.

**  The credit quality of bills receivables and the financial assets
included in prepayments and other receivables is considered
to be “normal” when they are not past due and there is no
information indicating that the financial assets had a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, the
credit quality of the financial assets is considered to be

“doubtful”.
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at
31 December 2019 (Continued)

There are no significant concentrations of credit risk within
the Group. The credit risk of the Group's other financial
assets, which comprise cash and cash equivalents, long-term
deposits, trade and bills receivables, other receivables, arises
from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure
equal to the carrying amounts of these instruments.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group's exposure to
credit risk arising from trade receivables and financial assets
included in prepayments and other receivables are disclosed in
note 23 and note 24, respectively, to the financial statements.

Liquidity risk
The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of

interest-bearing bank and other borrowings. Cash flows are
closely monitored on an ongoing basis.

The maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities as at the
end of reporting period, based on the contractual
undiscounted payments, was as follows:

43. cRiEMEER

Uy D
31 December 2019 7220194 12 A 31 H
ERBUR ()

R2019F12A3TEMHZE KRE R KR
FREERED (8)

AEBYEBENEEETER FAHFHE
HEENAEEEMESREENERERRE

ERSRALSEY - REEHK - BBEK
B R - RAEREE - BRARR
IR S AN -

L EX L LEEY Ee) EIN -
(TR R LA AR ) o R B 2 A
EEERMOE — ST RHIER B RBRAH
HRR T 23 MR 24 -

RENE & EF

ASE ) B IRR A8 BT REMIE RS

BRI RE

+ 43 2n Y
FEEEER o

AR - BEREBES

AEBRHREMRBIZED T OERITRARK
&R A ERRIBMRNT

On  Lessthan 3to 1to5 Over
demand 3 months 12 months years 5 years Total
PR KES
BREX 38R 1218 A E5F  SEHE At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTRE ARBTRT ARBTR AR®TR AR¥TR AR%®T:R
31 December 2019 2019%12A31H
Interest-bearing bank borrowings & BIRITEF K - 1,762 86,511 49,923 - 138,196
and other borrowings HbfE
Lease Liabilities REAE - 6,129 18,389 22,773 - 47,291
Trade payables BHEMNTUE 136,890 - - - 136,890
Other payables and accruals Hi M ZIER 57,808 399,681 20,000 - - 477,489
BT ER
Other Payables for Option H i B e 508 - - 22,500 - - 22,500
Other Long-term payables Hin R HRERFIE - - - 52,600 - 52,600
57,808 544,462 147,400 125,296 - 874,966

FRIAREEERAT
2019 F 3R
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 43. s RIEREEBEERBE &)

234

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)

MENE & EbsE ()

On Less than 3to 1to5 Over
demand  3months 12 months years 5 years Total
DR 3F
REX 3fEA 12{8A 1256  5%NE Bt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AR%®TT ARETT ARETE ARETRT ARETRT
31 December 2018 2018%12H31H
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 5t & 8/TE = 30,855 42,837 66,061 = 139,753
Trade payables B S REMNFUR = 47 687 = = - 47 687
Other payables and accruals Hip e FIE R 34,229 277,482 = = = 311,711
[EETE A

Other Payables for Option H i B R e 2B = = 22,500 22,500 = 45,000
W29 B4 6533 88561 - 544,151

Capital management BEXREHE

The primary objectives of the Group's capital management
are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust
the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not subject to
any externally imposed capital requirements. No changes
were made in the objectives, policies or processes for
managing capital during the years ended 31 December 2019
and 31 December 2018.

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 43. cRIEREEEERBER @)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
Capital management (Continued) BAREIE (&)
The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net AREBUELERBH REEER - BEH X
debt divided by the adjusted capital plus net debt. Net debt AEEFERUCHAERERNINMEREE - &
includes interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, and ISR AIET BRI REMES  EN—XK
amounts due to non-controlling equity holders of a subsidiary B A TSRS B A FERIR & &
less cash and cash equivalents. Capital includes equity HESEEY - EABIERARES AEGE
attributable to owners of the parent. The gearing ratios as at %o NIBEH R EEBBLENT ¢

the end of the reporting periods were as follows:

2019 2018
2019 F 2018 4F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥TRT ARBTT

Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings &t 2 4R1T R EMER 177,826 111,841
(note 30) (£ 30)
Amounts due to non-controlling equity FER —RITE A AR 2
holders of a subsidiary (note 29) A ARZIE (i 29) 25,602 10,241
Other long-term payables E R HEAFE T 5RIE 40,299 =
Less: Cash and cash equivalents B ReRIReEED (458,000) (415,795)
Net debt BIEFE (214,273) (293,713)
Total equity i et 737,925 605,950
Gearing ratio BEBELE N/A N/A
iE A TEA

AR ess 235
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44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the BRI A TR RS R e B ISR R R &k
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: mF :

44. RN T B EEAROR 3=

31 December 31 December

236

2019 2018
2019 F 2018 £
12H31H 12A31H
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%T ARETIT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property and equipment LEJSE ] 128 109
Investment in a subsidiary R—RE A RIHIRE 163,992 97,930
Due from subsidiaries FEUR B B R Rl FUE 231,716 311,987
Total non-current assets EmMBEELE 395,836 410,026
CURRENT ASSETS mENEE
Prepayments and other receivables TR FRIA f B Ath e R IE 135 1,398
Cash and cash equivalents RERIREEEBY 1,902 30,140
Total current assets MENE EAE 2,037 31,538
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBBEE
Other payables and accruals H T 5RIE R AT B 526 298
Tax payables FERTHIE 3,218 =
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings & B 3R1T R H AL {E K 20,965 20,382
Total current liabilities mEN B BB 24,709 20,680
NET CURRENT (LIABILITIES)/ASSETS e (BB BEEFE (22,672) 10,858
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES @& ERASHEE 373,164 420,884
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES EREBEE
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings &t B SR1T R E Ab1E 5K 21,270 41,459
Total non-current liabilities EREEERRE 21,270 41,459
NET ASSETS BEERE 351,894 379,425

ZHONG AO HOME GROUP LIMITED
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44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 44. XA R EMRRTK (&)
THE COMPANY (Continued)

Information about the statement of financial position of the EBERARRREH RO MR NKNER
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: W (&)
(continued)

31 December 31 December

2019 2018

2019 F 2018 4F
12A31H 12A31H
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥TR AR¥TRT

EQUITY fE=
Share capital (note 31) RS (Bfg3E31) 6,745 6,689
Other reserves (note 33) b A s (PR 5E33) 345,149 372,736
TOTAL EQUITY R 351,894 379,425
Note: MisE -
A summary of the Company's reserves is as follows: AATEEBRENT
Capital Share
Share  redemption option  Accumulated

premium reserve reserve losses Total

RORE EBEXEREEE BRERE RiEE @5t

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT AR®TR AR¥ETRT ARETR

At 1 January 2018 R2018F1 18 439,134 48 19,744 (24,215) 434,711
Loss for the year FREE = = = (33,581) (33,581)
2018 dividend 20184 R E. = = = (33,984) (33,984)
Recognition of equity-settled BRUAEREER

share-based payments PR ER 5,455 = 418 = 5,873
Share options forfeited BRI e = = (283) = (283)
At 31 December 2018 2018512318 K&

and 1 January 2019 2019F1A1R 444,589 48 19,879 (91,780) 372,736
Loss for the year FERER - - - (14,035) (14,035)
2019 dividend 2019 IR & (18,209) - - - (18,209)
Recognition of equity-settled AR EEN

share-based payments B 4,657 - - - 4,657
At 31 December 2019 R201912A31R 431,037 48 19,879 (105,815) 345,149
The share option reserve comprises the fair value of share BRERBLEEREERTEBRENR
options granted which are yet to be exercised, as further EE (W EmERM T 24 FABROHAIROE
explained in the accounting policy for share-based payments STHRFTE— T HE) - 22 BB N EEE
in note 2.4 to the financial statements. The amount will either MRREEITE R AR 5 BRR - SAE RS
be transferred to the share premium account when the PRAER BB B 12 im0 R MBI AR B 7] o

related options are exercised, or be transferred to retained
profits should the related options expire or be forfeited after
the vesting day.

TRARKMERAZ D37
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45. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 45. EHEREE

On 20 December 2019, the Group entered into an acquisition
agreement to purchase 60% of equity interests in Guangdong
Jin Dun Zheng An Security from an independent third party at
a total consideration of RMB68,000,000. Upon completion,
Guangdong Jin Dun Zheng An Security will become a
60%-owned subsidiary of the Company. The Group has paid
the first deposit of approximately RMB5,000,000 for the
change of equity interests of Guangdong Jin Dun Zheng An
Security in February 2020.

On 3 January 2020, the Group entered into the Property
Transfer Agreement with B ILTTIERE RN ERRKREEER
R 2 A] (Foshan City Shunde District Chencun Town Kangying
Investment Management Company Limited), a company
established in the PRC with limited liability, as the Vendor
pursuant to which the Group agreed to acquire from the
Vendor a three-storey office building situated at 5L T /IE{=
BERATEA T F RERFEFRLI15015, 16015 K% 170157
(Number 1501, 1601 and 1701, Pacific Dingwang Commercial
Center, Chencun Town, Shunde District, Foshan City, the
PRC) with a total gross floor area of 3,672.72 square metres
for a purchase price of RMB46,114,688. The transaction has
been completed in January 2020.

On 30 March 2020, the board of directors has resolved to
recommend the payment of a final dividend of HKD2.75 cents
per share for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018:
HKD2.5 cents) to the shareholders whose names appear on
the register of members of the Company on 5 June 2020.
Subject to the approval by the shareholders of the Company
at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company
(the "AGM"), the final dividend is expected to be payable on
or about 18 June 2020. The aggregate amount shall be paid
out of the Company’s share premium account if the payment
of the dividend is approved by the shareholders at the AGM.
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45.

46.

47.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
(Continued)

Impact of the recent novel coronavirus situation

After the outbreak of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (“COVID-19
outbreak”) in January 2020, a series of precautionary and
control measures have been and continued to be
implemented across the country/region. The Group will pay
close attention to the development of the COVID-19 outbreak
and evaluate its impact on the financial position and
operating results of the Group. Up to the date of these
financial statements, the assessment is still in progress.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

Details of the Group's assets pledged for the Group's bank
loans are included in notes 30 to the financial statements.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 16 April 2020.
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. AN

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A HAL R
B S 1
For the five years ended 31 December 2019 EZ= 20194 12 A31 HILABEFE
Results 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
EF 20154 20165 2017 4 20184 2019
(RMB'000) (RMB'000) (RMB'000) (RMB'000) (RMB'000)
(ANRETT) (ARETRT) (ARETR) (ARETRT) (AR%Tx)
Revenue Iz 420,155 635,146 977,552 1,023,011 1,519,482
Cost of sales HERA (280,067) (478,408) (680,715) (740,906)  (1,116,041)
Gross profit EH 140,088 156,738 296,837 282,105 403,441
Other income and gains Hi g A R dizs 11,343 23,309 20,617 30,809 33,844
Selling and marketing expenses HERZHERBY (7,615) (29,450) (6,394) (5,539) (13,455)
Administrative expenses THEY (51,002) (99,675) (115,121) (151,065) (192,296)
Net impairment losses (recognised)/  (HR),/BE4 REE
reversal on financial assets REERFE (13,785) (13,434) (29,472) 1,672 (26,763)
Change in fair value of financial BEAEATEFARR
liabilities designated as at fairvalue ~ K& @B BHATES
through profit or loss (6,343) = = = -
Share of profits and losses of: FEMEATHE R EE :
Joint Ventures REbE 243 2,148 2,645 2,895 1,438
Associates SN - - (111 4 466
Other expenses Hif% (110) (10,675) (10,282) (1,641) (10,195)
Finance costs A (1,572) (4,705) 9,512) (1,833) (21,501)
Listing expenses FMRX (35,881) = = - -
Profit before tax BRAE A 35,366 24,256 149,207 157,399 174,979
Income tax expenses FEREY (24,753) (27,608) (49,919) (50,449 (41,059)
Profit (loss) for the year FEFE(ERE) 10,613 (3,352) 99,288 106,950 133,920
Assets and liabilities 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
BEREE 20154 20164 20174 20184 2019 %
(RMB'000) (RMB'000) (RMB'000) (RMB'000) (RMB'000)
(ARETT) (ARETRT) (AR®EFTR) (AREFTRT) (AR%FX)
(Restated*)
(1E5*)
Non-current assets ERBEE 92,580 437 945 448519 519,681 751,724
Current assets REEE 618,253 678,256 787,852 821,538 1,142,902
Total assets BEE 710,833 1,116,201 1,236,371 1,341,219 1,894,626
Current liabilities mBaRE 196,541 487,991 561,642 649974 1,019,211
Non-current liabilities EREEE 12,555 184,764 128,036 85,295 137,490
Total liabilities BaE 209,096 672,755 689,678 735269 1,156,701
Net assets BETE 501,737 443 446 546,693 605,950 737,925
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